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Year in Review

Key ratios

2017 2016

Total revenues, SEK millions 3,258.3 2,921.7

EBITDA, SEK millions 220.2 191.4

EBITDA margin, % 6.8 6.6

Profit before tax SEK millions 152.5 133.7

Net margin, % 4.7 4.6

Earnings per share 
(outstanding shares), SEK 1) 12.33 10.32

Dividend per share, SEK 2) 3.75 3.50

1)  Proact has no outstanding warrants, convertible debentures or other instruments that 
could give rise to dilution. The company has, however, bought back shares that are in 
its own keeping, which affects the key ratios and figures above. 

2)  The Board of Directors will propose a dividend of SEK 3.75 per share to the Annual 
General Meeting for the 2017 business year.

Revenues and margins
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In January, Proact acquired all shares in the German com-
pany Teamix GmbH. Teamix is a well established company 
on the German market, with outstanding expertise in various 
IT-related technology and service fields. This acquisition re-
inforces Proact’s position on one of the more important mar-
kets for the company. A number of important assignments 
were awarded during the quarter, confirming the company’s 
strong position on the European market.

The excellent development of both revenues and profits 
continued during the second quarter, resulting in reinforced 
margins. A contract was concluded with Amazon Web 
Services, AWS, during the quarter, which will make it possible 
to combine Proact’s IT services with AWS’s public cloud 
solutions.

Contents
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Proact is presenting increased revenues and profits for the 
seventh quarter in a row. Hence for the third quarter of 2017, 
Proact is able to report a net margin of 5 per cent before tax, 
which is compliant with the company’s long-term objective. 
These successes are proof positive that the company’s spe-
cialist expertise and market-leading offerings are appreciated 
by customers old and new alike.

The internal initiatives implemented and continued through-
out the quarter in fields such as sales, development of 
customer offerings and business streamlining continue to pay 
off, making the company even more competitive. Combined 
with excellent revenue development, the company further 
reinforces its position on the European market. 

3

4

Pages 4 to 11 show the reviewed sustainability report.
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Proact in brief

Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, 
Latvia, Lithuania, the Netherlands, 
Norway, Slovakia, Spain, the United 
Kingdom, Sweden, the Czech 
Republic, Germany and the USA.

•  Proact is Europe’s leading independent integrator with regard to data centres and cloud services.

•  Supplying flexible, accessible and secure IT solutions and services allows us to help companies 
and authorities to reduce their risks and costs while also increasing flexibility, productivity and 
efficiency. 

•  Proact has implemented more than 5,000 successful projects all over the world, has more than 
3,500 customers and currently manages more than 100 petabytes of information in the cloud. 

•  We employ more than 800 people in 15 countries in Europe and North America.

•  Proact was founded in 1994, and our parent company, Proact IT Group AB (publ), was listed on 
Nasdaq Stockholm in 1999 under the ticker symbol PACT. 

3,258
Revenues during the year, SEK millions

153
Profit before tax, SEK millions

3.75
Proposed dividend per share, SEK

Nordics 49%
UK 17%
West 27%
East 4%
Proact Finance 3%

Total revenues per business unit

“ Proact has seen 
continued positive  
development 
throughout the year 
in terms of revenue, 
profit and profit 
margin.”

Net sales growth, SEK millions

2016 2017 

ValutaFörvärv
Organisk
tillväxt

2 921,7

3 258,3359,3

–15,7

–7,0

2016 2017 

CurrencyAcquisitions
Organic
growth

2,921.7

3,258.3359.3

–15.7

–7.0

Sales development 2017 per  
business unit, in local currencies

Nordics –1%

UK –8%

West +80%

East –12%

Proact Finance +38%
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CEO’s statement

It is with pride that I look back on the 2017 as the 
business year in which the company presented its 
highest revenues and the best profit before tax in 
the history of the company. The profit margin has 
continued to improve, which is positive.

It is pleasing to see that we have increased 
our return on equity from 30 per cent last year 
to almost 32 per cent this year. Operating profit 
before depreciation, EBITDA, amounted to SEK 
220.2 (191.4) million, and profit before tax 
amounted to SEK 152.5 (133.7) million. This 
excellent development in profits means that the 
company is reporting a 4.7 per cent margin for 
profit before tax, which is an improvement on 
last year. Revenues for the year amounted to SEK 
3,258 million, representing an increase of 12 per 
cent compared with the previous year.

We are working according to a specific 
strategy and with defined focus areas in order to 
place Proact in the best position from which to 
deal with the demands and requirements of the 
market and meet the company’s strategic and 
financial targets. The positive development that 
has taken place throughout the year in fields such 
as sales and marketing, development of customer 
offerings, standardisation of the services we 
provide and acquisitions implemented have paved 
the way for continued positive development of 
the company. Overall, it is clear to me that the 
initiatives implemented in the above various focus 
areas are paying off, making us even more com-
petitive. This excellent trend also clearly shows 
that our specialist expertise and market-leading 
offering with regard to data centres and cloud 
services are very much appreciated by both new 
and existing customers.

Geographical expansion
In early January 2017, we moved forward in 
 Germany by acquiring all shares in German 
company Teamix GmbH. Teamix is a well 
established company on the German market 
and has outstanding expertise in various IT 
technology and service fields. The company has 
an in-depth knowledge of Proact’s focus areas 

such as data centres and associated services. 
This acquisition will also help to reinforce Proact’s 
existing networking and security offerings. The 
Teamix corporate culture also ties in well with 
Proact’s core values of integrity, commitment 
and excellence. The company has 85 employees 
and annual revenues of around SEK 330 million. 
This acquisition will give Proact expertise and 
strength on one of the most important markets in 
Europe, which in turn means that we will further 
reinforce benefits for existing and new customers. 
Successful integration work has been implement-
ed over the year. Important functions such as 
sales and marketing, service provision, financial 
reporting and administration are now integrated 
in the Proact Group.
 
IT of strategic significance
Most of our customers are large and me-
dium-sized enterprises and organisations 
operating in a range of different fields, and 
their IT operations are becoming increasingly 
significant to business operations. The rapid rate 
of digitisation taking place within the majority of 
industries means that IT is taking on more and 
more strategic importance, as an IT function that 
works well is frequently a prerequisite for efficient 
running of the core business. In turn, this means 
that the underlying growth in digital business- 
critical information is still high. The combination 
of rapid digitisation and the increasing volume 
of business-critical information means that IT 
infrastructure is becoming increasingly complex 
and new demands are being made. This is good 
news for Proact as a specialist, as more and 
more companies and organisations are increas-
ingly finding that they need to ensure that their 
IT operations are competitive while also being 
flexible and agile. 

Review of strategy
Each year, efforts are made to guarantee the 
company’s future strategic direction so as to 
place Proact in the best position from which to 
deal with the demands and requirements of the 

market and meet the company’s strategic and 
financial targets. Given the outcome, our efforts 
continue to be concentrated on developing the 
strategic areas adopted previously. The company 
will go on ensuring it provides a consistent, 
cost-effective organisation and focusing on 
developing its offering in respect of data centres 
(a combination of storage, servers and networks) 
with associated consultancy and support services, 
as well as increasing our focus on cloud services. 
Areas such as networking, security, applications 
and automation are also of increasing strategic 
importance for Proact. The company must ensure 
it has a market-leading offering independent of 
suppliers in the above areas. Focusing on the sale 
and supply of the company’s proprietary services 
will result in an increase in the proportion of total 
company revenues attributable to services, as 
well as in the company’s contracted revenues 
such as support and cloud services. This in turn 
will help us to achieve a higher profit margin.

Added value for customers
Information security is a vital element in the 
customer solutions we offer. Making sure busi-
ness-critical information is secure is extremely 
important to our customers. Security threats are 
real and must be taken into account, no matter 
what they involve: following various regulations or 
legal requirements, or ensuring protection against 
mistakes, sabotage or malicious program code. 
Proact’s solutions in the field create security and 
add significant benefits for customers.

Automation is another important field. Business 
processes are supported by automating the 
various underlying elements in a data centre. 
This creates opportunities to facilitate adminis-
tration and thereby reduce complexity and risks. 
Increased automation allows IT services to be 
supplied more quickly, thereby supporting busi-
ness requirements and needs more effectively in 
terms of flexibility and innovation.
Traditional applications such as ERP, databases, 
CRM and email will continue to be business- 
critical, which means that the accessibility and 
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performance of application information are of 
vital significance. New applications such as the 
Internet of Things (IoT), Analytics and Big Data are 
also being implemented, making new demands 
of business, organisation and IT infrastructure as 
information of this kind is unstructured. If this un-
structured information is handled correctly, there 
are plenty of opportunities to improve insight 
into factors such as customer behaviours and 
purchasing patterns, which in turn means that 
well-founded decisions can be made with regard 
to how customer requirements can be met more 
effectively in future.

Positive future prospects
All companies and authorities are dependent on 
access to information of various kinds to allow 
their operations to work, and accessibility and 

security are very important for business-critical 
information in particular. Proact’s objective is 
to act as a partner to our customers and offer 
high-quality services and market-leading technol-
ogies. We supply flexible services and solutions 
which quickly add sustainable, long-term value. 
Our financial objectives include growing at twice 
the rate of the market and generating a profit 
before tax amounting to 5 per cent of revenues, 
along with a 20 per cent return on equity. Overall, 
it is clear to me that the initiatives implemented in 
the company’s various focus areas are continuing 
to pay off, making us even more competitive. Our 
ability to help our customers to minimise risks 
and reduce costs, and also to supply flexible 
IT services and products, places us in a strong 
position on the European market, This gives 
us plenty of opportunity to exploit the potential 

on the European market and hence continue 
with our positive development in terms of both 
revenues and profit.

I would like to finish by thanking all our cus-
tomers, who entrust us with the job of working in 
partnership with them. I would also like to thank 
all our staff, whose dedicated and professional 
efforts are helping to continue the development of 
the company.

Peter Javestad
Acting CEO and President  
Proact IT Group AB (publ)

 "This excellent trend also 
shows that our specialist 
expertise and market- 
leading offering with  
regard to data centres 
and cloud services  
are very much  
appreciated by  
both new and  
existing  
customers."
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Vision, business concept and targets 

Financial targets Outcome Historical target attainment

Sales growth  
To grow twice as quickly as the  
market.

Economic market growth over the last few years 
has stood at between 1 and 5 per cent. The com-
pany increased its revenues for 2017 by 12 per 
cent.

Margin  
Profit before tax should amount to at 
least 5 per cent of revenues.

The company generated a profit before tax of  
4.7 per cent of revenues for 2017.

Equity ratio  
To achieve an equity ratio of 20-25 
per cent.

The company’s equity ratio amounts to 21.3 per 
cent at the end of the year.

Return on equity  
To generate at least a 20 per cent 
return on equity.

For 2017, the return on equity amounted to  
 31.8 per cent.

Dividends  
In the long term, the company intends 
to issue a dividend of 25-35 per cent 
of profit after tax.

A dividend of SEK 3.75 per share is proposed for 
2017, which is equivalent to 30.4 per cent of 
profit after tax.
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Vision
To be the world’s most reliable IT service partner, 
facilitating innovation and increased growth among 
our customers. 

Business concept
As a partner to our customers, we offer high quality 
services and market-leading technologies. We supply 
flexible services and solutions which quickly add 
sustainable, long-term value.
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Strategy
The company works according to 
the following strategies in order to 
achieve its targets:

Strategy

“Power of Together”
Well-defined, groupwide processes and 
procedures are used to create a consistent, 
cost- effective organisation, thereby ensuring 
that we have a clear, high-quality offering for the 
market. Our watchwords – integrity, commitment, 
excellence – constitute the foundation for our 
corporate culture and the prevailing consensus 
with regard to how we add value for all our 
stakeholders.

Market-leading offering independent of 
suppliers
Proact must have a market-leading offering with-
in its focus areas of data centres with associated 
consultancy and support services, as well as 
cloud services and related security services. 

Emphasis on innovation
Innovation is key when it comes to ensuring that 
the company has a market-leading offering. An 
established innovation process ensures efficient 
development of new services and evaluation 
of new products, This allows new services and 
products to be launched in a time-efficient, 
cost-effective way to all markets in which Proact 
has a presence. 

Customer relations
Strong, close relationships with customers ensure 
that Proact is able to understand the needs of 
all its customers, which allows the company to 
work proactively on every assignment and offer 
custom services and solutions. Proact’s broad 
 geographical presence allows the company to 
meet customers’ requests to have Proact as a 
partner on different geographical markets.

Partners
Proact works in partnership with a number of 
strategically selected suppliers, both market 
leaders and new niche players. This allows Proact 
to guarantee access to the very latest technology, 
while also enabling the company to offer the most 
appropriate services and/or solutions based on 
the needs of each individual customer. 

Increased proportion of contracted  
service revenues
Proact has an industry-independent service 
offering aimed at both the private and the public 
sector. The company is striving to increase the 
proportion of contracted service revenues with 
a view to improving profitability. This will be 

achieved by further reinforcing the company’s 
offering, primarily within the field of support and 
cloud services. 

Growth
Proact is striving to achieve good organic growth 
in existing markets. Growth through acquisition, 
either by means of geographical expansion or 
by acquisition of specialist expertise, is also an 
important part of the strategy. 

Employees
Being an attractive employer that is able to offer 
stimulating tasks to do in a positive work environ-
ment allows Proact to attract the best staff with 
both experience and good qualifications in their 
respective specialist fields.

“ Strong, close  
relationships with  
customers ensure 
that Proact is  
able to under-
stand the needs 
of all its  
customers.”



6 Value creation modelPROACT Annual Report 2017

Customer focus

Core values: Integrity, Commitment, Excellence

Financially
Financial value generated 
and distributed (SEK m.) Stakeholders 2017 2016

Operating revenue Customers 3,258 2,922

Total generated value  3,258 2,922

Distributed as    

Salaries and remuneration Employees –739 –679

Service and goods Suppliers –2,367 –2,109

Income tax
The 
Government –37 –37

Dividends  Owner –34 –33

Remaining in the company  81 64

Value creation model

Business model

Socially
The company’s services and solutions 
guarantee the reliability and accessibility 
of IT systems, making it possible for cus-
tomers to run their businesses efficiently. 
The company’s customers can be found 
in segments such as Public Sector, Trade 
& Services, Telecoms and Manufacturing 
Industry. The reliability and accessibility 
of customers’ IT systems are crucial to 
allow customers to run their businesses, 
and hence these factors also have a direct 
impact on citizens and communities. We 
are an attractive employer and focus on 
our staff, so sick leave levels are low and 
our staff enjoy their work.

Environmentally
Proact is working actively to reduce its 
environmental impact by reducing the 
company’s total energy consumption and 
increasing the recycling of end-of-life 
electronics, paper and packaging. The 
company’s travel policy is strict, limiting 
business travel by air in particular.

Financially
Proact’s financial capital contributions consist 
of operating profits, share capital and capital 
from the credit market.

Socially
The skills and continuous development of 
staff, the management and the Board of 
Directors are a prerequisite for long-term 
addition of value. Proact’s structural capital 
includes internal systems, processes and 
procedures. The company maintains close 
relationships with carefully selected suppliers. 
Its relationships with trade organisations and 
the local community are also important.

Environmentally
Proact manufactures no products. Besides 
electronics and consumables, electricity is 
required in order to run the business. 

Proact’s broad geographical presence 
in Europe means that business travel is 
unavoidable.

Service development Product portfolio

Deliverables

Input data

Output data
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Sustainable enterprise
Proact’s business is characterised by respect for customers, business partners and staff, 
and all activities must take place in a manner sustainable in the long term, in accordance 
with applicable legislation and accepted general principles for good business ethics. 

Proact’s sustainability work is integrated in the Group’s strategies for product 
and service development, market presence and partnership. Day-to-day 
operational responsibility rests with each business unit, but environmental, 
social and financial governance is based on the groupwide Code of Conduct 
established by the Board of Directors and management team and is appli-
cable to all employees. The Code of Conduct specifies the basic principles 
for responsible enterprise, regulating factors such as how environmental, 
ethical and social aspects are to be managed in order to add value for staff, 
customers, owners and society in general.

Sustainability reporting
Pages 4 to 11 show the reviewed statutory sustainability report for the Group 
in accordance with Chapter 6 of Swedish Company Accounts Act.

Code of Conduct
Proact is an international company that operates all over the world. The 
company currently operates in 15 countries, all of which have different laws, 
cultures and traditions. All business must be run sustainably, in compliance 
with applicable legislation and in line with the company’s values of integrity, 
commitment and excellence. Proact’s Code of Conduct includes 16 points 
which are summarised below.

Equality and diversity
Proact ensures that people with the same qualifications are given the same 
employment terms and opportunities without diction or discrimination on the 
basis of age, ethnicity, religion, gender or disability. We promote diversity in 
the workplace, and initiatives for achieving this include striving to achieve 
good gender distribution between final candidates during recruitment 
procedures.

Anti-corruption
Proact operates in compliance with applicable legislation in respect of 
corruption and does not tolerate inappropriate benefits of any kind. Proact 
must be awarded assignments in accordance with applicable procurement 
rules and on the basis of principles involving business ethics. Proact grants 
no benefits to anyone with a view to encouraging individuals to behave 
improperly. Under no circumstances does Proact accept favours from indi-
viduals that are designed to encourage the company and its staff to behave 
improperly. 

This is underpinned by the fact that business unit officers and country 
managers sign Proact’s “Golden Rules”, which include the Group’s financial 
policy, instructions for the CEO and a Code of Conduct. These instructions are 
also communicated locally to all employees, and also during the introduction 
period when employees are appointed. Staff appraisals and other initiatives 
are used to confirm compliance with these instructions. 

Social and environmental responsibility
Proact always strives to operate in compliance with legislation relating to 
health, safety and the environment and directives and standards in the 
industry. Proact operates in compliance with applicable laws and industry 
standards with regard to working hours and working conditions for our staff, 
and undertakes appropriate measures to ensure that our suppliers also 
operate in compliance with these laws and standards. We tolerate no forms 
of contemporary slavery, human trafficking or breaches of human rights in 
either the business or the supply chain.

Quarterly follow-up meetings with suppliers and joint audits are carried 
out in order to ensure that Proact’s major suppliers are operating in compli-
ance with established laws and standards. Moreover, most of these suppliers 
come under the jurisdiction of SOX (Sarbanes-Oxley Act).

We aim always to use limited resources efficiently in order to prevent or 
reduce any harmful impact on the environment as a consequence of what 
we do. This involves promoting systems for recycling and reuse of materi-
als and efforts to prevent pollution and occupational injuries and illnesses. 
 Proact operates in compliance with applicable laws and regulations concern-
ing disposal of electronic equipment.

The company’s objective is for all operations to have relevant certification 
so that they can be pursued in a safe, structured manner in accordance with 
the local requirements on the market in question. In most cases, the com-
panies in the countries in which Proact works extensively hold accreditation 
to ISO9001, ISO14001 and ISO27001, but the companies in the countries 
in which Proact works less extensively are also certified for some of the 
most common ISO systems. ISO27001 (information security management 
systems) in particular is of the utmost importance for the service offering 
provided by Proact to its customers. The quality management systems are 
specific to each country and require annual updates and audits.

Proact’s whistleblower policy
The company has a whistleblower policy that provides all staff with infor-
mation on how suspected deviations from the company’s Code of Conduct 
are to be reported. All Proact staff must report, without delay, any known 
breaches of the Code of Conduct or any concerns they may have with 
regard to breaches. Such matters must be reported directly to their local HR 
representative or to the Board’s remuneration committee as specified in the 
policy. Proact will examine any such reports and fears in depth as a matter 
of urgency. Anyone reporting such fears in good faith will be protected by 
Proact from all forms of reprisal. The whistleblower policy is part of the Code 
of Conduct communicated to all staff.
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Proact maintains constant communication with a series of different stake-
holders in order to understand their needs and expectations. This provides 
the company with a clear view of what issues are important to its stake-
holders, allowing it to evaluate these from a sustainability perspective. 

Stakeholders
Proact has defined employees, customers, suppliers, communities and 
owners as its most important stakeholders, as these are of the greatest 
significance to Proact’s activities and are affected most by them.

Materiality analysis Stakeholder group Channel Important questions

Employees Monthly newsletter
Staff survey
Staff appraisals

Skills development
Work environment
Equality
Diversity

Customers Meetings
Customer support
Customer conference
Webforum

Offering
Quality
Commitment
Integrity
Business ethics

Suppliers Negotiations
Quarterly checks

Quality
Code of Conduct

Communities Charity organisations
Certification bodies (ISO, PCI)
Universities and institutes of 
higher education

Laws, ordinances and standards
Community development and the 
environment
Sustainable enterprise

Owners Annual General Meeting
Financial reports
Board meetings
Investor meetings

Strategy
Financial targets
Business ethics

Responsible business
• Profitable business
• Business ethics taken seriously

Long-term relationships with customers  
and partners
• Attractive, high-quality customer offerings
• Outstanding security and integrity
•  Continue to increase the number of subsidiaries accredited to 

ISO27001, ISO9001 and ISO14001.

Attractive employer
• Good skills development opportunities
• A good work environment

Efficient use of resources
•  Continuous reduction in energy consumption
•  Increase recycling of electronics, paper and 

packaging
•  Attempt to use renewable energy

Appraisal of the issues that are important to Proact’s stakeholders and the questions that the company considers crucial to Proact’s sustainability 
work have resulted in the following areas being deemed most significant for Proact’s operations from a sustainability perspective:
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Proact is constantly 
working to reduce the  
environmental impact 
from the delivery of 
all services, and the 
greatest positive impact 
is achieved by constantly 
streamlining the delivery 
of our cloud services. 

ACTIVITIES:
We have devised a plan 
in previous years for 
reducing the number of 
data centres within the 
Group in order to reduce 
our environmental impact. 
The number of Group 
data centres has been 
reduced by two in 2017 
in accordance with the 
devised plan. Reducing 
the number of data cen-
tres will also reduce our 
consumption of electric-
ity, heating and cooling. 
Efforts are continuing in 
parallel to devise targets 
indicating the extent to 
which total consumption 
has to be reduced each 
year (expressed in kWh), 
and to review the options 
for switching to the use of 
renewable energy.

Proact has no production, 
but it accepts environ-
mental responsibility 
through various estab-
lished processes and 
procedures. End-of-life 
electronics, paper and 
packaging are all re-
cycled, for example.

ACTIVITIES:
Circular economy is a 
prerequisite for sustaina-
ble development. Methods 
and processes for meas-
uring recycled electronics 
and recycled paper and 
packaging have previously 
been devised. We will 
work on the basis of the 
results of the survey to 
devise targets indicating 
the extent to which total 
consumption has to be 
reduced and the extent to 
which total recycling has 
to be increased per year 
(expressed in kg). Our 
objective is to commence 
these surveys in 2018.

We spend significant 
sums on procuring goods 
every year. Most of our 
suppliers are based in 
 Europe and the USA, 
where compliance with 
basic human rights is 
good compared with 
many other parts of the 
world. All our suppliers 
undergo an approval 
process which involves 
evaluation of both product 
safety and corporate 
responsibility.

ACTIVITIES:
Work on facilitating the 
implementation of a 
survey aimed at exam-
ining the extent to which 
our suppliers operate in 
compliance with the ten 
principles of the UN Global 
Compact is in progress, 
and we are aiming to 
implement this survey in 
2018. We will work on 
the basis of the results 
to devise key indicators 
with a view to ranking 
our suppliers’ compliance 
and setting targets with 
respect to an acceptable 
level for Proact (expressed 
as a percentage).

In order to manage the 
trust which our customers 
have placed in us, our 
services are supplied in 
accordance with estab-
lished standards such as 
“ITIL Service Manage-
ment”, which includes a 
number of processes for 
the supply of cost-effec-
tive IT services based on 
the customer’s business. 
We have also held 
ISO9001 and ISO27001 
certification in a number 
of countries since 2013. 

ACTIVITIES:
Additional companies 
have been awarded 
accreditation in 2017. For 
example, the subsidiaries 
in the Netherlands, the 
United Kingdom, Sweden 
and Germany have 
met the accreditation 
requirements for ISO9001, 
ISO14001 and ISO27001. 
The United Kingdom oper-
ation also holds accredi-
tation in accordance with 
Payment Card Industry 
(PCI). The objective for 
2018 is to maintain the 
accreditations already 
held and gain accredita-
tion for a number of other 
subsidiaries in accordance 
with some of the above 
standards. 

Proact’s ambition is to 
be the world’s most 
reliable IT service partner, 
facilitating innovation and 
increased growth among 
our customers. As a result, 
services and products 
must be supplied in a 
responsible manner, with 
the promised quality. 

ACTIVITIES:
Methods and processes 
have previously been 
devised for implementa-
tion of a customer survey 
in order to gauge how 
well our customers feel 
we are delivering on our 
quality promises, as well 
as indicating their overall 
assessment of us as a 
business partner. The 
objective is to commence 
implementation of cus-
tomer surveys in 2018.

CustomersDeliverablesPurchasingProduct portfolioService  
development 

VALUE CHAIN
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Watchwords
Proact works actively to go on reinforcing its corporate culture. Our watchwords clearly describe the company’s values and 
concepts and the principles that provide a foundation for the organisation and its culture alongside how we as a company 
make decisions, as well as our approach to our staff, customers, owners, partners and other stakeholders. 

Staff key to success

•  We are independent and navigate by our own compass, on the basis  
of honesty and respect. 

•  We are open and clear in our communication.

•  We rely on one another and the people with whom we do business.
•  We keep our promises and deliver on agreements made.

Integrity

•  This constitutes the foundation for all our relationships.
•  We formulate clear targets and have the best interests of our  

customers at heart. 

•  We guarantee the most outstanding service level possible for the 
projects we implement. 

•  We share our knowledge, our experience and our commitment. 

Commitment

•  Excellence is the very essence of what we supply.
•  Decades of experience have given us a knowledge base that  

we always apply.

•  Recruitment, training and development are reflected in our specialist 
expertise.

•  We use our specialist expertise and experience to create custom 
solutions which add value in both the short and the long term.

Excellence
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Age structureNumber of years in the industry Distribution per function

Skills development
The key to the Proact culture is in the name; 
being proactive is all part of the core of our 
culture, thereby constituting an important element 
in the “Power of Together” strategy. The expertise 
of the company’s staff is placed at the disposal 
of customers by means of consultancy services, 
support services and cloud services, for instance. 
During the sales process, too, customers have 
access to various forms of expert knowledge 
and experience during discussions relating to 
suggestions for their solutions to problems within 
Proact’s specialist fields. 

The company employed 811 (718) staff as at 
31 December 2017. In Europe and the USA, the 
company is represented by a total of 38 offices in 
15 countries. 

To achieve the company’s vision, “to be the 
world’s most reliable IT service partner, facilitating 
innovation and increased growth among our cus-
tomers”, it is important to be innovative and go on 
developing the expertise of our staff. Annual staff 
appraisals ensure that staff are offered relevant 
skills development and have the opportunity to 
provide feedback. 92 per cent of staff took part 
in personal staff appraisals in 2017. Proact has 
been running skills development initiatives within 
the scope of Proact Academy for a number of 
years. The aim of this is to ensure that the indi-
vidual career and development plans for each and 
every staff member focus on the skills targets 
defined within the company. 

 

Proact Academy
Proact Academy offers staff various forms of 
training in fields such as management, sales and 
technology. Its aim is to promote further training 
for all staff. Charting, governance and skills 
development are vital key terms in this process. 
Various forms of internal training are carried 
out regularly to ensure that all staff have a good 
understanding of the company’s offering and the 
market in which we operate. By being successful 
with this internal work, Proact – as a leading 
organisation – can both attract and retain the 
very best staff.

•  Proact Academy Leadership (PAL): MBA course 
for managers, run in cooperation with Uppsala 
University.

•  Proact Academy Sales (PAS): Development for 
staff working with sales.

•  Proact Academy Contracted Services (PACS): 
Developing specialist skills among staff 
working with consultancy, support and cloud 
services. 

 
Staff survey
The annual staff survey took place in the fourth 
quarter of 2017, with a 76 per cent response 
rate. Of these, 70 per cent are very satisfied with 
Proact as an employer, primarily thanks to excit-
ing tasks, plenty of opportunities to influence their 
own work and a good balance between work and 
leisure. The results of the survey make it possible 

to see trends within the company in terms of 
attitudes and values. It provides both managers 
and other staff with valuable information on which 
areas are working well within the company and 
which areas need to be developed. The results of 
this year’s survey showed that provision of infor-
mation and knowledge exchange are areas that 
should be developed still further. It goes without 
saying that taking on board the views of staff is 
an important way of guaranteeing good expertise 
and personal development for all staff members, 
and hence good development of the company as 
a whole. 

Incentive schemes
One express objective is for the salaries of all 
staff throughout the organisation to have a 
variable pay component which is linked with the 
company’s success. This is achieved in the form 
of various incentive schemes depending on the 
job types of individual staff members.

Antal

Män Kvinnor

Ålder
0

10

20

30

40

50

60-   50-5940-4930-39   -29

Administration 13%
Sales and marketing 32%
Service operations 55%

    < 5 years 10%
    5-9 years 30%
10-14 years 40%
   >15 years 20%

    Ages -29 18%
Ages 30-39 31%
Ages 40-49 33%
Ages 50-59 15%
Ages 60+      3%

Antal

Män Kvinnor

Ålder
0

10

20

30

40

50

60-   50-5940-4930-39   -29

    Men
    Women

    Men
    Women

    Men
    Women

Gender distribution, senior executivesGender distribution, total Gender distribution, Board of Directors



12 Market reviewPROACT Annual Report 2017

The ever-increasing pace of digitisation is the megatrend of greatest signif-
icance to Proact’s operations. This trend is leading in turn to user demands 
for greater uptime and simplicity. It also means that criteria for new business 
opportunities and business models are being created for companies and 
organisations, and so the underlying growth of digital business-critical 
information remains high. All in all, IT is therefore of increasingly strategic 
importance. An IT function that works well is frequently a prerequisite for 
efficient running of the core business. The combination of rapid digitisation 
and the increasing volume of business-critical information means that IT 
infrastructure is becoming increasingly complex and new demands are being 
made.

All companies and authorities are dependent on access to information of 
various kinds to allow their operations to work, and accessibility and security 
are even more important for business-critical information in particular. 
Shortcomings in security procedures and uptime can lead to disruptions 
within the business, with disastrous consequences. This is why more and 
more companies and authorities are using different services and new tech-
nologies in order to simplify their IT operations and ensure that their supply 
of IT services meets the requirements defined by business operations and 
customers. 

Another clear market trend is that more and more customers are wanting 
to offer IT as a service, where in-house and external users themselves 
order and consume different types of IT service based on the needs of 
each individual user. To facilitate the supply of IT as a service, companies 
and authorities are implementing a combination of private and public cloud 
services, known as hybrid clouds, to an ever-increasing extent in order to 
automate internal IT processes, among other things. 

Another trend we are seeing is the continued growth of the data centre 
concept – a combination of storage, servers and networks – while at the 
same time new fields of technology for management of business-critical 
information are being implemented. 

The need for ongoing streamlining, as well as a growing demand for solu-
tions and services in Proact’s specialist fields, is indicating major potential 
for growth for the company. Proact has established methods, processes and 
services to offer so as to meet demand on the market and provide the most 
effective support to its customers.

Market review 

Competitive situation
Proact offers unique specialist expertise, with coverage throughout Europe. 
With a base of more than 5000 completed projects, the company also has 
a wide range of excellent references from satisfied customers who go on 
coming back to Proact time and time again. The company’s competitors can 
be divided into the following segments. 

•  IT infrastructure: Small, specialist companies operating locally in regions 
or countries, and large local system integrators with general IT offerings. 
This segment also includes product manufacturers and global system 
integrators with proprietary products and/or services.

•  Public cloud service suppliers: Companies such as Amazon, Microsoft 
and Google will be continuing to invest in order to increase their market 
shares in Proact’s market segment and others. At the same time, Proact 
perceives opportunities for cooperation with these stakeholders for the 
potential supply of a hybrid cloud solution – a combination of private and 
public clouds – to customers.

•  Global IT service companies: Major global IT service companies will go 
on investing in increasing their share of outsourcing contracts in order to 
take market shares in the European market. This means that Proact will 
not have the same opportunity to supply system solutions and services as 
these companies will offer their own products and services. 

Proact’s competitive advantages lie mainly in being an independent integra-
tor with specialist expertise and extensive experience with regard to data 
centres with associated consultancy and support services, as well as cloud 
services. Services currently account for around 34 per cent of Proact’s total 
revenues. As an independent specialist, Proact has more opportunities than 
other integrators and product manufacturers to offer the most cost-effective 
services and solutions to every customer every time, thereby lending a great 
deal of credibility to the company’s offerings.
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Higher efficiency, minimised risks
All companies and authorities are dependent on 
access to information and data of various kinds 
to allow their operations to work, and accessibility 
and security are very important for business- 
critical information in particular. An unstable 
IT infrastructure resulting in shortcomings in 
security procedures and accessibility may lead to 
disruptions within the business, with disastrous 
consequences. A neglected IT infrastructure may 
therefore be costly and expose the customer to 
significant risks. 

Proact offers various solutions, services and 
products to help companies and authorities to 
reduce the risks, lower costs and, above all, im-
plement secure, flexible IT systems. We analyse 
the customers’ needs on the basis of set criteria 
and offers customised, cost-effective services 
and IT infrastructure solutions.

Top quality services and products  
independently of suppliers 
As an independent specialist, Proact is able to 
offer an independent and comprehensive analysis 
of which IT infrastructure best meets each indi-
vidual customer’s needs and requirements. 

Analysis and design
This analysis is based on a description of the 
present situation in respect of risk; that is to say, 
procedures for management of business-critical 
information, backup and disaster planning. An 
analysis of the current situation also includes a 
look at the cost situation and how costs can be 
minimised by means of standardised processes, 
consolidation of various systems and automated 
procedures, for instance 

On the basis of this analysis, a description of 
the problems is compiled which forms the basis 
for a requirement-based proposed solution which 
is based on the customer’s business require-
ments. The requirements for an IT infrastructure 

are then defined on the basis of this. This is how 
Proact helps its customers to link requirements 
from business operations with requirements for 
IT support. The IT strategy is defined together 
with the customer’s corporate management team, 
while the customer’s IT management team helps 
to defined the technical solution.

Implementation
Proact is independent when it comes to selecting 
technology, so we can provide support for the 
implementation of systems selected regardless 
of whether customers choose Proact or other 
companies to supply their systems. Proact assists 
with tasks such as installation, project man-
agement, documentation and custom training 
during implementation. Before implementation is 
completed, Proact ensures that the system meets 
the needs and requirements defined beforehand. 

Contracted services
To reinforce Proact’s profitability in the long term, 
the company’s objective is to go on increasing 
the proportion of contracted services. This must 
be done by developing our offering in the field of 
support and hybrid cloud services and by focus-
ing the company’s sales and marketing activities.

Support
Proact Premium Support is a service offering 
support for systems that we have installed 
ourselves and systems supplied and installed by 
others. Customers need just a single point of con-
tact for their entire IT environment, so facilitating 
the handling of support issues considerably. 
Support contracts are concluded over a fairly long 
time. The most common term for such contracts 
is between one and three years. As loyalty among 
customers is high, support contracts are generally 
extended throughout the entire service life of 
systems. 

Offering

Hybrid cloud services
Proact offers a unique portfolio of secure internal 
and external cloud services that allow compa-
nies and authorities to focus their resources on 
their own core business. Customers can select a 
unique combination of their own private clouds 
and external cloud services. Irrespective of where 
business-critical information is stored, Proact 
supports its customers in order to ensure that 
they maintain control over the information stored, 
thereby meeting both internal requirements and 
legal requirements. All cloud services are supplied 
in accordance with clearly defined service levels, 
and customers pay only for the capacity they use. 
The most common term for contracts concluded is 
between three and five years.

Innovative finance solutions to maximise 
business value
Proact is able to offer its customers innovative and 
flexible finance solutions for services and products 
by running a financing business under its own 
management. The advantage for customers is 
that all component elements such as consultancy 
and support services, as well as products, can 
be included, which ensures good cost control for 
the customer while also minimising impact on the 
customer’s cash flow and balance sheet.

Data centre
Proact’s IT infrastructure solutions essentially 
involve five areas which are strongly integrated 
with one another: Server (creates and processes 
information), Storage (storage and recovery of 
information), Security (protection of information), 
Network (transferring information) and Automation 
(simplified administration and faster supply of IT 
services). Combining these technologies in a pre-
defined concept will allow faster implementation to 
be achieved, as well as reducing the risk of integra-
tion problems between the various technologies. 

Proact solutions cover all data centre elements, including storage, servers, 
security and network functions. In addition, Proact’s cloud service  
operations manage 100 petabytes of information.



14 OfferingPROACT Annual Report 2017

Server: Proact is independent when it 
comes to selecting technology, and it 
manages different server platform types for 
the creation and processing of information. 
Technologies such as virtualisation have 
made the server platform an integral part  
of the overall IT infrastructure.

Storage: As regards storage, Proact works 
with solutions relating to the storage of 
information on the basis of its value to the 
business and how well protected and ac-
cessible it has to be. This field also includes 
systems for information recovery in the event 
of a disaster, as well as data management.

Security: Making sure business-critical 
information is secure is extremely impor-
tant. Security threats are real and must be 
taken into account, no matter what they 
involve: following various regulations or legal 
requirements, or ensuring protection against 
mistakes, sabotage or malicious program 
code. This data security is an extremely 
important element of Proact’s solutions.

Network: The information flow must work 
smoothly; this is a vital IT infrastructure require-
ment. Trends such as virtualisation of servers and 
storage mean that networks are being subjected 
to ever-increasing loads. The network  structure 
must be able to cope with increased data 
management, while also guaranteeing accessi-
bility and utilising bandwidth optimally to ensure 
maximum performance. Moreover, an increasing 
proportion of network infrastructure is becoming 
automated so as to allow various IT service types 
to be supplied more quickly and more efficiently. 

Automation: Proact provides various kinds 
of solution which make it possible to automate 
and present the various underlying elements of 
a data centre in order to support the business 
processes. This creates opportunities to facilitate 
administration and thereby reduce complexity and 
risks. Increased automation allows IT services 
to be supplied more quickly, thereby supporting 
business requirements and needs more effectively 
in terms of flexibility and innovation.

Applications: Traditional applications such 
as ERP, databases, CRM and email will 
continue to be business-critical, which means 
that the accessibility and performance of 
application information are of vital signifi-
cance. New applications such as the Internet 
of Things (IoT), Analytics and Big Data are also 
being implemented, making new demands of 
business, organisation and IT infrastructure 
as information of this kind is unstructured. 
If this unstructured information is handled 
correctly, there are plenty of opportunities to 
improve insight into factors such as customer 
behaviours and purchasing patterns, which 
in turn means that well-founded decisions 
can be made with regard to how customer 
requirements can be met more effectively in 
future.

“Proact offers a unique 
portfolio of secure  
internal and external 
cloud services that 
allow companies and 
authorities to focus 
their resources 
on their  
own core 
business.”
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Customers
Proact’s customers are information-intensive companies and authorities with 
large volumes of business-critical digital information. The efficient supply of 
IT is completely crucial to the company’s customers. All industries need IT 
environments which work well, so Proact has customers who operate in a 
wide range of different fields. 

Proact works in close cooperation with customers on a local level, but at 
the same time makes the most of its strength as an international company. 
As an independent integrator, Proact’s objective is always to understand 
customers’ needs and requirements from both a business and a technical 
perspective. 

Proact’s customers are mainly large and medium-sized enterprises and 
authorities, and Proact currently enjoys good revenue distribution between 

Revenues per sector

Handel & Tjänster 24% (21)
Offentlig Sektor 18% (22)
Telekom 14% (15)
Tillverkande Industri 12% (12)
Olja, Energi 5% (6)
Bank, Finans 9% (10)
Media 4% (2)
Övrigt 14% (12)

Retail and Services 24% (21)
Public Sector 18% (22)
Telecoms 14% (15)
Manufacturing Industry 12% (12)
Oil, Energy 5% (6)
Banking, Finance 9% (10)
Media 4% (2)
Other 14% (12)

Customers and partners

different industry segments. The four biggest industry segments are Public 
Sector, Trade & Services, Telecoms and Manufacturing Industry. Proact’s cus-
tomer relations are often long-term, and in 2017 repeat custom accounted 
for 95 per cent of the Group’s revenues. The ten biggest customers in 2017 
were responsible for 22 (24) per cent of revenues, and no single customer 
represented more than 4 per cent. The biggest customers are active in a 
number of the countries in which Proact operates.

Partners
Proact has long-term close relationships with a small number of carefully 
selected strategic suppliers. Proact has a well-defined innovation process 
which allows it to evaluate new products from existing suppliers in a struc-
tured manner while also seeking and taking on products from new suppliers. 
This process ensures that Proact is always at the cutting edge of technical 
development and thereby able to use the very latest technology when 
designing new services and new IT infrastructure for its customers.

The company’s biggest suppliers include Cisco, Dell EMC, Hitachi 
Datasystems, NetApp and Veritas. In most cases, Proact works in partner-
ship with two different suppliers within each technical field. This makes it 
possible for Proact to maintain extremely high levels of specialist expertise 
and awareness with regard to each product, while also reducing the risk of 
business disruptions should the relationship with any supplier be altered for 
any reason.

Futureproof IT infrastructure for 
AFA Insurance

AFA Försäkring provides security and financial support in 
the event of illness, occupational injury, redundancy, death 
and parental leave thanks to insurance policies that are de-
termined in collective agreements between labour market par-
ties and cover more than four million people in the private sec-
tor, municipalities, county councils and regions. AFA Försäkring is  
a non-profit organisation. It manages around SEK 200 billion and  
employs about 600 staff. 
AFA Försäkring has procured a new IT infrastructure on the basis of new 
business requirements in respect of security, scalability and uptime, and also 
to enable it to make necessary adaptations for compliance with the EU’s forth-
coming General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), which will come into force 
in May 2018. Following a thorough evaluation process, Proact was selected as a 
partner thanks to its extensive expertise and experience in its focus areas. 
The new IT infrastructure makes it possible to replicate data and create backups be-
tween two physically separate data centres, thereby guaranteeing security and high up-
time levels. The new IT infrastructure also gives AFA Försäkring the opportunity to transfer 
its backups to various types of cloud service in the future. It also gives AFA Försäkring most 
functions that will facilitate adaptation to GDPR, such as data encryption and logging of various 
authorisation profiles that can be linked directly to the various administration tools.
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 Glencore Agriculture chooses Proact 
as its partner

Dutch company Glencore Agriculture is a global leader in the 
handling, processing and sale of agricultural products. The 
company is active in more than 35 countries and is part of a 
strategic network encompassing a total of 274 storage facilities, 
36 processing facilities and 23 ports in strategic locations all 
over the world. In combination with good relations throughout the 
supply chain, this enables Glencore Agriculture to effectively meet 
the needs of its customers all over the world. 
Glencore Agriculture has stringent demands in terms of scalabil-
ity, uptime and performance. Another stringent demand is that the 
IT infrastructure should be cost-effective. A procurement procedure 
took place in which Proact was entrusted with the task of supplying a 
new IT infrastructure with associated consultancy and support services 
thanks to its specialist expertise and experience. The new infrastructure 
is based on the data centre concept, which is a reference architecture in 
which components such as storage, servers and networks are all integrated 
with one another. 
Thanks to this new IT infrastructure, Glencore Agriculture now has improved 
support for its activities and users, and internal administration of systems 
is also considerably simpler and more cost-effective. This contract includes 
implementation and configuration of the new infrastructure and Proact  
Premium Support.

 NRK chooses Proact as  
its partner

Norwegian state media company NRK, which em-
ploys around 3,500 staff, offers TV and radio services 
of various kinds and a wide range of online services 

to people all over Norway. 
NRK has stringent demands in terms of scalability, up-

time and performance, and it requires its IT infrastruc-
ture to be cost-effective. The rapid digitisation taking 

place in the media world is making new demands of IT 
infrastructure design in order to meet end-users’ needs 
in respect of the various services offered by NRK. In order 

to meet the company’s increasing demands, a procurement 
procedure took place in which Proact was entrusted with 

the task of supplying a new IT infrastructure with associated 
consultancy services thanks to its specialist expertise and 

experience. 
This new IT infrastructure means that NRK will have better 
support for its business and users. Internal administration of 

the systems is also considerably simpler and more cost-effective 
as the handling of business-critical information is classified and 

automated, for example. The contract also includes implementation 
and configuration of the new IT infrastructure.
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The share

The share
Proact shares have been listed on Nasdaq Stockholm with ticker symbol 
PACT since July 1999. Share capital amounts to SEK 10,618,837, divided 
over 9,333,886 shares with a quotient value of 1.14. All shares entitle the 
holder to an equal share of the company’s assets and profits and entitle the 
holder to one vote at the general meeting. At the annual general meeting, 
every individual entitled to a vote may vote with the full number of votes he 
owns and represents in shares, without limitation as to voting rights.

Stock exchange
3.9 million Proact shares to a value of SEK 717 million were traded in 2017 
at an average price of SEK 190.27. The share price at the start of the year 
was SEK 145.00, compared with SEK 180.50 at year-end.

Ownership structure
Proact had 3,743 shareholders as at 31 December 2017, of whom most 
were private individuals with small holdings. There were 53 sharehold-
ers with holdings in excess of 20,000 shares, the largest of these being 
Aktiebolaget Grenspecialisten with a holding of 1,035,778 shares and 
Livförsäkrings AB Skandia (publ) with 1,013,829 shares. 

At the Annual General Meeting held on 9 May 2017, the Board of Directors 
was authorised to acquire up to 10 per cent of the company’s shares by 
the next Annual General Meeting. Up to and including 31 December 2017, 
49,900 shares have been bought back under this authorisation. The company 
holds 128,569 shares in its own custody as at 31 December 2017.

As far as the Board of Directors is aware, there are no contracts between 
shareholders requiring specific information in accordance with the Swedish 
Company Accounts Act.

Policy on dividends
The company’s policy on dividends is adapted to suit the Group’s profit 
level, financial position and investment requirements. The dividend proposal 
is weighed up between shareholders’ expectations for reasonable direct 
returns and the company’s need to be able to finance itself. In the long 
term, Proact intends to issue a dividend of 25-35 % of profits after tax. In 
accordance with this policy, the Board of Directors will propose a dividend of 
SEK 3.75 (3.50) per share to the Annual General Meeting. The total dividend 
is equivalent to 30.4 per cent of the profit for 2017 after tax.

Number of shares per shareholder

Holding
Number of 

shareholders
Percentage of 
shareholders

Number of 
shares

Percentage of 
share capital

1 – 500 3,179 84.9% 313,565 3.4%

501 – 1,000 207 5.5% 166,873 1.8%

1,001 – 5,000 240 6.4% 506,266 5.4%

5,001 – 10,000 43 1.1% 327,376 3.5%

10,001 – 15,000 14 0.4% 171,597 1.8%

15,001 – 20,000 7 0.2% 114,792 1.2%

20,001 – 53 1.4% 7,733,417 82.9%

Total, 31 Dec 2017 3,743 100.0% 9,333,886 100.0%

Shareholders, 31/12/2017 Number of 
shares

Capital and votes,  
percentage

Aktiebolaget Grenspecialisten 1,035,778 11.1%

Livförsäkrings AB Skandia (publ) 1,013,829 10.9%

Swedbank Robur Småbolagsfond Sverige 503,824 5.4%

Fondita Nordic Micro Cap SR 434,000 4.6%

Swedbank Robur Ny Teknik BTI 391,586 4.2%

JP Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. 367,167 3.9%

Skandia Sverige 356,481 3.8%

HSBC Trustee of Marlborough, European 218,089 2.3%

Skandia Fond Småbolag Sverige 213,159 2.3%

JPMEL - Stockholm Branch 200 000 2.1%

Other 4,599,973 49.3%

Total 9,333,886 100.0%

Information to shareholders
The complete annual report for 2017 will be available for inspection at the 
company’s office from mid-April 2018 and will be made publicly available 
on the company’s website. Interim reports are available on the Company’s 
website at www.proact.se. For more information on the company, please 
contact Proact IT Group AB, telephone +46 (0) 8 410 666 00,  
e-mail: info@proact.se. 

Källa:Proact (Totalavkastning) SIX Return Index Omsatt antal aktier i 1000-tal per vecka

Kr Antal aktier

Source:Proact (Total return) SIX Return Index   Number of shares traded, 000’s per week
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Five reasons to own shares in Proact

Proact has a clear, qualitative offering in the field of data centres with associated consultancy and support 
services, as well as cloud services. Proact supplies flexible, secure IT services that help customers to reduce 
risks and lower costs.

Market-leading 
offering
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0,0

0,5

1,0

1,5

2,0

2,5

3,0

3,5

4,0

20172016201520142013
0,0

0,5

1,0

1,5

2,0

2,5

3,0

3,5

4,0

Dividend per share, SEK Direct returns, %

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

20172016201520142013
0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

SEK %

Dividends

Utlandsboende
ägare 36%
Finansiella
företag 34%
Övriga juridiska
personer 17%
Svenska fysiska
personer 11%
Intresse-
organisationer 2%

Shareholders 
resident abroad 36%
Financial
companies 34%
Other legal
entities 17%
Swedish natural
persons 11%
Stakeholder
organisations 2%

Distribution of ownership, % of capital (Euroclear)

Increased digitisation is a clear global market trend, so having an IT function that works well is of increas-
ingly strategic importance and frequently a prerequisite for efficient running of core business. This is why the 
part of the IT market on which Proact works is relatively insensitive to cyclical fluctuations. Annual economic 
market growth has stood at between one and five per cent over the last few years. 

Attractive non- 
cyclical market

Implementation of relevant activities relating to the sale, marketing, development and innovation of new 
services and products is ensured regularly so as to create good organic growth in existing markets, as well as 
ensuring that we have relevant partners. Moreover, the company is expanding into new geographical markets. 
Growth through acquisition is another important part of the strategy.

Clear strategy  
for growth

Proact’s profitability has gone on improving over the last few years. The company will be continuing to focus 
on good cost control in order to achieve its financial target: a profit before tax of at least 5 per cent. The target 
of increasing the total service portion of the company’s revenues will also have a positive effect on the profit 
margin. 

Focus on increased 
margins

Proact’s business has a strong cash-generating ability, and the company has a strong financial position with 
low levels of debt and a good equity ratio. This operates together with efficient management of operating 
capital to generate a strong cash flow. The company’s policy on dividends is to allocate 25–35 per cent of its 
profit after tax.

Share dividend
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Directors’ report
The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of Proact IT Group AB (publ), corporate ID number 556494-
3446, hereby submit the annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements for the 2017 financial year, 
the company’s twenty-third year of operation. The consolidated balance sheet and income statement and the balance 
sheet and income statement for the parent company will be ratified at the Annual General Meeting on 8 May 2018.

General information
The name of the company is Proact IT Group AB (publ), and it has its regis-
tered office in the Municipality of Stockholm, Sweden. The address of head 
office is Kistagången 2, SE-164 28 Kista. The company has been listed on 
Nasdaq Stockholm under the ticker symbol PACT since 1999.

Business approach
Proact is Europe’s leading independent integrator in the fields of data storage 
and cloud solutions. Proact solutions cover all elements of data storage, 
including virtualisation, network functions and security. Proact supplies busi-
ness benefits by helping companies and authorities the world over to reduce 
risk and costs, and above all, to supply flexible, accessible and secure IT 
services. Proact comprises wholly-owned and partly-owned subsidiaries in 
Europe and North America.

As at 31 December 2017, Proact employed 811 staff in Belgium, 
 Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Latvia, Lithuania, the Netherlands, Norway, 
Slovakia, Spain, the United Kingdom, Sweden, the Czech Republic, Germany 
and North America.

All Group companies offer the same range of services on their respective 
markets, with the exception of Proact Finance AB, Proact Managed Cloud 
Services AB, Proact MCS B.V., Proact VX B.V. and the parent company, the 
operations of which are described below.

Proact Finance AB is a wholly-owned subsidiary which offers customers 
financial services for both services and products via the Group’s other 
subsidiaries.

Proact Managed Cloud Services B.V. and Proact MCS B.V. are wholly- 
owned subsidiaries which offer customers cloud services themselves and via 
other Group subsidiaries. 

Proact VX B.V., in which the Group has a 52 per cent holding, offers cus-
tomers specialist services relating to Microsoft via Group subsidiaries.

The parent company, Proact IT Group AB (publ), is responsible for issues 
relating to the Group as a whole.

The past year
The company enjoyed good development in terms of growth, profitability, 
cash flow and net cash in 2017. During the financial year, the company has 
made a further step towards its profitability target of a net margin of 5 per 
cent before tax. In terms of profit, 2017 was the best year ever in the history 
of the company. The company’s total revenues have increased by 12 per 
cent, and organic growth was zero. The strategic focus area cloud services 
has developed well and is demonstrating growth of 16 per cent in local 
currency. Other  strategic targets such as equity ratio, return on equity and 
proposed dividend (as stated on page 4) have undergone positive develop-
ment over the financial year.

This positive revenue and earnings trend has primarily been achieved be-
cause the company constantly works according to a set strategy and defined 
focus areas. Among other things, this involves ensuring good cost control, 
regular improvement and streamlining measures in respect of the services 
we provide, taking the necessary measures in countries failing to meet set 
financial targets and increasing the emphasis on sales and marketing within 
the company. This excellent trend also shows that the company’s specialist 

expertise and market-leading offering with regard to data centres and cloud 
services are very much appreciated by both new and existing customers. 

Growth through acquisition, either by means of geographical expansion or 
by acquisition of specialist expertise, is an important part of the strategy. In 
early January 2017, Proact acquired all shares in German company Teamix 
GmbH. Integration has gone according to plan and the acquired unit has 
made a positive contribution to Group net sales and profits. 

Revenues amounted to SEK 3,258 (2,922) million, representing an in-
crease of 12 per cent, and revenues increased by 12 per cent when adjusted 
for currency effects1). Operating profit before depreciation, EBITDA, for 2017 
as a whole amounted to SEK 220 (191) million, which is an increase of 15 
per cent compared with the previous year. Profit before tax amounted to SEK 
153 (134) million. 

 
Group revenue and profit
For 2017 as a whole, the company’s revenues amounted to SEK 3,258 
(2,922) million, representing an increase of 12 per cent in local currency. 
Organic growth was zero. 

Revenues per Business Unit Jan-Dec 2017 Jan-Dec 2016 Jan-Dec 2015

Nordics 1,643 1,645 1,598

UK 556 635 643

West 932 509 448

East 134 149 140

Proact Finance 101 73 95

Groupwide –108 –89 –123

Total revenues 3,258 2,922 2,802

Revenues for Nordics have remained unchanged, although revenues in the 
USA were considerably lower than last year. On the positive side, revenues 
from the cloud services strategic focus area have increased by 13 per cent 
over the financial year. Revenues in the UK have fallen compared with last 
year due to a cautious market, which has primarily had a negative impact 
on system sales. Organic growth in West, excluding the acquired unit in 
Germany, amounted to 12 per cent. Both system and service revenues 
have demonstrated good growth. Service revenues in East have undergone 
positive development, although system revenues are down in some of the 
countries involved due to a cautious market. Proact Finance is continuing 
to develop well, and future contracted cash flows amount to SEK 159 (119) 
million as at 31 December 2017.

Proact has good revenue distribution in respect of its various industry 
segments. The four biggest industry segments are Trade & Services, Public 
Sector, Telecoms and Manufacturing Industry.

Revenues per sector

Handel & Tjänster 24% (21)
Offentlig Sektor 18% (22)
Telekom 14% (15)
Tillverkande Industri 12% (12)
Olja, Energi 5% (6)
Bank, Finans 9% (10)
Media 4% (2)
Övrigt 14% (12)

Retail and Services 24% (21)
Public Sector 18% (22)
Telecoms 14% (15)
Manufacturing Industry 12% (12)
Oil, Energy 5% (6)
Banking, Finance 9% (10)
Media 4% (2)
Other 14% (12)

1)  Currency effects are the differences between profit for the year, translated at 
the currency exchange rates for the year and the previous year respectively.
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Revenues per operating segment Jan-Dec 2017 Jan-Dec 2016 Jan-Dec 2015

System sales 2,149 1,896 1,884

Service operations 1,105 1,023 914

Other revenues 5 2 4

Total revenues 3,258 2,922 2,802

System revenues for the year amounted to 2,149 (1,896), representing an 
increase of 13 per cent compared with last year. When adjusted for currency 
effects1), system revenues increased by 13 per cent. 

Revenues for service operations in respect of consultancy services, 
agreed customer support, operating services and cloud services increased 
by 8 per cent compared with last year, or a 9 per cent increase when 
adjusted for currency effects1). New contracts have been concluded relating 
to cloud services to the value of SEK 189 (152) million. Revenues from cloud 
services are distributed over the term of each contract, a period of three to 
five years. Both customer support and cloud services are helping to bring 
about a positive development in the company’s total contracted revenues, 
which is important for the company’s future profit development.

Operating profit before depreciation, EBITDA, for 2017 as a whole 
amounted to SEK 220 (191) million, which is an increase of 15 per cent 
compared with the previous year. Profit before tax amounted to SEK 153 
(134) million for the same period, representing an increase of 14 per cent. 

Profit has fallen in Nordics compared with last year, primarily due to the 
fact that a number of major system contracts were implemented in the USA 
during the 2016 financial year, which resulted in a major positive effect on 
profit in 2016. Profit is up on last year for other Nordics countries overall. 
Profit in the UK remains more or less unchanged despite considerably lower 
contributions from system operations compared with the 2016 financial 
year. Lower sales and marketing costs and good profitability from service 
operations have helped to bring about this profit. Profit in West has improved 
considerably thanks to good development in both system and service oper-
ations, and the acquisition of Teamix has also made a positive contribution. 
Profit in East is down due to the lack of major system contracts. 

The reported tax expense over the financial year amounted to SEK 37 (37) 
million, equivalent to an effective tax rate of 25 per cent.

Earnings per share amounted to SEK 12.33 (10.32). 

Profit before tax per Business Unit Jan-Dec 2017 Jan-Dec 2016 Jan-Dec 2015

Nordics 96.5 102.6 88.4

UK 20.7 21.6 15.3

West 22.9 10.2 11.6

East 7.2 10.1 7.6

Proact Finance 5.7 7.6 5.1

Groupwide –0.6 –12.6 –15.5

Profit before tax and items affecting 
comparability 152.5 139.5 112.3

Items affecting comparability – –5.8 –8.3

Profit before tax 152.5 133.7 104.1

Financial position and cash flows
The Group’s liquid funds amounted to SEK 220 (214) million as at 31 
December 2017. In addition, the Group has an unutilised overdraft facility 
of SEK 240 (151) million. The equity ratio was 21.3 (18.4) per cent as at 
31 December 2017. Net cash increased by SEK 67 million over the year, 
amounting to SEK 80 million as at 31 December 2017.

Cash flow amounted to SEK 1 (42) million for the year as a whole, of which 
SEK 241 (154) million was from operating activities. SEK 92 (59) million has 
been invested in fixed assets, and SEK 66 (44) million has been paid out 
in respect of acquisition of companies and the acquisition of further shares 
from non-controlling interests. At the same time, shares in the company’s 
own custody to a value of SEK 27 million have been used to pay part of the 
purchase price when acquiring companies. Changes in loans from credit 
institutes, utilisation of the overdraft facility and contract borrowing have had 
a total impact of SEK 27 million on cash flow. Dividends paid to the parent 
company’s shareholders amounted to SEK 32 (25) million. 

Of total bank overdraft facilities of SEK 241 (180) million, SEK 1 (29) 
million has been utilised. Bank loans amount to SEK 133 (135) million, SEK 
46 (31) million of which will fall due for repayment within 12 months. The 
parent company has loans amounting to SEK 100 million which fall due for 
renegotiation by 31 December 2018. The parent company also has a loan 
of SEK 30 million until December 2019. This loan includes a lone covenant 
in respect of senior net liabilities in relation to EBITDA. The loan covenant 
has been met by a good margin in 2017 and as at 31 December 2017. One 
subsidiary also has a bank loan of SEK 3 million with a term until December 
2020. The Group also uses invoice factoring in Sweden and Finland. 

Total goodwill for the Group amounts to SEK 385 (322) million, attributable 
primarily to the operations in the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, Germany, 
Sweden and Norway. Other intangible assets amount to SEK 99 (109) million 
and are depreciated over a useful life of five to ten years.

The Group’s total deductions for losses amount to SEK 156 (137) million. 
It has been assessed that of this amount, SEK 25 (13) million can be made 
use of against future taxable profits and the tax effect of the estimated future 
deduction has been recorded as a deferred tax claim. As at 31 December 
2017, a total of SEK 17 (15) million has been recorded as deferred tax 
receivables, of which SEK 7 (3) million is attributable to fiscal deficits. Tax 
expense for the year amounts to SEK 37 (37) million. Tax paid throughout the 
year amount to SEK 64 (48) million.

Employees
The company employed 799 (723) people on average over the year, of whom 
89 joined the company on acquisition of Teamix. The company employed 
811 (718) people as at 31 December 2017, of whom 96 employees joined 
the company on acquisition of Teamix.

Parent company
The parent company’s revenues totalled SEK 97 (79) million. Profit before 
tax for the year amounted to SEK 97 (8) million. This result is largely due to 
dividends and Group contributions from subsidiaries. The parent company’s 
liabilities in a joint Group currency account amounted to SEK 299 (345) mil-
lion as at 31 December 2017. At the end of the period, the number of people 
employed by the parent company totalled 14 (13). 

The parent company’s operations remained unchanged during the period 
and comprise groupwide functions and work relating to capital market and 
shareholder relations. There have been no significant transactions with relat-
ed parties besides those with the executive in the capacity of employees. 

 
Environment
The company does not carry on any business affected by registration or 
licence obligations under the Swedish Environmental Code.

1)  Currency effects are the differences between profit for the year, translated at the  
currency exchange rates for the year and the previous year respectively.
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Research and development
The company’s research and development operations are run by means 
of an innovation process established within the company. This process is 
ensuring that the company will meet the market’s needs and requirements 
as effectively as possible, and also that new products and services will be 
developed in a time-efficient, cost-effective manner. No research and devel-
opment expenditure has been capitalised.

The company also maintains close contact with the leading and most 
important suppliers of data storage and cloud service systems. The company 
also keeps track of technical developments in the company’s focus areas by 
means of participation in trade fairs and seminars. 

 
Risks and uncertainty factors
The Group manages financial risks on the basis of a finance policy laid 
down by the Board. The Group’s operational risks are mainly assessed and 
managed by the Group executive and reported to the Board at Proact. 

For a detailed description of risks and risk management, see the section 
entitled “Risks and risk management”.

Board and executive
Jason Clark was the Chief Executive Officer and President of Proact IT Group 
AB throughout the 2017 financial year. 

Other senior executives in 2017 were Sander Dekker (Business Unit 
Director West), Arne Kungberg (Business Unit Director East), Eirik Pedersen 
(Business Unit Director Nordics), Jakob Høholdt (Vice President Strategy and 
Efficiency), Peter Javestad (CEO Proact Finance AB and Vice President IR and 
Professional Services), Jonas Persson (CFO), Petra Tesch (CIO), Maarten van 
Unen (Vice President Sales and Marketing), Tomas Vikholm (Vice President 
Customer Support) and Paul Bates (Vice President Managed Cloud Services).

Anders Hultmark was re-elected Chairman of the Board at the Annual 
General Meeting on 9 May 2017. Christer Holmén and Eva Elmstedt were 
re-elected to the Board. Martin Gren and Annikki Schaeferdiek were elected 
to the Board. 

Each year, the Board defines an agenda for the Board and instructions 
for the Managing Director. This agenda determines – among other things – 
which issues are to be discussed, the forms of Board meetings, minutes and 
reports, as well as the distribution of work between the Board and the CEO.

The Board has met ten times in 2017. At all ordinary general meetings, 
the Board has discussed Proact’s operations and financial position, looking 
at lines of business and financial administration. In addition, the Board has 
discussed strategic issues such as financial targets, the establishment of 
business and operational plans, acquisitions, issues relating to personnel 
and organisation, legal issues and essential policies. Individual Board 
members have assisted the Group executive on various issues of a strategic 
nature. The Board has appointed three Board members to make up an audit 
committee and two to make up a remuneration committee. The company’s 
auditor participates in Board meetings at least once a year and on such 
occasions reports on observations from the inspection. The audit committee 
has met four times over the year. The company’s auditor has participated in 
all meetings of the audit committee throughout the year.

Guidelines on remuneration for senior executives 
A decision was made at the Annual General Meeting for 2017 regarding the 
following guidelines for remuneration to senior executives, to remain in force 
until the time of the next Annual General Meeting.

Remuneration to the Managing Director and other senior executives will be 
made up of a set salary, variable remuneration (where applicable), other 
customary benefits and pension. Total remuneration to officers must be in 
line with market conditions and competitive on the labour market on which 
the officer is active, and significant performance must be reflected in the 
total remuneration.

The set salary and variable remuneration must be related to the respon-
sibilities and authorisations of the officials. The total variable remuneration 
for all senior executives must be maximised to an amount corresponding, on 
average, to eight monthly salaries, based on results in relation to targets set, 
and coincide with the interests of shareholders.

Pension terms must be in line with market conditions, given the situation 
in the country in which the officer resides permanently. 

The issue of remuneration to the Managing Director will be discussed by a 
remuneration committee and adopted by the Board of Directors, and for other 
senior executives this issue will be considered by the Managing Director.

The Board is entitled to deviate from the above guidelines if the Board is 
of the opinion that there are special reasons for doing so in the individual 
case in question. In the opinion of the Board, there has been compliance with 
the above guidelines for 2017.

The Board will propose to the 2018 Annual General Meeting that the 
above guidelines continue to apply. 

 
Corporate governance
Corporate governance at Proact IT Group AB (publ) is based on the Com-
panies Act, the Swedish Company Accounts Act, the Articles of Association, 
the listing agreement with Nasdaq Stockholm and the Swedish Code of 
Corporate Governance. The corporate governance report, including the 
Board of Directors’ report on internal auditing for 2017, has been compiled 
as a separate document which can be found on page 26. The report is also 
published on the Proact website. 

Sustainability report
In accordance with Chapter 6, section 11 of the Swedish Company Accounts 
Act, Proact IT Group AB (publ) has compiled the statutory sustainability report 
as a report separate from the annual financial statements. The content of 
this report can be found on page 7.

Ownership structure
Proact shares have been listed on Nasdaq Stockholm with ticker symbol 
PACT since July 1999. Proact had 3,743 (3,334) shareholders as at 31 
December 2017, most of whom were private individuals with small holdings. 
The two biggest shareholders, each with holdings in excess of 10 per cent, 
were Aktiebolaget Grenspecialisten with a holding of 11.1 per cent and 
Livförsäkrings AB Skandia with a holding of 10.9 per cent.

As far as the Board of Directors is aware, there are no contracts between 
shareholders requiring specific information in accordance with the Swedish 
Company Accounts Act.

The share 
Share capital amounts to SEK 10,618,837, divided over 9,333,886 shares 
with a quotient value of 1.14. All shares entitle the holder to an equal share 
of the company’s assets and profits and entitle the holder to one vote at the 
general meeting. At the Annual General Meeting, every individual entitled 
to a vote may vote with the full number of votes he owns and represents in 
shares, without limitation as to voting rights. 
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Buy-back of own shares
Shares are bought back partly with a view to adjusting the company’s capital 
structure, and partly with a view to using bought-back shares as cash in or 
for the financing of acquisitions of companies or businesses. 

At the Annual General Meeting held on 9 May 2017, the Board of Direc-
tors was authorised to acquire up to 10 per cent of the company’s shares by 
the next Annual General Meeting. Up to and including 31 December 2017, 
49,900 shares have been bought back under this authorisation. 

During 2017, 200,000 shares in the company’s own custody have been 
used for acquisitions of companies.

The total number of own shares held by the company is 128,569 as at 31 
December 2017, which is equivalent to 1.4 per cent of the total number of 
shares. The total purchase price paid for shares in own custody is SEK 25.0 
million, corresponding to an average acquisition value of SEK 194 per share.

Significant events after the end of the fiscal year
Jason Clark resigned as CEO and President as at 1 February 2018. The 
Board of Directors has appointed Peter Javestad as the acting CEO and 
President. Peter Javestad has been a member of the Group executive 
since 2004 and has held senior positions such as Regional Manager, Vice 
 President Services and Vice President Sales and Marketing. Expenses 
attributable to this change, totalling SEK 2.5 million, will affect profits in the 
first quarter of 2018.

Expectations of the future
The rapid rate of digitisation taking place within the majority of industries 
means that IT is taking on more and more strategic importance, as an IT 
function that works well is frequently a prerequisite for efficient running of 
the core business. In turn, this means that the underlying growth in digital 
business-critical information is still high. The combination of rapid digitisation 
and the increasing volume of business-critical information means that IT 
infrastructure is becoming increasingly complex and new demands are being 
made.

All companies and authorities are dependent on access to information of 
various kinds to allow their operations to work, and accessibility and security 
are even more important for business-critical information in particular. 
Shortcomings in security procedures and uptime can lead to disruptions 
within the business, with disastrous consequences. As a result, more and 
more companies and authorities are evaluating options for using various 
services and new fields of technology in order to simplify their IT operations 
and ensure that their supply of IT services meets the requirements defined 
by business operations and their customers. 

One clear market trend is that more and more customers are wanting to 
offer IT as a service, where users themselves order and consume different 
types of IT service based on the needs of each individual user. To facilitate 
the supply of IT as a service, companies and authorities are implementing 
a combination of private and public cloud services, known as hybrid clouds, 
to an ever-increasing extent. The aim of this is to automate internal IT pro-
cesses and hence offer cost-effective, flexible IT services to both internal and 
external users. Other market trends include the continued growth of the data 
centre concept, a combination of storage, servers and networks. 

The need for ongoing streamlining, as well as a growing demand for solu-
tions and services in Proact’s specialist fields, is indicating major potential 

for growth for the company. Proact has established methods, processes and 
services to offer so as to meet demand on the market and provide the most 
effective support to its customers.

Dividend policy
The company’s policy on dividends is adapted to suit the Group’s profit 
level, financial position and investment requirements. The dividend proposal 
is weighed up between shareholders’ expectations for reasonable direct 
returns and the company’s need to be able to finance itself. In the long term, 
Proact intends to issue a dividend of 25-35 % of profits after tax.

Dividend proposal and proposed appropriation of profits
The Board of Directors will propose a dividend of SEK 3.75 (3.50) per share 
to the Annual General Meeting for the 2017 business year.

The Annual General Meeting has at its disposal:

Retained earnings 141,620,849 SEK

Profit for the year 96,641,215 SEK

Total non-restricted equity 238,262,064 SEK

The Board of Directors proposes that retained earnings be managed as follows:

Dividend, SEK 3.75 per share 34,318,564 SEK

Carried forward 203,943,500 SEK

Total  238,262,064 SEK

There are 9,333,886 registered shares within the company, of which – as 
at 28 March 2018 – 182,269 shares are bought-back own shares not 
entitled to dividends. The total of the dividend of SEK 34,318,564 proposed 
above may change, but to no more than SEK 35,002,073, if ownership of 
the number of bought-back own shares changes prior to the record day for 
dividends.

The Board submits the following statement of motivation in accordance 
with Chapter 18, Subsection 4 of the Companies Act in respect of the pro-
posal on distribution of dividends:

The proposed dividend amounts to 12 per cent of the company’s 
equity and 9 per cent of the Group’s equity. Non-restricted equity in the 
parent company at the end of the 2017 financial year amounted to SEK 
238,262,064. The annual report indicates that the Group’s equity ratio 
amounts to 21.3 per cent. The proposed dividend does not jeopardise the 
implementation of the investments deemed necessary. In the opinion of the 
Board, the company has equity well suited to the scope of the company’s 
operations and the risks associated with the implementation of operations. It 
may further be noted that the Group has cash and cash equivalents amount-
ing to approximately SEK 220 million, unutilised bank overdraft facilities 
amounting to approximately SEK 240 million and net cash amounting to SEK 
80 million.”

For the company’s accounted profit/loss for the financial year and its 
situation as at 31/12/2017, please see the income statement and balance 
sheet below, the equity report and the cash flow analyses, as well as the 
notes pertaining to these.
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Risks and risk management

BUSINESS RISKS PROBABILITY HANDLING  IMPACT

Customers 
Proact has a good risk spread with regard to geographi-
cal presence and customer segments.

Proact’s biggest customers can be found in the sectors of trade/services, the pub-
lic sector, telecoms and the manufacturing industry. The ten biggest customers are 
responsible for 22 (24) per cent of sales, and no one customer represents more 
than 4 (6) per cent of revenue. The biggest customers are spread over a number 
of countries.

Suppliers 
As an independent integrator, Proact has the opportunity 
to achieve a good balance between a number of 
market- leading strategic suppliers in combination with 
smaller niche suppliers in the respective product areas.

Proact works continuously with evaluation of various suppliers in order to minimise 
risk exposure and dependency.

Provision of skills 
Proact’s successes are very strongly linked with the abil-
ity to recruit, develop, motivate and retain qualified staff.

As future success is dependent on the ability to maintain its reputation as an 
attractive employer, Proact runs – among other things – a number of custom 
training courses within the scope of Proact Academy. 

Acquisitions and integration 
The implementation of acquisitions involves risk. The 
acquired company’s relations with customers, suppliers 
and key individuals may be adversely affected. This is 
also a risk that integration processes may become more 
costly or more time-consuming than calculated, and that 
anticipated synergies may fail to emerge.

Proact evaluates potential candidates for acquisition on the basis of an evaluation 
model, which includes potential synergy effects and how well the candidate for 
acquisition supports Proact’s strategies. A review (due diligence) of the entire com-
pany takes place in due course before a decision is made so that any risks can be 
evaluated. Experience gained from acquisition and integration work carried out 
creates a strong foundation for successful limitation of these risks in future. 

MARKET RISKS PROBABILITY HANDLING  IMPACT

Impact of the financial situation 
The general market situation affects the options and 
inclination of Proact’s existing and potential customers 
to invest. 

Proact operates over a significant geographical area, and the company has a 
broad customer base in a large number of industries. As digital information vol-
umes for storage and archiving are growing to a great extent while Proact is at the 
same time offering its customers streamlining and cost savings, the impact on 
Proact of the financial situation is relatively limited. The fact that almost a third of 
Proact’s total sales are contracted for one to five years also alleviates the effects 
of market fluctuations. 

Products and technology 
The IT sector is constantly undergoing development as 
regards products and technology, with requirements for 
more efficient solutions helping users to save money.

Proact is constantly evaluating new technologies, products and services in close 
partnership with its customers and suppliers to be able to provide the best solu-
tions possible for the market.

Competitors 
Most competition comes from integrators focusing on 
general IT business, public cloud services suppliers and 
global IT service companies.

Proact’s competitive advantages lie mainly in being an independent integrator with 
specialist expertise and extensive experience with regard to data centres with 
associated consultancy and support services, and also in the field of cloud services.

Proact’s risk management aims to identify, control and reduce risks linked 
with its operations. Most of these activities take place within each subsidiary, 
but certain legal, strategic and financial risks are managed at Group level. 
Risks relating to market and operations are managed within each subsid-

iary. As most of the risks relating to operations are attributable to Proact’s 
relationships with customers and suppliers, these are evaluated regularly so 
as to be able to determine the business risks involved. 
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CONT. MARKET RISKS PROBABILITY HANDLING IMPACT

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk of changes in currency 
exchange rates having an adverse effect on the income 
statement, balance sheet and cash flow. 

Proact is particularly subject to exchange rate risks in the USD and EUR curren-
cies, as most of its purchases are from suppliers which invoice in these curren-
cies. The currency risk which may arise is managed by means of a currency 
clause with customers which covers the currency risk which may occur from the 
time of tendering until delivery to the customer, and also by hedging major pur-
chases in foreign currencies. Under Proact’s financial policy, all exposure in excess 
of EUR 200 thousand/USD 250 thousand must be hedged. The fair value of out-
standing forward contracts as at 31 December 2017 amounted to SEK –3,343 
(–26) thousand. Net assets in a foreign subsidiary in the UK have been hedged – 
see also Note 30 – while the permanent financing of foreign subsidiaries is not 
hedged. The purchase and sale of foreign currencies is reported in note 14.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group’s profit is affected by factors such as changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates in relation to SEK. Many of the Group’s purchases are made in 
EUR and USD, while at the same time sales to end customers are made in local 
currency.

A 10 per cent change in currency exchange rates would affect profit before depre-
ciation as follows:
SEK/EUR +/–10% +/– SEK 13 million (effect on equity after tax  +/– SEK 10 million)
SEK/USD +/–10% +/– SEK 8 million (effect on equity after tax +/– SEK 6 million)
The effects above have been calculated based on circumstances in 2017 and the 
events must be viewed as isolated, without measures being taken to compensate 
for any drop-off in earnings.

Interest risks 
Interest risk is the risk that permanent changes in mar-
ket interest rates will adversely affect cash flow or the 
fair value of financial assets and liabilities. Interest rate 
risk exposure arises mainly from outstanding external 
loans. The impact on net interest is partly due to aver-
age interest terms on borrowings.

In accordance with the Group’s financial policy, all external borrowings have short 
interest terms; less than three months on average. No interest rate derivatives 
were utilised to manage this risk in 2017. Lending and interest rates are specified 
in greater detail in Note 24.

Sensitivity analysis 
An instantaneous reasonable change in the interest rate as at 31 December would 
have no significant impact on the Group’s profit or equity. The balances attributa-
ble to interest-bearing liabilities are not affected by an instantaneous change in 
the interest rate as they are valued at accrued acquisition value. Liabilities to cred-
it institutions have variable interest rates, and the reported interest rate is on a par 
with the current interest rate on liabilities to credit institutions, and other financial 
assets and liabilities have short terms. On the basis of this, the book values of all 
financial assets and liabilities are deemed to be a reasonable estimate of their fair 
values.

FINANCIAL RISKS PROBABILITY HANDLING IMPACT

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk of the company not being able to 
meet its payment obligations in full, or of only doing so 
on significantly unfavourable terms due to a shortage of 
cash.

Fundamentally, liquidity risk is managed with caution at Proact. Liquidity planning, 
in combination with credit limits and lending facilities, is used to ensure that the 
Group has sufficient liquid funds at all times. 
 At the end of the year, Proact had cash and cash equivalents amounting to SEK 
220 (214) million and an unutilised overdraft facility of SEK 240 (151) million, and 
at the same time net cash has increased by SEK 67 million to SEK 80 million dur-
ing the 2017 financial year. According to the company's finance policy, the parent 
company must manage the Group's investments of surplus liquidity. Investments 
must be made in bank accounts or in interest-bearing Swedish securities. 
Securities must relate to government bonds or certificates issued by banks or by 
brokers owned by banks. Investments must only be made in certificates with a K1 
rating or in certificates issued by finance companies which are under the supervi-
sion of the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority. No investments may have a 
term longer than six months. Short-term liquidity requirements are currently pro-
vided for by overdraft facilities. To ensure that these needs can be met, a strong 
financial position is required in combination with active efforts to gain access to 
such credit.
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CONT. FINANCIAL RISKS PROBABILITY HANDLING IMPACT

Finance risk 
“Finance risk” relates to the risk of the financing of the 
Group’s capital requirements and refinancing of out-
standing loans being impaired or made more expensive.

Bank loans amount to SEK 133 million, SEK 46 million of which will fall due for 
repayment within 12 months. Of these loans, SEK 100 million has a term until 
December 2018 (when it falls due for renegotiation) and SEK 30 million has a 
term until December 2019. These loans include a lone covenant in respect of  
senior net liabilities in relation to EBITDA. The loan covenant has been met by a 
good margin in 2017 and as at 31 December 2017. One subsidiary also has a 
bank loan of SEK 3 million with a term until December 2020. See Note 24 for fur-
ther information. The company also uses invoice factoring in Sweden and Finland. 
With invoice factoring, the risk remains with the company until the customer pays. 
Overdraft facilities granted amounted to SEK 241 million, of which SEK 240 million 
was unutilised as at 31 December 2017. The company is unable to guarantee that 
no capital requirement will arise. Failure to generate profits or meet future needs 
for finance may substantially affect the market value of the company.

Capital 
The group’s objective is to maintain a stable financial 
position which safeguards the Group’s ability to continue 
operating and generating returns for shareholders, while 
also benefiting other stakeholders.

Proact’s managed capital consists of equity. The company’s objective is to use 
established strategies to achieve a good financial position and so prepare profits 
for shareholders by increasing the value of the managed capital. There are no 
external capital requirements other that those referred to in the Swedish 
Companies Act. A dividend of SEK 32,393 thousand, equivalent to SEK 3.50 per 
share, was issued in 2017 for the 2016 business year.

Credit/counterparty risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a transac-
tion will not meet its financial obligations and that collat-
eral does not cover the company’s receivable. 

The predominant element of Proact’s credit risk relates to receivables from cus-
tomers. Proact’s sales are divided over a large number of end-customers spread 
over a broad geographical area, which limits the concentration of credit risk. The 
credit risk within the Group must be kept to a minimum by establishing a credit 
limit for each and every one of the company’s customers and partners, as well as 
entering into contracts where considered necessary with a view to minimising 
credit risk.
Below is an analysis of accounts receivable as at 31 December:

2017 % 2016 %

Not due 495.9 86.2% 590.4 90.2%

< 30 days 63.2 11.0% 50.1 7.7%

31-60 days 11.0 1.9% 2.4 0.4%

61-90 days 5.1 0.9% 5.8 0.9%

> 90 days 0.3 0.1% 5.8 0.9%

Total 575.5 100.0% 654.4 100.0%

The credit quality of non-overdue receivables is deemed to be good. There have 
been no customer losses for the company throughout the year, while customer 
losses for the previous year amounted to SEK 69 thousand. Reserves for uncertain 
receivables amount to SEK 3,533 (505) thousand. Of total trade receivables, 3 (2) 
per cent are older than 30 days.
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Corporate governance report

Proact IT Group AB (publ) is a parent company in the Proact Group which 
consists of a number of subsidiaries as outlined in the annual report, Note 
17.

This corporate governance report has been compiled in accordance with 
the Swedish Company Accounts Act and the Swedish Code of Corporate 
Governance.

The parent company and Group are governed via the Annual General 
Meeting, the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer in accord-
ance with the Swedish Companies Act, the Swedish Company Accounts Act, 
the company’s Articles of Association, the listing agreement with Nasdaq 
Stockholm and the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance. This code is 
based on the “comply or explain” principle. Proact deviates from the recom-
mendations of the code in respect of one item: the company’s half-yearly 
and nine-monthly reports have not been reviewed by the auditors. The Board 
is of the opinion that any such review on the basis of a cost perspective is 
not necessary, given the company’s degree of complexity and business risks.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting is the supreme governing body of Proact. The 
Annual General Meeting of Proact IT Group AB is held annually in April or 
May adjacent to the company’s head office in Kista. The time and date of 
the meeting are published at the latest when the interim report for the third 
quarter is issued and published simultaneously on the company’s website. 
The Annual General Meeting elects Proact’s Board of Directors and its Chair-
man. The other tasks of the Annual General Meeting also include:
•  approving and adopting the company’s income statements and balance 

sheets
• making decisions on allocation of the company’s profit 
• making decisions on changes to the Articles of Association
• electing auditors
•  making decisions on discharge from liability for Board members and the 

Managing Director
• making decisions on remuneration for the Board of Directors and auditors
• approving the appointment of the nomination committee

Shareholders who do not have the opportunity to attend the General Meeting 
in person may instead participate via a representative.

The “Ownership” section in the Directors’ Report indicates the direct or 
indirect shareholdings in the company which represent at least one-tenth of 
the voting rights for all shares in the company. 

The “Shares” section also indicates the restrictions on how many votes 
each shareholder can cast at a General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting 2017
29 shareholders, representing 46.2 per cent of both the number of shares 
and the total number of votes in the company, participated in Proact’s Annual 
General Meeting which took place in Kista on 9 May 2017. The Board of 
Directors, executive team and company’s auditors were present at this 
meeting. Among other things, the following decisions were made:
•  Chairman of the Board Anders Hultmark was appointed Chairman of the 

meeting.
•  The income statement and balance sheet, and the consolidated income 

statement and consolidated balance sheet were approved and adopted.
• Establishment of a proposed dividend of SEK 3.50 per share.
•  The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer were granted discharge 

from liability for the 2016 business year.

•  Remuneration payable to the Board of Directors was set at a total of SEK 
1,665,000. 

•  Remuneration to the auditors will be paid in accordance with an approved 
invoice.

•  Anders Hultmark, who was also elected Chairman of the Board, was 
re-elected as a Board member. The following other Board members were 
re-elected: 

 • Christer Holmén
 • Eva Elmstedt
 The following other Board members were elected:
 • Martin Gren
 • Annikki Schaeferdiek
• Establishment of guidelines on remuneration for senior executives 
•  Establishment of principles for the appointment of a nomination commit-

tee for the 2018 Annual General Meeting.
•  A decision was made to authorise the Board to make decisions on the 

new issue of shares. It was noted that payment through offsetting must 
only take place in connection with company acquisitions.

•  A decision was made to authorise the Board to implement acquisitions 
and transfers of the company’s own shares. It was also decided that 
the Board can only buy back shares in such numbers that bought-back 
shares, together with any newly issued shares according to the authori-
sation decided upon in the section above, do not exceed a total of 10 per 
cent of the now outstanding number of shares. It was noted that payment 
through offsetting must only take place in connection with company 
acquisitions and that the company is not allowed to sell its own shares on 
Nasdaq Stockholm.

Nomination committee
At Proact’s Annual General Meeting, held on 9 May 2017, it was decided 
that the nomination committee is to consist of representatives of the four 
biggest shareholders in terms of votes as at 30 September 2017 and the 
Chairman of the Board, and that the Chairman of the Board should contact 
the biggest shareholders in accordance with Euroclear Sweden’s list of 
shareholders as at 30 September 2017.

The names of the members of the nomination committee must be 
published as soon as the nomination committee has been appointed. If any 
of the biggest owners declines to appoint a representative on the nomination 
committee, the next shareholder in order of size must be given the opportu-
nity to appoint such a representative. A representative of the shareholders is 
appointed chairman of the nomination committee. The mandate period of the 
nomination committee continues until a new nomination committee has been 
appointed.

If any significant change in the ownership structure takes place once the 
nomination committee has been appointed, the composition of the nomina-
tion committee must be amended in accordance with the principles above.

Where appropriate, the nomination committee must prepare and submit to 
the Annual General Meeting proposals for:

•  election of a Chairman for the meeting
• election of a Chairman of the Board and other company directors
•  directors’ fees divided between the Chairman and other members, plus 

remuneration for committee work
• election of and payment to auditors (where appropriate)
• decisions on principles for the appointment of a nomination committee
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Work of the nomination committee
The composition of the nomination committee was published on 17 October 
2017, comprising at that time Anders Hultmark (IGC, outgoing Chairman 
of the Board of Proact IT Group AB), Stephanie Gabrielsson (Skandia Liv), 
Magnus Skåninger (Swedbank Robur) and Jens Ismunden (Grenspecialisten) 
– chairman of the nomination committee. This nomination committee repre-
sented a total of around 37 per cent of votes in Proact as at 30 September 
2017. 

On 12 February 2018, Swedbank Robur Fonder disposed of its entire 
shareholding in Proact IT Group AB. TVF TopCo Limited acquired shares 
at the same time, resulting in it becoming the third biggest shareholder. A 
new nomination committee has been appointed due to these transactions. 
Erik Malmberg was appointed to represent TVF TopCo Limited, and Magnus 
Skåninger (Swedbank Robur) resigned.
The nomination committee has applied rule 4.1 in the Swedish Code of 
 Corporate Governance as its diversity policy when devising the proposal for 
the Board, with the aim of achieving effective composition of the Board in 
terms of diversity and breadth with regard to factors such as gender, nation-
ality, age and industry experience. The ambition of the nomination committee 
is to propose a Board composition where members complement one another 
with their respective experience and skills in a manner that gives the Board 
the opportunity to help bring about positive development of the company. 
The nomination committee always focuses on diversity so as to ensure that 
the Board has different perspectives on its Board work and the considera-
tions made. The nomination committee also takes into account the need for 
regeneration and carefully examines whether the proposed Board members 
have the opportunity to devote sufficient time and care to their Board work. 
All shareholders have the opportunity to consult the nomination committee 
with suggestions for Board members. The nomination committee has held 
several minuted meetings. 

A report on the work of the nomination committee is published on the 
Proact website – www.proact.se – in connection with the publication of its 
proposal to the 2018 annual general meeting concerning election of the 
Board of Directors.

Board of Directors
Proact’s Board of Directors makes decisions on issues relating to Proact’s 
strategic focus, investments, finance, organisational issues, acquisitions and 
divestments and more important policies. The Board must also ensure that 
correct information is given to Proact’s stakeholders in accordance with the 
governing regulations mentioned above. 

Board composition and diversity
According to the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors must consist 
of three to eight members, with at most five deputy members. These 
members, and where appropriate their deputies, are elected each year at the 
Annual General Meeting for the period until the next Annual General Meeting. 
At the Annual General Meeting held on 9 May 2017, it was decided that the 
Board would consist of five members and no deputies for the period until the 
next Annual General Meeting.

The nomination committee applies the Swedish Code of Corporate 
Governments, section 4.1, as its diversity policy. The objective is to propose 
composition of a Board with complementary experience and skills, also 
demonstrating diversity in terms of age, gender, nationality and industry 
experience. The composition of the present Board is the result of the work 

of the nomination committee prior to the 2017 Annual General Meeting. The 
Board comprises members with experience of various industries, and there is 
even gender distribution.

The Articles of Association contain no provisions relating to the appoint-
ment or compulsory retirement of Board members or to amendments to the 
Articles of Association.

The Board is deemed to be compliant with the stock exchange rules 
from Nasdaq Stockholm and the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance in 
respect of requirements for independent Board members.

Every business year, the Board of Directors carries out – either inde-
pendently or with the help of external parties – a review of the work of the 
Board and CEO by means of:
•  Evaluation of the work of the Board A questionnaire provided by Styrelse-

Akademien was implemented during the fourth quarter of the financial 
year. The results of the questionnaire will be discussed by the Board and 
communicated to the nomination committee. The nomination committee 
will then hold interviews with all members during the first quarter of next 
year.

• Evaluation of the work of the Chief Executive Officer
• The Chief Executive Officer’s view of the work of the Board
This review forms the basis for the Board’s future working methods.

Board remuneration
The Annual General Meeting held on 9 May 2017 established the total 
remuneration to the Board at SEK 1,665,000 million. The Chairman of the 
Board will be paid a fee of SEK 525,000, while other members will be paid 
SEK 210,000 each, plus SEK 300,000 for committee work to be distributed 
SEK 200,000 to the audit committee and SEK 100,000 to the remuneration 
committee. No further payments have been made to the Board over the year. 

Board members are not included in any share or share price-related 
incentives schemes. 

The Board’s procedures
The work of the Board is governed by a set of procedures established annu-
ally which regulate the members’ mutual division of work, decision-making 
arrangements, signing on behalf of the company, a meeting agenda for the 
Board and the tasks of the Chairman. The work of the Board follows a set 
agenda intended to ensure that the Board’s information needs are satisfied 
and that there is an appropriate distribution of work between the Board and 
the Managing Director.

In 2017, the Board held ten meetings compared with ten in the previous 
year. The control issues arising at Board meetings are dealt with by the 
Board where appropriate following preparation by the remuneration commit-
tee or audit committee. In addition, the company’s auditors report directly at 
least once a year to the Board their observations from the review and their 
assessments of the company’s internal accounting control.

Besides the ongoing follow-up and monitoring of business, over the year 
the Board of Directors has dealt with strategies, expansion to new countries, 
capital structure and organisational issues.



28 Corporate governance reportPROACT Annual Report 2017

Composition of the Board and attendance at Board meetings, 2017

Board member
Remuneration 

committee Audit committee
Attendance at 

Board meetings

Anders Hultmark •  100%

Eva Elmstedt • • 100%

Pia Gideon • 100%

Martin Gren 100%

Christer Hellström • 100%

Christer Holmén  • 100%

Annikki Schaeferdiek • 83%

Board members’ independence in respect of Proact, Proact’s executive and major 
owners

Board member Function
Date of 

birth Nationality Elected Independent
Shareholding 
31 Dec 2017

Anders Hultmark Chairman 1954 Swedish 2005 Yes 2,610 1)

Eva Elmstedt Member 1960 Swedish 2009 Yes 2,500 

Martin Gren Member 1962 Swedish 2017 No 1,045,7782

Christer Holmén Member 1960 Swedish 2009 Yes 32,582 1)

Annikki Schaeferdiek Member 1969 Swedish 2017 Yes –

1) Holding via legal entity
2) Holding personally and via legal entity

Other information on Board members 
•  Anders Hultmark (Board work and contractor, experience from Kinnevik, 

Hilleshög, Mars Inc., TeknoTerm, et al.)  
Chairman at Proact IT Group AB, HMark Holding AB, Industrial Growth 
Company AB, Provexa Holding AB, Permanova AB and Pulsteknik AB. 
Member of the Board at IGC Growth Consulting AB, Provexa AB and  
Tetrafix AB.

•  Eva Elmstedt (Board work and investments, previous senior positions at 
companies including Nokia, Ericsson, 3 and IBM) 
Member of the Board at Addtech AB, Arjo AB, Axiell Group AB, Gunnebo 
Group AB, Knowit AB and Thule AB.

•  Martin Gren (founder of and advisor to Axis Communications AB) Chairman 
of Axis Communications AB. 
Member of Askero Sagoboks Förlag AB, AB Grenspecialisten and H. Lundén 
Holding AB.

•  Christer Holmén (Board work, CEO, CFO and professional advisor, primarily 
in the service industry) 
Member of the Board at Svenska Solenergiparker AB, the Brainheart Energy 
Sweden Group, his own family company group and Svenska Hus AB. 
Member of the Board at AB Gullringsbo Egendomar, Hemfridgruppen and 
Wangeskog Hyrcenter AB.

•  Annikki Schaeferdiek (own business and Board work, international expe-
rience of the IT/Telecoms industry) Member of Syster P AB and Formpipe 
Software AB.

Remuneration committee
The duty of the remuneration committee is to examine the principles for remu-
neration, including performance-based remuneration and pension terms for 
the company’s senior executives, and to give recommendations to the Board 
concerning these issues. Issues relating to the Managing Director’s terms of 
employment, remuneration and benefits are prepared by the remuneration 
committee and decided upon by the Board of Directors. This committee also 
discusses the general starting points for setting salary levels within the Group.

At the Annual General Meeting on 8 May 2018, the Board will present for 
the approval of the Board proposals for principles for remuneration and other 
terms of employment for the corporate executive.

More information on remuneration to the Chief Executive Officer and other 
corporate executive staff can be found in the annual report, Note 9.

The remuneration committee has held seven meetings over the year, as 
well as maintaining constant contact by telephone and e-mail.

Audit committee
The job of the audit committee is to prepare Board work on quality assurance 
of the company’s financial reporting. This committee maintains constant 
contact with the company’s external auditors in order to stay abreast of the 
focus and scope of the audit and discuss views on the company’s risks. 
Decisions by the Board are required for non-audit services from the selected 
auditor that exceed SEK 500 thousand of the budgeted audit fee. Total 
fees for non-audit services must not exceed 70 per cent of the budgeted 
audit fee. This committee is also tasked with providing its evaluation of the 
audit work to the nomination committee and with assisting the nomination 
committee with production of the nomination committee’s proposals to the 
Annual General Meeting concerning the election of auditors and the size of 
the audit fee.

The audit committee consists of three Board members. The Chairman 
of the audit committee prepares and convenes the meetings of the audit 
committee.

The audit committee has held four meetings over the year, as well as 
maintaining constant contact by telephone and e-mail.

External auditors
The Annual General Meeting which was held on 9 May 2017 elected the firm 
of auditors Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB (PwC), with Nicklas Kullberg 
as principal auditor, for the period up to the 2018 Annual General Meeting.

The auditors review the Board’s and the Managing Director’s management 
of the company and the quality of the company’s accounts documentation.

The auditors’ report on the results of their review to shareholders by 
means of the audit report, which is presented at the Annual General Meeting. 
In addition, the auditors submit detailed reports at the meetings of the audit 
committee with the committee and to the Board of Directors at least once a 
year.

The company’s half-yearly and nine-monthly reports have not been 
reviewed by the auditors. This is a deviation from the recommendation in the 
Swedish Code of Corporate Governance. The Board is of the opinion that any 
such review on the basis of a cost perspective is not necessary, given the 
company’s degree of complexity and business risks.

PwC performs certain services for Proact in addition to audits. When  
PwC is engaged to provide services other than auditing, this takes place in 
accordance with the rules decided upon by the audit committee for approval 
of the nature and scope of the services and remuneration for the same. 
 Proact is of the opinion that execution of these services is within the guide-
lines and has not impacted upon PwC’s independence.

Further information on remuneration to the auditors can be found in the 
annual report, Note 8.

Chief Executive Officer and Group executive
Peter Javestad, born in 1974, is the acting Chief Executive Officer and Pres-
ident of Proact IT Group AB since 1 February 2018. He has been employed 
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by the company since 1998. Peter Javestad has been a member of the 
Group executive since 2004 and has held senior positions such as Regional 
Manager, Vice President Services and Vice President Sales and Marketing. 
Peter Javestad owned 3,850 shares in the company as at 31 December 
2017. Peter Javestad has no significant shareholdings or co-ownership in 
companies with which Proact has significant business relationships.

The Chief Executive Officer manages operations in accordance with the 
instructions of the Board of Directors and the approved distribution of work 
between the Board and the Chief Executive Officer. The Managing Director is 
responsible for keeping the Board informed and for ensuring that the Board 
is provided with the requisite decision data. The Managing Director presents 
reports to the Board but is not a Board member. This is in accordance with 
applicable policy, in which either the Managing Director or another senior ex-
ecutive must be a Board member in the parent company. In ongoing contact, 
the Managing Director keeps the Chairman informed of the development and 
financial position of the company and the Group besides providing periodic 
reporting.

The Managing Director and other members of the corporate executive 
hold regular meetings in order to review results development, update fore-
casts and plans, and make decisions on various issues.

As at 31 December 2017, Proact’s Group executive consisted of the Chief 
Executive Officer and ten other senior executives. 

The subsidiaries running operations report to the relevant Business Unit 
Directors, who in turn report directly to the Managing Director. Reporting 
takes place on a monthly basis, with more in-depth quarterly reviews of the 
operations in question. The Boards of Directors of the subsidiaries principally 
consist of members of Proact’s Group executive. The Chairman positions at 
the subsidiaries are held either by the Managing Director of Proact IT Group 
AB or by the relevant Business Unit Directors. 

 
Remuneration to senior executives
The Annual General Meeting held on 9 May 2017 assumed principles con-
cerning remuneration to senior executives, which means that remuneration 
must be made up of a set salary, variable remuneration, other customary 
benefits and pension. Total remuneration to officers must be in line with 
market conditions and competitive on the labour market on which the 
officer is active, and significant performance must be reflected in the total 
remuneration.

The set salary and variable remuneration must be related to the responsi-
bilities and authorisations of the officials. The total variable remuneration for 
all senior executives must be maximised (to an amount corresponding, on 
average, to eight monthly salaries), based on results in relation to targets set, 
and coincide with the interests of shareholders.

Provision of information
Proact strives to maintain communication with its shareholders and other 
stakeholders which is correct, clear, factual, reliable and quick. It must also 
be characterised by openness. 

Proact regularly publishes interim reports and annual reports in Swedish 
and English. Events which are deemed to affect rates are published as 
press releases. The Proact website also includes a wide range of company 
information which is updated regularly.

In addition, Proact communicates with the capital market and the media by 
means of meetings with analysts and journalists in connection with the pub-
lication of the interim reports and annual reports. Representatives of  Proact 
also take part regularly in various meetings of shareholders and analysts.

The Board’s report on internal inspection

Inspection environment
Internal controls at Proact are based on a control environment which 
includes organisation, decision paths, authorisations and responsibilities. 
This is documented and communicated in steering documentation such as 
internal policies, guidelines and instructions. For example, this is applicable 
to the distribution of work between the Board of Directors and the Chief 
Executive Officer, and between the various units within the organisation, and 
also via instructions for rights of authorisation, accounting and reporting, etc. 
The Board follows up to ensure compliance with set principles for financial 
reporting and internal controls, and also maintains the appropriate relation-
ships with the company’s auditors. 

The corporate executive reports to the Board based on established proce-
dures. The corporate executive is responsible for the system of internal con-
trols which is required for handling significant risks in ongoing operations. 
For example, guidelines and instructions for various officials are compiled in 
order to reinforce understanding and the importance of their respective roles, 
and hence also to contribute towards good internal control. 

 
Risk assessment and inspection activities
The Board holds overall responsibility for risk management. Clear organisa-
tion and decision-making arrangements aim to create good awareness of 
risks among employees and well considered risk-taking. The risk assessment 
includes identification, charting and assessment of risks at all levels within 
the Group. Activities and reporting take place regularly in order to maintain 
good internal control, and hence to prevent and detect risks. 

Information and communication
Essential guidelines and manuals – such as the finance manual and financial 
policy – that affect financial reporting are updated and communicated 
regularly to the relevant personnel within the Group. There are both formal 
and informal information channels for the corporate executive and Board 
for essential information from employees. For external communication, the 
company complies with the governing rules discussed previously.

Follow-up
The Board receives monthly financial statements, as well as non-conform-
ance reports relating to the company’s profit and position. Extraordinary 
incidents and emerging risks are also reported each month. The Board 
regularly evaluates the information submitted by the corporate executive. The 
work of the Board also includes ensuring that measures are implemented 
with regard to any shortcomings and proposals for measures which have 
arisen during external audits. Given the size of the company, there is no 
separate department for internal audits. Instead, this work is carried out from 
the Group finance function. The outcome is reported to the CEO, the CFO 
and the Board of Directors.
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Board of Directors
Name/Position

Date of 
birth Elected Training Experience Other directorships

Number of 
shares

Anders Hultmark 
Chairman 1954 2005

Graduate in Business 
Administration and LL.B. at 
Uppsala University and 
Stockholm University, plus IFL 
management training

Kinnevik, Hilleshög, Mars Inc., 
TeknoTerm, et al.

Chairman: HMark Holding AB, Industrial 
Growth Company AB, Provexa Holding AB, 
Permanova AB and Pulsteknik AB
Director: IGC Growth Consulting AB, Provexa 
AB and Tetrafix AB 2,610

Eva Elmstedt 
Member 1960 2009

BSc from Indiana University of 
Pennsylvania and Stockholm 
School of Economics

Board work and investments, 
senior positions at companies 
including Nokia, Ericsson, 3 and 
IBM

Director: Addtech AB, Arjo AB, Axiell Group AB, 
Gunnebo Group AB, Knowit AB and Thule AB 2,500

Martin Gren 
Member 1962 2017

Honorary doctorate in entrepre-
neurship from Lund University 
of Technology

Founder of and advisor to Axis 
Communications AB

Chairman: Axis Communications AB 
Member: Askero Sagoboks Förlag AB, 
AB Grenspecialisten and H. Lundén 
Holding AB 1,045,778

Christer Holmén 
Member 1960 2009 Dr. Econ.

Board work, CEO, CFO and pro-
fessional advisor, primarily in the 
service industry

Chairman: Svenska Solenergiparker AB, the 
Brainheart Energy Sweden Group, his own 
family company group and Svenska Hus AB.
Director: AB Gullringsbo Egendomar, 
Hemfridgruppen and Wangeskog Hyrcenter AB 32,582

Annikki 
Schaeferdiek 
Member 1969 2017

MSc from the Institute of 
Technology at Linköping 
University 

Board work, international experi-
ence of the IT/telecoms industry, 
CEO of Netwise, business area 
manager at an Ericsson mult-
media unit, founder of Syster P Director: Syster P and Formpipe Software AB 0

Christer Holmén, Annikki Schaeferdiek, Eva Elmstedt, Martin Gren, Anders Hultmark
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Management

Jakob Høholdt (Vice President, Corporate Strate-
gy and Efficiency)
Born: 1969
Employed since: 2002
Number of shares: 10,905

Arne Kungberg (Business Unit Director East)
Born: 1963
Employed since: 1995
Number of shares: 7,051

Jonas Persson (Chief Financial Officer)
Born: 1972
Employed since: 1998
Number of shares: 8,050

Sander Dekker (Business Unit Director West)
Born: 1978
Employed since: 2007
Number of shares: 0

Peter Javestad (Acting CEO and President)
Born: 1974
Employed since: 1998
Number of shares: 3,850

Tomas Vikholm (Vice President, Customer 
Support)
Born: 1971
Employed since: 2001
Number of shares: 0

Eirik Pedersen (Business Unit Director Nordics)
Born: 1964
Employed since: 2008
Number of shares: 0

Petra Tesch (Chief Information Officer)
Born: 1963
Employed since: 2015
Number of shares: 1,000

Maarten van Unen (Vice President Sales and 
Marketing)
Born: 1979
Employed since: 2008
Number of shares: 0

Paul Bates (Vice President Managed Cloud 
Services)
Born: 1975
Employed since: 2008
Number of shares: 0



32 Financial statements, Group and Parent companyPROACT Annual Report 2017

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Amounts in SEK 000 Note 2017 2016

1

System revenues 2,148,668 1,896,286

Service revenues 1,104,503 1,022,966

Other revenues 5,097 2,435

Total revenues 2.3 3,258,268 2,921,687

Cost of goods and services sold 5,6,7,9,13,14,19 –2,502,309 –2,214,236

Gross profit 5.28 755,959 707,451

Sales and marketing expenses 9.13 –374,437 –362,826

Administration expenses 5,6,8,9,13 –224,579 –207,428

Operating profit 7,8,13,14,27 156,943 137,197

Financial income 10 6,984 4,759

Financial expenses 11 –11,435 –8,268

Profit before tax 14 152,492 133,688

Income tax 12 –37,469 –36,979

Profit for the year 115,023 96,709

Other comprehensive income

Items that can be transferred to profit/loss for the year

Hedging of net investment in foreign operations 196 –948

Tax effect of hedging of net investment in foreign operations –43 209

Translation differences –146 9,703

Total items that can be transferred to profit/loss for the year,  
after tax 7 8,964

Total comprehensive income for the year 115,030 105,673

Profit/loss for the year attributable to:

Parent Company’s shareholders 114,214 95,396

Non-controlling interests 17 809 1,313

115,023 96,709

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Parent Company’s shareholders 117,410 104,713

Non-controlling interests –2,380 960

115,030 105,673

Earnings per share

Earnings per share for profit/loss attributable to 

the parent company’s shareholders, SEK1) 31 12.33 10.32

Weighted average number of outstanding shares 9,263,247 9,247,583

1)  The company has no outstanding instruments which may involve dilution.



33Financial statements, Group and Parent company Annual Report 2017 PROACT

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Amounts in SEK 000 Note 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

1

ASSETS

FIXED ASSETS

Goodwill 5.15 385,022 322,230

Other intangible assets 5.15 99,373 108,795

Tangible fixed assets 5.16 62,580 55,224

Other long-term receivables 18,21,27 84,554 65,852

Deferred tax receivables 12 17,245 15,241

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 648,774 567,342

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 19 37,440 43,587

Accounts receivable 14.20 575,525 654,410

Current tax receivables 1,778 3,545

Other receivables 49,535 40,085

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 21 298,570 283,354

Cash and cash equivalents 26 220,373 214,444

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,183,221 1,239,425

TOTAL ASSETS 1,831,995 1,806,767

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY 30

Equity pertaining to the parent company’s shareholders

Share capital (9,333,886 shares, quotient value 1.14) 10,619 10,619

Other capital contributions 297,964 297,964

Other reserves –2,614 –5,810

Retained earnings including profit/loss for the year 81,231 24,595

Equity pertaining to the parent company’s shareholders 387,200 327,368

Equity pertaining to non-controlling interests 17 3,561 5,195

TOTAL EQUITY 390,761 332,563

LIABILITIES

Long-term liabilities

Bank loans 24 87,250 114,197

Other long-term liabilities 23,24,27 52,854 47,459

Deferred tax liabilities 12 23,152 21,924

Long-term liabilities, total 163,256 183,580

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 14 509,797 556,117

Current tax liabilities 14,841 22,847

Bank loans 24 46,848 79,384

Other liabilities 22.24 133,710 66,396

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 23 572,782 565,880

Current liabilities, total 1,277,978 1,290,624

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,441,234 1,474,204

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,831,995 1,806,767
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Attributable to the parent company’s shareholders

Amounts in SEK 000 Note 30 Share capital
Other capital 
contributions

Hedging of net 
investment in 

foreign  
operations

Translation of 
foreign  

subsidiaries

Retained 
earnings, inc. 
profit/loss for 

the year Total

Attributable to 
non-controlling 

interests

Total share-
holders' 

equity

Opening balance at 1 January 2016 10,619 297,964 –1,310 –13,817 12,043 305,499 11,266 316,765

Profit for the year – – – – 95,396 95,396 1,313 96,709

Other comprehensive income – – –739 10,056 – 9,317 –353 8,964

Total comprehensive income for the year – – –739 10,056 95,396 104,713 960 105,673

Transactions with shareholders

Dividends to non-controlling interests – – – – – – –833 –833

Dividends – – – – –25,093 –25,093 – –25,093

Buy-back of own shares – – – – –21,510 –21,510 – –21,510

Acquisitions from non-controlling interests – – – – –36,208 –36,208 –6,198 –42,406

Change of fair value of financial liability to 
non-controlling interests – – – – –33 –33 – –33

Share of profit among non-controlling interests – – – – 186 186 –186 –

Translation of share of profit among non-con-
trolling interests – – – – –186 –186 186 –

Total transactions with shareholders – – – – –82,844 –82,844 –7,031 –89,875

Closing balance as at 31 December 2016 10,619 297,964 –2,049 –3,761 24,595 327,368 5,195 332,563

Opening balance as at 1 January 2017 10,619 297,964 –2,049 –3,761 24,595 327,368 5,195 332,563

Profit for the year – – – – 114,214 114,214 809 115,023

Other comprehensive income – – 153 3,043 – 3,196 –3,189 7

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 153 3,043 114,214 117,410 –2,380 115,030

Transactions with shareholders

Dividends to non-controlling interests – – – – – – –1,267 –1,267

Dividends – – – – –32,393 –32,393 – –32,393

Buy-back of own shares – – – – –24,909 –24,909 – –24,909

Own shares used during acquisitions – – – – 27,364 27,364 – 27,364

Acquisitions from non-controlling interests – – – – –1,600 –1,600 –362 –1,962

Adjustment of previous year’s acquisitions from 
non-controlling interests – – – – 225 225 2,375 2,600

Change of fair value of financial liability to 
non-controlling interests – – – – –26,265 –26,265 – –26,265

Share of profit among non-controlling interests – – – – 3,274 3,274 –3,274 –

Translation of share of profit among non-con-
trolling interests – – – – –3,274 –3,274 3,274 –

Total transactions with shareholders – – – – –57,578 –57,578 746 –56,832

Closing balance as at 31 December 2017 10,619 297,964 –1,896 –718 81,231 387,200 3,561 390,761
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Consolidated cash flow statement

Amounts in SEK 000 Note 2017 2016

26

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS FOR THE YEAR

Income for the year 115,023 96,709

Adjustment for items not affecting cash flow:

 Depreciation and impairments of fixed assets 5,15,16 63,256 54,231

 Financial leasing 27 34,655 28,696

 Other financial items 1,819 3,561

 Other adjustments –2,496 808

 Changes in provisions 2,370 –273

 Income tax 1) 12 –26,583 –10,790

Cash flow from operating activities before changes  
in working capital 188,044 172,942

Cash flow from changes in working capital

 Inventories 8,645 –30,706

 Operating receivables 135,306 –82,318

 Operating liabilities –91,039 94,406

Cash flow from current operations 240,956 154,324

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of businesses 17.32 –35,441 –1,654

Capital expenditure on tangible fixed assets 16 –87,062 –47,611

Disposals of tangible fixed assets 16 8,247 1,024

Investments in intangible fixed assets 15 –4,687 –11,047

Decrease, long-term receivables 18 442 –

Increase, long-term receivables 18 –369 –2,386

Cash flow from investment activities –118,870 –61,674

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions from non-controlling interests 26 –1,962 –42,406

Dividends to non-controlling interests 17 –1,267 –833

Dividends –32,393 –25,093

Buy-back of own shares –24,909 –21,510

Contract borrowing –30,057 7,912

Change in bank overdraft facilities –26,152 25,085

Borrowing 45,132 112,394

Repaid loans –46,275 –109,916

Increase, total other financial liabilities 231 3,800

Decrease, total other financial liabilities –2,278 –331

Other cash flow from financing activities –1,134 372

Cash flow from financing activities –121,064 –50,526

CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR 1,022 42,124

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 214,444 158,785

Translation difference in cash and cash equivalents 4,907 13,535

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT YEAR-END 220,373 214,444

1)  Income tax SEK 37,469 (36,979) thousand, tax paid SEK 64,052 (47,769) thousand. Net adjustment for items that do not affect cash flow 
and paid tax SEK –26,583 (–10,790) thousand.
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Income statement, parent company

Statement of comprehensive income, parent company

Amounts in SEK 000 Note 2017 2016

Revenues 4.14 96,613 79,068

Gross profit 4 96,613 79,068

Administration expenses 5.9 –97,480 –94,158

Operating profit 9 –867 –15,090

Financial income 10 119,610 38,842

Financial expenses 11 –22,198 –32,167

Profit before tax and appropriations 14 96,545 –8,415

Group contribution – 15,890

Profit before tax 14 96,545 7,475

Income tax 12 96 13

Profit for the year 96,641 7,488

Amounts in SEK 000 2017 2016

Profit for the year 96,641 7,488

Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income for the year 96,641 7,488
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Balance sheet, parent company

Amounts in SEK 000 Note 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

ASSETS

FIXED ASSETS

Intangible fixed assets 5.15 16,694 18,620

Tangible fixed assets 5.16 942 602

Shares in Group companies 17 488,115 464,006

Current receivables from Group companies 181,227 157,502

Other long-term receivables 301 1,607

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 687,279 642,337

CURRENT ASSETS

Current tax receivables 1,488 –

Current receivables from Group companies 18 92,065 122,330

Other receivables 2,336 1,471

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 21 8,571 8,990

Cash and cash equivalents 26 – –

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 104,460 132,791

TOTAL ASSETS 791,739 775,128

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY 30

Restricted equity  

Share capital (9,333,886 shares, quotient value 1.14) 10,619 10,619

Statutory reserve 28,236 28,236

Capitalised development costs 12,073 8,071

Total restricted equity 50,928 46,926

Non-restricted equity

Retained earnings 141,621 168,073

Profit for the year 96,641 7,488

Total non-restricted equity 238,262 175,561

TOTAL EQUITY 289,190 222,487

LIABILITIES

Long-term liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions 24 85,418 100,715

Liabilities to Group companies 18 11,105 11,179

Deferred tax liabilities 12 392 488

Long-term liabilities, total 96,915 112,382

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 7,175 6,803

Liabilities to Group companies 18.26 339,993 384,736

Liabilities to credit institutions 24 45,000 30,000

Other liabilities 22,24,32 3,858 5,327

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 23 9,608 13,393

Current liabilities, total 405,634 440,259

TOTAL LIABILITIES 502,549 552,641

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 791,739 775,128
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Amounts in SEK 000 Note 30 Number of shares Share capital Statutory reserve

Capitalised 
development 

costs
Retained earn-

ings Profit for the year Total equity

Closing balance as at 31 December 
2015 9,333,886 10,619 28,236 – 200,112 22,635 261,602

Transfer of previous year’s profit – – – 22,635 –22,635 –

Dividends – – – –25,093 – –25,093

Reversal of capitalised development 
costs – – 8,071 –8,071 – –

Buy-back of own shares – – – –21,510 – –21,510

Profit for the year – – – – 7,488 7,488

Closing balance as at 31 December 
2016 9,333,886 10,619 28,236 8,071 168,073 7,488 222,487

Transfer of previous year’s profit – – – 7,488 –7,488 –

Dividends – – – –32,393 – –32,393

Reversal of capitalised development 
costs – – 4,002 –4,002 – –

Buy-back of own shares – – – –24,909 – –24,909

Own shares used during acquisitions – – – 27,364 – 27,364

Profit for the year – – – – 96,641 96,641

Closing balance as at 31 December 
2017 9,333,886 10,619 28,236 12,073 141,621 96,641 289,190

Statement of changes in equity, parent company



39Financial statements, Group and Parent company Annual Report 2017 PROACT

Cash flow statement, parent company

Amounts in SEK 000 Note 2017 2016

26

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS FOR THE YEAR

Income for the year 96,641 7,488

Adjustment for items not affecting cash flow:

 Depreciation and impairments of fixed assets 5,15,16 6,886 5,726

 Impairment of shares in subsidiaries 17 16,444 26,033

 Other financial items –1,684 –6,257

 Other adjustments –2 –

 Income tax 1) 12 –916 –1,864

Cash flow from operating activities before changes  
in working capital 117,369 31,126

Cash flow from changes in working capital:

 Operating receivables 57,837 –30,775

 Operating liabilities –49,625 77,161

Cash flow from current operations 125,581 77,512

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of subsidiaries 17.32 –38,591 –15,996

Acquisitions from non-controlling interests 26 –1,962 –42,407

Capital expenditure on tangible fixed assets 16 –720 –741

Disposals of tangible fixed assets 16 11 –

Investments in intangible fixed assets 15 –4,589 –9,039

Changes in long-term receivables 18 –22,354 34,851

Cash flow from investment activities –68,205 –33,332

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends –32,393 –25,093

Buy-back of own shares –24,909 –21,510

Borrowing 45,000 112,197

Repaid loans –45,000 –108,574

Other cash flow from financing activities –74 –1,200

Cash flow from financing activities –57,376 –44,180

CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR – –

Liquid funds at start of year – –

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT YEAR-END – –

1)  Income tax SEK –96 (–13) thousand, tax paid SEK 820 (1,851) thousand. Net adjustment for items that do not affect cash flow and paid 
tax SEK –916 (–1,864) thousand. 



40 NotesPROACT Annual Report 2017

Notes to the accounts

Note 1  Accounting policies 

Corporate information
The consolidated accounts and annual report relating to the 2017 financial 
year for Proact IT Group AB have been prepared by the Board of Directors 
and Chief Executive Officer, who on 28 March 2018 have approved this 
annual report and these consolidated accounts for publication. The annual 
report and consolidated accounts will be submitted to the Annual General 
Meeting on 8 May 2018 for approval and adoption. The parent company is 
a Swedish limited company (publ) listed on Nasdaq Stockholm and based 
in Stockholm, Sweden. The primary operations of the Group involve offering 
specialist skills in the field of storage and archiving of large volumes of 
business-critical information.

General accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accord-
ance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) published by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and interpretation 
pronouncements from the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) as assumed by the EU. In addition, Swedish Financial 
Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 1 Supplementary accounting rules 
for groups has been applied.

The annual financial statements for Proact IT Group AB have been 
compiled in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish 
Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 2 (Accounting for Legal 
Entities). Differences between the parent company’s and the Group’s applied 
accounting policies stem from the limited opportunities for applying IFRS to 
the parent company as a consequence of the Annual Accounts Act, and in 
some cases because of applicable tax regulations. 

Significant differences between the Group’s and parent company’s 
accounting policies
The parent company is compliant with the same accounting policies as the 
Group, with the following exceptions. Shares in subsidiaries are reported in 
the parent company in accordance with the cost method. There may also be 
Group contributions within the parent company which are reported as ap-
propriations at the parent company. As of the 2016 financial year, the parent 
company is setting aside capitalised development costs relating to software 
to the Fund for development costs within restricted equity. This fund is being 
reduced with depreciation on these capitalised development costs. The 
parent company reports all leasing as operational leasing.

Uncertain assessments and estimates
The balance sheet includes uncertainty in assessment and estimates, 
primarily in the items goodwill and deferred tax receivables attributable to 
loss carryforwards.

As regards goodwill and intellectual property rights, the impairment test 
is based on assumptions on the future on the basis of circumstances which 
are known at the time of testing. When calculating utilisation value of assets 
assumptions are made about future earnings evolution. Future earnings may 
not accord with the assumptions made if conditions in the market change 
without the company executive adapting the organisation and business in 
accordance with the changed market conditions; in which case future earn-
ings may be worse and thus the need for major adjustments to recorded 
amounts may arise. More information on impairment testing can be found in 
Note 15.

Fiscal deficits are capitalised insofar as they are deemed to be potentially 
usable against future tax profits on the basis of assumptions on future profit 
development. See Note 12 for further information.

Changes to accounting policies and information
The Group applies the same accounting policies as those described in the 
annual report for 2016, with the following exceptions due to new or revised 
standards, interpretations and improvements which have been endorsed by 
the EU and are to be applied as of 1 January 2017. 

Changes to accounting policies
No new IFRS standards have come into force in 2017. That said, a number 
of minor amendments have been made for the financial year commencing 
on or after 1 January 2017 within the scope of Annual Improvements to 
IFRSs 2014-2016. The project involves changes that affect three standards. 
These are IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards”, IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” and IAS 28 
“Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”. For Proact, these amend-
ments have had no effect on the financial statements. 

Two amendments have come into force regarding IAS 7 Statement of 
Cash Flows and IAS 12 Income Taxes as of 1 January 2017. IAS 7 has been 
amended and involves extended disclosure requirements with regard to 
changes in liabilities originating from financing activities. These amendments 
will only affect the presentation of changes in liabilities related to Group 
finance. The amendment to IAS 12 aims to clarify how deferred tax is to 
be reported when holdings of debt instruments are valued at fair value, as 
well as when any restrictions on opportunities to utilise tax losses are to be 
observed when establishing deferred tax receivables. This amendment is not 
expected to have any impact on the financial statements.
 
2018 and ahead
A number of new or amended IFRSs will come into force during the financial 
year to come and have not been applied early on compilation of these finan-
cial statements. Below are descriptions of the IFRSs which are expected to 
impact upon or may impact upon the Group’s financial statements. Besides 
the IFRSs described below, other new features which IASB has approved 
as at 31 December 2017 are not expected to impact in any way upon the 
Group’s financial statements, given the structure of the Group and transac-
tions entered into as at 31 December 2017.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will come into force for financial years com-
mencing on or after 1 January 2018 and will then replace IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 requires financial assets 
to be classified in three different valuation categories; accrued acquisition 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income or fair value through 
profit or loss. Classification is established on first recognition on the basis 
of the properties of the asset and the company’s business model. For 
financial liabilities, there will be no major changes compared with IAS 39. 
The greatest change relates to liabilities recognised at fair value. For these, 
the element of the fair value change attributable to the party’s own credit 
risk must be recognised in other comprehensive income instead of profit 
and loss, unless this causes inconsistency in the accounts. The standard is 
to be applied retroactively in accordance with IAS 8, with some exceptions. 
IFRS 9 will be applied as of 1 January 2018, which means that the opening 
balances as at 1 January 2018 will be adjusted without translation of 
previous periods. As far as Proact is concerned, the primary impact of this 
new standard will relate to a partly new process in respect of credit losses 
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Note 1 – Continued

which is based on anticipated credit losses instead of actual credit losses. 
Proact has applied this transition prospectively and has taken into account 
historical customer losses over an economic cycle, and is thus able to state 
that the new standard will not affect the consolidated accounts by significant 
amounts.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers will come into force 
for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018. This standard 
will replace all previously published standards and interpretations relating 
to revenues. IFRS 15 includes a collective model for revenue recognition in 
respect of customer contracts. The idea is for everything to commence from 
a contract concerning the sale of a product or service between two parties. 
A customer contract must be identified initially which generates an asset 
(rights, a promise of obtaining remuneration) and a liability (commitment, a 
promise to transfer goods/services) for the vendor. The company will then 
report a revenue according to the model and thereby demonstrate that the 
company is meeting a commitment to supply promised goods or services to 
the customer. This standard is to be applied retroactively. “IFRS 15 Revenues 
from Contracts with Customers” will be applied for the financial year com-
mencing 1 January 2018. This standard is policy-based and specifies how 
and when revenues are to be reported, as well as requiring more detailed 
information on the company’s revenue streams. Proact will be applying as of 
1 January 2018 with full retroactive effect, and also adjusting comparative 
figures with application of the relief rules. 

The analysis of the effects of IFRS 15 has been completed in the fourth 
quarter, and Proact has concluded that the new standard will involve a 
change in revenue reporting for its cloud service business with regard 
to revenues and expenses in connection with installation prior to start of 
contract and in respect of “expenses for obtaining customer contracts”, 
which in Proact’s case relates only to sales bonuses. For the cloud service 
business, the difference is that installation and supply of the cloud service 
were previously handled as two separate performance commitments, but 
now they are deemed to be one performance commitment. The result of 
this in the financial statements is that revenues and expenses linked with 
installation prior to start of contract will be distributed over the term of the 
contract. Sales bonuses that were previously charged to income on conclu-
sion of contracts will be capitalised and charged to income over the period 
that Proact estimates the customer will remain with Proact.

Historically, the Group has taken up product sales as income and charged 
them to income, as well as the element of product sales relating to supplier 
support at the time of sale. As a result of the analysis performed in relation 
to IFRS 15, the Group has decided to distribute revenues and expenses for 
that part of product sales relating to supplier support over the term of the 
contract as of 2018.

Amounts in SEK millions Jan-Dec 2017

IFRS 15 
Revenue from 
Contracts with 

Customers Jan-Dec 2017

System revenues 2,149 –16 2,133

Service revenues 1,105 1 1,106

Other revenues 5 – 5

Total revenues 3,258 –15 3,243

Cost of goods and services sold –2,502 11 –2,491

Gross profit 756 –4 752

Sales and marketing expenses –374 2 –372

Administration expenses –225 – –225

Operating profit/loss, EBIT 157 –1 156

Net financial items –4 – –4

Profit before tax 152 –1 151

Income tax –37 0 –37

Comprehensive income for the period 115 –1 114

Amounts in SEK millions 31/12/2017

IFRS 15 
Revenue from 
Contracts with 

Customers 31/12/2017

Assets 1,832 109 1,941

Total assets 1,832 109 1,941

Equity – Effect on OB equity, 2017 – –5 –5

Equity – Effect on comprehensive 
income, 2017 391 –1 390

Liabilities 1,441 116 1,557

Total Equity and Liabilities 1,832 109 1,941

IFRS 16 Leases will come into force for financial years commencing on 1 
January 2019, but companies are allowed to start applying it when they 
start applying IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. IFRS 16 
replaces IAS 17 and associated interpretations such as IFRIC 4, and its 
objective is to clarify reporting and the financial effects for both lessors and 
lessees. The main change is that there is no distinction between operational 
and financial leasing for lessors, with the implication that companies must 
report all leasing contracts as financial. For lessees, the standard is based 
on the existing IAS 17 and the changes comprise clarifications, as well as 
amendments to disclosure requirements. Proact is currently evaluating the 
effect that IFRS 16 will have on the consolidated financial reports. The Group 
has commitments under non-cancellable leases amounting to SEK 152 
million as at the balance sheet date; see also Note 27. We are expecting an 
effect as the operational leases will be capitalised in the balance sheet. The 
company has no intention of applying IFRS 16 prior to the effective date as 
specified in the standard.

Consolidated accounts
Scope of the Group
The Group includes Proact IT Group AB and all companies over which the 
parent company has a controlling influence. The Group checks a company 
when it is entitled to a variable return from its holding in the company and 
has the opportunity to influence this return through its influence within the 
company, which normally means that the parent company owns more than 
50 per cent of votes for all shares and participations. 

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the day on which controlling influence passes to the Group. They are excluded 
from the consolidated financial statements from the day on which the 
controlling influence ceases. 

Internal Group transactions, balance sheet items, revenues and expenses 
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Profit or loss 
arising from intra-group transactions and that are recorded as assets are 
also eliminated. The accounting policies for subsidiaries have been amended 
where necessary in order to guarantee consistent application of the Group’s 
principles.

 
The purchase method
The purchase method is used to report on the Group’s operating acqui-
sitions. The purchase price for the acquisition of a subsidiary is made up 
of the fair value of transferred assets, liabilities and the shares issued by 
the Group. The purchase price also includes the fair value of all assets or 
liabilities which are a consequence of a contract on a contingent purchase 
price. Acquisition-related expenses are reported in the income statement 
when they arise. Identifiable acquired assets and transferred liabilities in a 
business combination are initially valued at fair value on the acquisition date. 
For every acquisition, the Group decides whether all non-controlling interests 
in the acquired company are reported at fair value or at the proportional 
percentage of the net assets of the acquired company.
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Note 1 – Continued

The amount by which the purchase price, any holding without a 
controlling influence and the fair value on the acquisition date of earlier 
shareholdings exceeds the fair value of the Group’s share of identifiable 
acquired net assets is reported as goodwill. If this amount falls below the fair 
value for the assets of the acquired subsidiary, in the event of what is known 
as a “bargain purchase”, the difference is reported directly in the statement 
of comprehensive income.

Translation of foreign subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Swedish kronor 
(SEK), which is the parent company’s functional currency. 

Income statement and balance sheet items, including goodwill, of com-
panies with functional currencies other than SEK are translated into SEK. 
As a result, assets and liabilities are translated at the rate on the balance 
sheet date and the income statement items at the average rate over the 
period. Translation differences are presented as a separate item under Other 
comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive income  When 
investments are divested, the previous translation differences are recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income as part of capital gains.

Transactions and balance sheet items in a currency other than the func-
tional currency are translated in each operation to the functional currency 
using the average exchange rate for transactions for the period and the 
exchange rate as at the balance sheet date for balance sheet items.

Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests comprise the part of subsidiary results and net 
assets which are not directly or indirectly owned by the parent company.  
The Group handles transactions with non-controlling interests as trans-
actions with the Group’s shareholders. In the case of acquisitions from 
non-controlling interests, the difference between the purchase price paid 
and the current acquired share of the book book value of the subsidiary’s 
net assets is recognised against equity. Profits and losses on divestments to 
non-controlling interests are also recognised against equity.

In 2010, Proact signed a contract concerning the purchase of 60 per cent 
of Storyflex Inc. The business is being run under the name Proact Czech 
Republic, s.r.o. The parties have entered into a contract which means that 
Proact has the opportunity/an obligation to acquire the remaining share 
within three to seven years of the time of acquisition. A further 20 per cent 
was acquired in 2013, along with a further 6 per cent in 2014. The calcu-
lated value of the selling options assigned to owners without a controlling 
influence will be reported as a financial liability in the consolidated balance 
sheet This means that no share without a controlling influence will be recog-
nised. Any change in the fair value of the financial liability will be recognised 
in equity.

In 2015, Proact acquired 51 per cent of shares in a new company, 
Proact VX B.V., with an acquired part of the business from the company 
VX  Consultancy B.V. A further 1 per cent was acquired in 2017. There is a 
contract between Proact and the parties now owning a total of 48 per cent 
of shares in the company which means that Proact has the opportunity/ 
obligation to acquire the remaining shares within three to five years of the 
acquisition time. The calculated value of the selling options assigned to 
owners without a controlling influence will be reported as a financial liability 
in the consolidated balance sheet This means that no share without a 
controlling influence will be recognised.
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Financial year 2017 Nordics UK West East Proact Finance Groupwide Eliminations Group

External revenues 1,576,512 555,855 894,166 131,075 100,660 – – 3,258,268

Internal revenues 66,844 – 37,786 2,749 289 130,309 –237,977 –

Total revenues 1,643,356 555,855 931,952 133,824 100,949 130,309 –237,977 3,258,268

Profit before tax 96,518 20,726 22,927 7,159 5,738 –576 – 152,492

Tax –37,469

Profit/loss for the year 115,023

Financial year 2016 Nordics UK West East Proact Finance Groupwide Eliminations Group

External revenues 1,580,219 634,533 490,348 146,238 70,350 –1 – 2,921,687

Internal revenues 65,028 242 18,247 2,860 2,769 120,520 –209,666 –

Total revenues 1,645,247 634,775 508,595 149,098 73,119 120,519 –209,666 2,921,687

Profit before tax and items affecting 
comparability 102,622 21,572 10,154 10,133 7,604 –12,566 – 139,519

Items affecting comparability 1) – – –112 – – –5,719 – –5,831

Profit before tax 102,622 21,572 10,042 10,133 7,604 –18,285 – 133,688

Tax –36,979

Profit/loss for the year 96,709

1) This item is not presented in accordance with IFRS, but as it is included in internal reporting the company has opted to include it in the presentation above, see also Note 13.

The information below is presented from an executive perspective, which means that it is 
presented in the manner applied in internal reporting.

Reportable segments are identified on the basis of internal reporting to the highest 
executive decision-maker. The Group has identified the Managing Director as its highest 
executive decision-maker. 

The business units are as follows:
Nordics: Sweden, Norway, Finland, USA and Denmark

UK: United Kingdom

East: Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Czech Republic and Slovakia

West: Netherlands, Belgium, Spain and Germany

Proact Finance: Proact’s finance company under its own auspices is reported separately as this company supports all geographical regions.

Geographical information 2017 2016

External revenues 1)

Sweden 987,012 909,955

United Kingdom 555,855 634,533

The Netherlands 458,936 417,226

Other countries 1,256,465 959,973

Total 3,258,268 2,921,687

1)  These revenues are attributable to the geography in question, based on the country in 
which the company is located. There is no other information, e.g. on whether the com-
pany has sales to customers in other countries.

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Intangible and tangible fixed assets
Sweden 114,756 119,829

United Kingdom 191,252 202,592

The Netherlands 100,486 107,398

Other countries 140,481 56,430

Total 546,975 486,249

The company manages and reports on results by operating segment, known as Business 
Units (BUs). Transactions between units take place under market conditions. 

Total assets/liabilities per segment are not reported to the highest executive decision-
maker. The same range of products and services is offered within each BU, with the excep-
tion of Proact Finance.

Note 2  Reporting by segment
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Note 3  Revenues per sector

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue recognition
The Group’s income mainly comes from the sale and installation of hardware and software, 
maintenance and support services and independent IT consultancy services. 

Sales in the form of what are known as composite customer contracts, which may 
include hardware, software and service in a single contract, are common in the Group’s 
business. In contracts of this type, total revenues are distributed to the various parts of the 
transaction on the basis of their relative fair values. The revenue recognition methods for 
hardware, software and service vary, and this is described further below. The time of reve-
nue recognition does not normally coincide with invoicing and payment from the customer. 

System sales
Income from the sale of hardware and software is recognised when Proact has transferred 
all material risks and benefits associated with ownership of the product. In most cases this 
is at the time of transferring legal ownership and when the goods are physically handed 
over to the purchaser. In cases where material risks associated with the ownership of the 
goods remain, the sale has not been completed and thus income is not recognised. 

Services
Maintenance and support income stems mainly from fixed price service contracts and is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the contracts. Consultancy services are 
normally carried out on a current account basis, and income is reported as the work is car-
ried out. Fixed price consultancy projects or currently invoiced consultancy projects with 
caps are recognised in income as they are confirmed. Of the estimated total income for a 
project, during each period the proportion settled corresponds to the share of estimated 
total costs accumulated during the period. 

Income from cloud service operations is generated on an ongoing basis, and income is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the contract.

Rental income
Income from leasing operations is generated on an ongoing basis, and rental income is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the rental period.

Group

Revenues per operating segment 2017 2016

System sales 2,148,668 1,896,286

Service operations 1,104,503 1,022,966

Other revenues 5,097 2,435

Total 3,258,268 2,921,687

Group

Revenues per operating segment 2017 2016

Nordics 1,643,356 1,645,247

UK 555,855 634,775

West 931,952 508,595

East 133,824 149,098

Proact Finance 100,949 73,119

Groupwide 130,309 120,519

Eliminations –237,977 –209,666

Total 3,258,268 2,921,687

Revenues per sector 2017 2016

Public sector 581,273 646,465

Retail and wholesale trade and services 797,462 614,990

Telecoms 448,488 443,896

Manufacturing industry 385,388 344,543

Banking, finance 290,763 282,760

Oil, energy 164,272 172,293

Media 119,504 65,095

Other 471,118 351,645

Total 3,258,268 2,921,687

Note 4  Intra-Group purchases and sales

Of the parent company’s total purchasing expenses and sales income, SEK 39,292 
(27,723)  thousand, 43 (31) per cent, refers to purchasing and SEK 96,613 (79,068) thou-
sand, 100 (100) per cent, refers to sales to other Group companies.

Note 5  Depreciation and impairment of fixed assets

Group Parent company

2017 2016 2017 2016

Depreciation/impairment included in expenses 
for sold goods and services
Depreciation

– Spare parts and demonstration equipment 3,960 3,562 – –

– Tangible assets 22,478 19,903 – –

– Intangible assets 24,174 21,244 – –

Impairment

– Intangible assets1) 934 – – –

Depreciation included in administration 
expenses
– Tangible assets 4,261 4,027 371 231

– Intangible assets 7,449 5,495 6,515 5,495

Total 63,256 54,231 6,886 5,726

1) The impairment loss is attributable to the business in Germany.
     

Note 6  Research and development costs

No research and development costs relating to services or products were specifically 
charged to income or capitalised during the year.

Note 7  Operating expenses

The difference between total revenues and recognised operating profit is explained by the 
following expense items:

Group

Operating expenses by expense type 2017 2016

Product cost 1) 2,092,665 1,840,735

Other expenses 190,416 179,336

Personnel expenses 754,988 710,188

Depreciation and impairment 63,256 54,231

Total operating expenses 3,101,325 2,784,490

1) Includes re-coverage expenses
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Note 8  Information about auditor’s remuneration

Auditing assignments are the statutory review of the annual report and bookkeeping and 
administration by the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer. 

The above statutory assignments include other quality assurance services to be imple-
mented in accordance with statute, the articles of association, regulations or contracts.

Tax advice includes both advice and review of compliance of tax.
Other services are other assignments.

Group Parent company

Fees and remuneration 2017 2016 2017 2016

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB 1) 
 Audit assignments 3,062 – 482 –

 Other statutory assignments 29 – – –

 Tax advice 170 – 130 –

 Other services 1,542 – 1,542 –

Other auditors 2)

 Audit assignments – 3,220 – 649

 Other statutory assignments – 103 – 103

 Tax advice – 532 – 235

 Other services – – – –

Total 4,803 3,855 2,154 987

1)  Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB have been the selected auditors since the 2017 
Annual General Meeting.

2) Ernst & Young AB were the selected auditors prior to the 2017 Annual General Meeting.

Of audit assignments, SEK 900 thousand relates to PwC Sweden; of Other statutory 
assignments, SEK – thousand relates to PwC Sweden; of Tax advice fees, SEK 130 thou-
sand relates to PwC Sweden; and of Fees for other services, SEK 572 thousand relates to 
PwC Sweden.

Note 9   Average number of employees, salaries,  
other remuneration and social costs, etc.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Employee benefits
Pensions
In defined contribution plans the Group pays contributions to a separate legal entity. The 
contributions are charged to income as they arise. The Group has no legal obligations other 
than paying something above the ongoing contributions.

The Group has no defined benefit pension plans.

Severance pay
The Group reports expenses for severance pay in the statement of comprehensive income 
when it is demonstrably obliged either to give notice to employees in accordance with a 
detailed formal plan without the option of recall, or to provide compensation as a result of 
an offer made to encourage voluntary resignation from employment. Benefits due more 
than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to net present value.

Bonus schemes
Where there are legal commitments the Group recognises a liability and a cost for bonuses 
based on a formula that allows for sales and/or gains in accordance with the company’s 
bonus models.

 Average number
 of which 

women  of which men

Average number of 
employees 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Parent company
Sweden 20 21 6 6 14 15

Subsidiaries
Sweden 164 163 17 17 147 146

Norway 50 55 6 7 43 48

Finland 43 40 3 4 40 37

Denmark 21 22 3 2 18 20

Latvia 16 17 4 4 12 13

Lithuania 17 17 5 5 12 12

Estonia 13 15 2 2 11 13

Czech Republic 20 22 5 4 15 18

The Netherlands 98 97 13 13 85 84

Belgium 14 17 1 – 13 17

Spain 12 11 2 2 10 9

Germany 82 4 19 – 63 4

United Kingdom 228 221 49 43 179 178

USA 1 1 – – 1 1

Total subsidiaries 779 702 129 102 650 600

Group total 799 723 135 108 664 615

Board members and senior 
executives

Number of which women of which men
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Group and parent com-
pany

Board members and Chief 
Executive Officer/Group 
President 6 6 2 2 4 4

Other senior executives 10 11 1 2 9 9
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Salaries and remunera-
tion to the Board of 
Directors and  Chief 
Executive Officer (of 
which bonuses, etc.)

Salaries and  
remuneration to  
other employees

Salaries and  
remuneration Total

Payroll overheads (of which 
pension expenses)

Salaries, remuneration and payroll 
overheads 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

  

Parent company 7,946 8,393 15,053 17,415 22,999 25,808 9,820 11,976

 (2,948) (402) (2,948) (402) (2,431) (3,667)

Subsidiaries 22,644 20,100 552,156 498,060 574,800 518,160 131,273 123,331

(4,990) (6,752) (4,990) (6,752) (36,892) (35,747)

Group total 30,590 28,493 567,209 515,475 597,799 543,968 141,093 135,307

(7,938) (7,154) (7,938) (7,154) (39,323) (39,414)

Note 9 – Continued

Remuneration to the Board of Directors and senior executives
   Directors’ fees1)    Committee fees1)    Total fees

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Board Chairman Anders Hultmark 515 479 50 50 565 529

Board member Roger Bergström – 60 – 13 – 73

Board member Eva Elmstedt 206 192 79 50 285 242

Board member Christer Hellström 83 192 21 46 104 238

Board member Christer Holmén 206 192 100 100 306 292

Board member Pia Gideon 83 192 21 29 104 221

Board member Martin Gren 123 – – – 123 –

Board member Annikki Schaeferdiek 123 – 29 – 152 –

Total 1,339 1,307 300 288 1,639 1,595

1) Relates to the actual fee for the calendar year in question according to a resolution by the general meeting.

All Group companies have only defined contribution pension plans. The present CEO has 
renounced his entitlement to pension premiums, and hence there are no pension obliga-
tions for the company. Retirement age is 67. The company must give the Managing 
Director six months’ notice of termination of employment, and the Managing Director must 
give the company six months’ notice. The variable element of the Chief Executive Officer’s 
salary is based on the company’s growth and profit.

There were ten (eleven) other senior executives in 2017. Of the other senior executives, 
five people are employed by the parent company and five people are employed by subsidi-
aries. Proact’s pension terms in accordance with a defined-contribution pension plan are 
applicable to other senior executives. The variable element of the salary entitles the incum-
bent to a pension, and retirement age is 65. The pensionable salary for other senior 
officers for the year amounted to SEK 19,574 (19,660) thousand for the year. There are no 
other pension liabilities besides the paid-in pension contributions. The company must give 
other senior executives 3-9 months’ notice of termination of employment, and other senior 
executives must give the company 3-6 months’ notice. Should the company give notice to 
terminate their employment, other senior executives are entitled to severance pay of 0-12 
months’ salary. 

The variable element of the salaries of other senior executives is based on growth and 
profits both locally and within the Group.

Queries relating to remuneration and benefits to the Managing Director and other senior 
executives will be dealt with by the Board of Directors and its remuneration committee.

Options
There are no option programmes.

Proact shareholdings of the Board of Directors, the Managing Director and other 
senior executives

Board of Directors
Shareholding in Proact

31/12/2017

Anders Hultmark 2,610 1)

Martin Gren 1,045,778 2)

Eva Elmstedt 2,500

Christer Holmén 32,582 1)

Annikki Schaeferdiek  –

1) Holding via legal entity
2) Holding personally and via legal entity

Chief Executive Officer and other senior 
executives:

Shareholding in Proact
31/12/2017

Jason Clark (CEO) 8

Arne Kungberg 7,051

Eirik Pedersen –

Jakob Høholdt 10,905

Jonas Persson 8,050

Maarten van Unen –

Peter Javestad 3,850

Petra Tesch 1,000

Sander Dekker –

Tomas Vikholm –

Paul Bates –

Chief 
Executive 

Officer Chief Executive Officer Other senior executives
2017

Jason Clark
2016

Jason Clark
2016

Martin Ödman 2017 2016

Set salaries 3,900 3,800 1,140 16,714 17,270

Performance-
related pay 1,804 1,756 622 5,139 5,401

Benefits 230 230 30 1,039 1 301

Pension costs – – 298 1,852 2,146

Severance pay – – 1,140 – –

Total 5,934 5,786 3,230 24,744 26,118
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Tax expense (-) / tax income (+)
Group Parent company

2017 2016 2017 2016

Current tax for the year –45,219 –40,109 – –

Adjustment relating to previous years’ tax 68 201 – –

Deferred tax 7,682 2,929 96 13

Tax in the income statement –37,469 –36,979 96 13

During the year, the Group paid tax of SEK 64,052 (47,769) thousand, and SEK 820 
(1,851) thousand for the parent company.

Reconciliation of effective tax
Group Parent company

2017 2016 2017 2016

Reported profit before tax 152,492 133,688 96,545 7,475

Tax for the parent company, based on the 
Swedish tax rate of 22% –33,548 –29,411 –21,240 –1,645

Difference attributable to foreign tax rates 1,243 1,645 – –

Non-deductible costs –3,244 –3,411 –3,659 –5,753

Non-taxable income 1,866 1,989 24,995 7,411

Losses for the year for which no deferred tax 
claims have been capitalised –4,610 –5,759 – –

Tax effect for the year relating to capitalised 
unused loss carryforwards from previous 
years 5,103 –2,322 – –

Tax effect for the year relating to non-capi-
talised unused loss carryforwards from pre-
vious years –2,355 150 – –

Adjustment relating to previous years’ tax 68 201 – –

Adjustment relating to previous years’ 
deferred tax –900 –90 – –

Other taxes –1,092 –269 – –

Other adjustments relating to deferred tax – 298 – –

Tax expense (–) / tax income (+) –37,469 –36,979 96 13

Note 12  Income tax

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Taxes
Deferred taxes are calculated according to the balance sheet method for all temporary dif-
ferences that arise between the carrying value and the tax-related value of assets and lia-
bilities. Deferred tax assets including as yet unexercised tax loss carryforwards are recog-
nised only if it is deemed that they can be exercised. Deferred tax liabilities/tax assets are 
reassessed each year at the current tax rate and reported in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as part of tax for the year. Tax liabilities/tax assets are assessed at 
nominal amounts and in accordance with the applicable tax rules and rates. Net deferred 
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recognised if they relate to the same tax authority.

Note 10  Financial revenues

Group Parent company

2017 2016 2017 2016

Interest income 5,618 4,624 544 213

Interest income from Group companies – – 5,455 4,946

Income from participations in Group companies – – 113,611 33,683

Other items 1,366 135 – –

Total 6,984 4,759 119,610 38,842

The Group’s entire interest income is attributable to loans and receivables. For shares in 
Group companies, see also Note 17.

Note 11  Financial expenses

Group Parent company
2017 2016 2017 2016

Interest expenses 9,612 10,046 6,704 5,716

Interest expenses to Group companies – – 327 465

Income from participations in Group companies – – 16,444 26,033

Exchange rate differences –716 –3,031 –1,617 –644

Other items 2,539 1,253 340 597

Total 11,435 8,268 22,198 32,167

All of the Group’s interest expenses are attributable to loans and other liabilities.
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Group
2017 
Deferred tax assets Opening balance

Deferred tax reported in income 
statement (+ income/– expense)

Deferred tax reported  
in balance sheet

Exchange rate  
differences Closing balance

Unused loss carryforwards 2,864 3,958 – 202 7,024

Goodwill –771 428 – –11 –354

Other intangible assets 1,186 –1,226 – 40 –

Tangible assets 11,761 –1,494 – –17 10,250

Hedging of net investment in foreign operations – 43 –43 – –

Provisions 838 –680 – 17 175

Other 224 874 – 9 1,107

Net reporting –861 –24 – –72 –957

Total deferred tax assets 15,241 1,879 –43 168 17,245

2017 
Deferred tax liabilities Opening balance

Deferred tax reported in income 
statement (– income/+ expense)

Deferred tax reported  
in balance sheet

Exchange rate  
differences Closing balance

Goodwill 2,820 – – –141 2,679

Other intangible assets 18,841 –5,685 4,662 336 18,154

Tangible fixed assets 960 –407 – –29 524

Provisions 161 – – – 161

Other 3 313 2,225 50 2,591

Net reporting –861 –24 – –72 –957

Total deferred tax liabilities 21,924 –5,803 6,887 144 23,152

2016 
Deferred tax assets Opening balance

Deferred tax reported in income 
statement (+ income/– expense)

Deferred tax reported  
in balance sheet

Exchange rate  
differences Closing balance

Unused loss carryforwards 4,954 –2,308 – 218 2,864

Goodwill –722 –11 – –38 –771

Other intangible assets 826 306 – 54 1,186

Tangible fixed assets 10,118 1,763 – –120 11,761

Hedging of net investment in foreign operations – –209 209 – –

Provisions 514 309 – 15 838

Other 182 32 – 10 224

Net reporting –860 –1 – – –861

Total deferred tax assets 15,012 –119 209 139 15,241

2016 
Deferred tax liabilities Opening balance

Deferred tax reported in income 
statement (– income/+ expense)

Deferred tax reported  
in balance sheet

Exchange rate  
differences Closing balance

Goodwill 2,557 – – 263 2,820

Other intangible assets 21,508 –3,855 1,624 –436 18,841

Tangible fixed assets 612 235 – 113 960

Provisions 60 101 – – 161

Other –477 472 – 8 3

Net reporting –860 –1 – – –861

Total deferred tax liabilities 23,400 –3,048 1,624 –52 21,924

Unutilised loss carryforwards
Unutilised loss carryforwards are reported as deferred tax assets when it is likely that these 
can be utilised to offset future taxable excesses. The parent company’s unutilised loss 
carry forwards amount to SEK 515 (–) thousand. The Group’s unutilised loss carryforwards 
amount to SEK 155,896 (136,799) thousand, of which SEK 25,441 (13,389) thousand has 
been deemed to be utilisable, which is why deferred tax receivables of SEK 7,024 (2,864) 
thousand have been reported.

Can be utilised at the latest by:
31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Not subject to time limit 155,896 136,799

Total unutilised loss carryforwards 155,896 136,799

Note 12 – Continued

Net deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are reported when there is a legal set-off right for 
current tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets have been reported for unused loss 
carryforwards relating to tax losses in the subsidiaries where the company has assessed 
that it will be possible to utilise these unused loss carryforwards against future taxable 
profits. Expected taxable profits have been calculated individually for each company. In 
2017, deferred tax receivables have been written down relating to loss carryforwards that 
it will not be possible to utilise within a reasonable time. 

As at 31 December 2017, it has been deemed possible to utilise 16 per cent of total loss 
carryforwards in the Group against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets/liabilities 
attributable to deductible temporary differences relating to interests in subsidiaries are 
reported insofar as it is likely that the temporary difference will be returned in the future 
and there will be taxable profits against which the deduction can be utilised. The positive 
profit development over the year has resulted in the Group being able to report a tax 
expense amounting to SEK 37,469 (36,979) thousand.

Parent company
2017 Opening balance Deferred tax Closing balance

Temporary differences –487 –18 –505

Total deferred tax asset (+)/
tax liability (–) –487 –18 –505

2016 Opening balance Deferred tax Closing balance

Temporary differences –500 13 –487

Total deferred tax asset (+)/
tax liability (–) –500 13 –487

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities
There are temporary differences in cases of differences between the reported tax values of assets or liabilities. The Group’s temporary differences and loss carry-forwards have resulted 
from deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets associated with the following items:
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Note 13  Items affecting comparability

Note 14  Foreign currencies

No items affecting comparability have affected the operating profit in 2017.

Group

2017 2016

Administration expenses – 5,833

Total 1) – 5,833

1)  Items affecting comparability for 2016 relates to expenses of SEK 5.7 million in  
connection with the replacement of the Group President in January 2016 and  
expenses of SEK 0.1 million relating to the restructuring of Proact IT Germany.

The currency exchange rates used for the Group’s significant currencies throughout the 
year appear in the table below.

Rate, balance sheet date Average rate

Currency 2017 2016 2017 2016

EUR 9.8497 9.5669 9.6326 9.4704

USD 8.2322 9.0971 8.5380 8.5613

GBP 11.1045 11.1787 10.9896 11.5664

NOK 1.0011 1.0540 1.0330 1.0199

CZK 0.3849 0.3540 0.3661 0.3503

DKK 1.3229 1.2869 1.2949 1.2720

Exchange rate differences  
affecting net result for the year 
(+ profit, – loss)

Group Parent company

2017 2016 2017 2016

Recognised within cost of 
 sold product –1,547 –1,366 – –

Recognised within net financial 
items 716 3,031 1,617 644

Invoicing and goods purchased in foreign currencies
Most goods are purchased from the USA and Europe, and therefore the company is affected by changes in the dollar and euro exchange rate respectively.

Invoicing and goods purchased 
in:
(Amounts in SEK 000)

Group
2017 2016

Invoicing
Percentage of  
total revenues Goods purchases

Percentage of  
total purchases Invoicing

Percentage of  
total revenues Goods purchases

Percentage of  
total purchases

EUR 1,285,246 39% 1,006,631 40% 970,032 33% 685,396 31%

USD 294,702 9% 373,790 15% 281,151 10% 413,838 19%

GBP 519,486 16% 289,170 12% 618,542 21% 353,447 16%

Other currencies 1,158,834 36% 833,718 33% 1,051,974 36% 761,555 34%

Total 3,258,268 100% 2,503,309 100% 2,921,699 100% 2,214,236 100%

Accounts receivable and accounts payable in foreign currencies

Accounts receivable and accounts 
payable in:
(Amounts in SEK 000)

Group
2017 2016

Accounts  
receivable

Percentage of  
total accounts 

receivable
Accounts  

payable

Percentage of  
total accounts 

payable
Accounts  

receivable

Percentage of  
total accounts 

receivable Accounts payable

Percentage of  
total accounts 

payable

EUR 205,094 36% 205,211 40% 157,710 24% 185,929 33%

USD 37,862 7% 104,798 21% 108,144 17% 125,562 23%

GBP 122,213 21% 87,232 17% 134,916 21% 95,874 17%

Other currencies 210,356 36% 112,556 22% 253,647 39% 148,754 27%

Total 575,525 100% 509,797 100% 654,417 100% 556,119 100%
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Note 14 – Continued Note 15  Intangible fixed assets

Hedges as at 31/12/2017
The Group does not utilise hedge accounting. Concluded forward contracts constitute 
financial hedges. As at the balance sheet date, hedged accounts receivable amounted to 
USD 1,484 (0) thousand and EUR 942 (949) thousand in the Group. In Swedish kronor, the 
hedged amount totals SEK 21,502 (9,079) thousand. The effect on profit is recognised 
within the operating profit in the statement of comprehensive income. The fair value of 
these forward contracts as at 31 December 2017 meant an unrealised profit of SEK 113 
thousand, which has affected the statement of comprehensive income by an equivalent 
amount. The previous year’s unrealised result was a profit amounting to SEK 204 thou-
sand. As at balance sheet date, hedged accounts payable amounted to USD 14,029 
(2,281) thousand and EUR 2,244 (2,699) thousand in the Group. In Swedish kronor, the 
hedged amount totals SEK 137,592 (37,874) thousand. The effect on profit is recognised 
within the operating profit in the statement of comprehensive income. The fair value of 
these forward contracts as at 31/12/2017 meant an unrealised loss of SEK 2,868 thou-
sand, which has affected the statement of comprehensive income by an equivalent 
amount. The previous year’s unrealised result was a loss amounting to SEK 638 thousand. 
Hedged receivables in leasing contracts as at the balance sheet date amount to EUR 4,622 
(3,554) thousand, GBP 413 (266) thousand, USD 487 (496) thousand and NOK 16,992 
(13,365) thousand within the Group. In Swedish kronor, the hedged amount totals SEK 
71,130 (52,744) thousand. The effect on profit is recognised within the operating profit in 
the statement of comprehensive income. The fair value of these forward contracts as at 31 
December 2017 meant an unrealised loss of SEK 1,975 (2,419) thousand, which has 
affected the statement of comprehensive income by an equivalent amount. The parent 
company had outstanding forward contracts relating to hedged long-term receivables in 
GBP for subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017, amounting to a total of GBP 2,850 (5,130) 
thousand. The fair value of these forward contracts as at 31 December 2017 meant an 
unrealised profit of SEK 1,387 (2,827) thousand. As at 31 December 2017, accounts 
receivable in foreign currencies amounted to SEK 448,350 (487,331) thousand and 
accounts payable amounted to SEK 426,955 (442,713) thousand.

Net investments (excluding goodwill) in foreign subsidiaries
Net assets in foreign subsidiaries divided by currency. When translating foreign subsidiar-
ies’ balance sheets to Swedish kronor, the Group is exposed to exchange rate fluctuations. 
The effect on equity in 2017 for the translation of foreign subsidiaries’ accounts to 
Swedish kronor was SEK 3,043 (10,056) thousand. 

The Group’s exposure in equity to currency exchange rate fluctuations on the balance 
sheet date was as follows:

2017 2016

Amount in thousands Amount

Converted to SEK acc. 
to exchange rate on 
balance sheet date Amount

Converted to SEK acc. 
to exchange rate on 
balance sheet date

CZK –1,190 –458 –1,803 –638

DKK 989 1,308 459 591

EUR 15,197 149,686 6,486 62,051

GBP 9,501 105,504 7,703 86,110

USD –113 –930 1,827 16,620

NOK 73,238 73,315 60,862 64,149

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill
Reported goodwill is the difference between - on the one hand - the acquisition value of 
Group company shares, the value of non-controlling interests in the acquired operations 
and the actual value of a previously owned share, and on the other hand the reported value 
in the acquisition analysis of acquired assets and transferred liabilities.

An impairment test is carried out each year, as well as when there is an indication that 
an asset has fallen in value. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purposes 
of impairment testing. Each of these cash-generating units constitutes the Group’s busi-
ness in each of the countries where this business is done. In cases where the carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the value of the asset is 
written down to its recoverable amount. 

Other intangible assets
Customer relations, brands and support contracts
Customer relations, brands and support contracts that are identified upon the acquisition of 
companies are recognised as intangible assets at acquisition value (fair value at the time of 
acquisition). Customer relations and brands are depreciated on a straight-line basis over a 
maximum of ten years. In each case a useful life is set over which the support contracts 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis according to plan. If there are indications of impair-
ment, the asset’s recoverable amount is assessed. In cases where the carrying amount of 
the asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the value of the asset is written down 
to its recoverable amount.

Capitalised software expenses
Capitalised software expenses are made up of expenses in connection with implementation 
and adaptation of software which can be capitalised. Capitalised software is depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over a maximum of five years. If there are indications of impair-
ment, the asset’s recoverable amount is assessed. In cases where the carrying amount of 
the asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the value of the asset is written down 
to its recoverable amount.

Impairment
Assets that have an indeterminate useful life are not amortised but are tested annually for 
impairment. Assets which are depreciated/amortised are assessed in terms of decrease in 
value whenever an event or a change in circumstances indicates that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. The impairment made corresponds to the amount by which the 
book value of the asset exceeds its recovery value. The recovery value is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value minus sales costs and value in use. When assessing the impairment 
requirement, assets are grouped at the lowest levels at which there are separately identifi-
able cash-generating units.
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Distribution of goodwill per cash-generating unit
Group

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Sweden 84,466 84,466

Norway 18,343 19,314

Finland 709 689

Denmark 1,609 1,565

Latvia 5,831 5,664

Lithuania 7,948 7,721

Czech Republic 9,965 9,165

Germany 61,433 –

The Netherlands 67,027 65,103

United Kingdom 127,691 128,543

Total 385,022 322,230

Impairment test
Any goodwill impairment requirements are tested each year by calculating the future  
utilisation value of each cash-generating unit. 

When estimating the future utilisation value, the future cash flows of the respective 
cash-generating units have been calculated based on the forthcoming year’s budget and 
forecasts for a further 4 years, assuming an eternal growth rate of 1 to 2 (1 to 2) per cent. 

A Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) before tax of between 10 and 11 (10 and 
11) per cent has been used for calculation, depending on risk factor in the various 
cash-generating units. Besides these important assumptions in respect of WACC and 
future growth, profitability (margin on profit before tax) of 3 to 8 (3 to 8) per cent has been 
estimated, depending on company. The corporate executive’s determination of important 

assumptions, and the values inherent in these, are based on a reflection of earlier experi-
ences. Eternal growth of 1 to 2 per cent has been deemed reasonable on the market in 
which the company is active. This assessment is based on a weighted analysis of both 
products and services.

The company has implemented sensitivity analyses based on isolated changes of lower 
budget levels, lower growth figures and higher weighted capital costs. When assessing 
reasonable changes to these important assumptions, the recoverable amount exceeds the 
recognised value for intangible assets.

The greatest uncertainty lies in the future profit development for the cash-generating 
unit Czech Republic, where it is estimated that profits will exceed historical profits.

Impairment requirements are present if the reported value of goodwill exceeds the  
calculated utilisation value. For 2017, no impairment requirement was deemed to exist.

Cash-generating unit
Group WACC, before tax

Group Growth during 
terminal period

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Sweden 10.6% 10.0% 2% 2%

Norway 10.6% 10.0% 2% 2%

Finland 10.6% 10.0% 2% 2%

Denmark 10.6% 10.0% 1% 1%

Latvia 11.3% 11.1% 2% 2%

Lithuania 11.2% 10.9% 1% 2%

Czech Republic 11.0% 10.6% 1% 1%

Germany 10.6% – 2% –

The Netherlands 10.7% 10.0% 2% 2%

United Kingdom 10.8% 10.6% 2% 2%

Group Parent company

Goodwill Customer relations Other intangible assets Total Other intangible assets 

Opening acquisition value as at 1 January 2017 394,492 213,579 74,781 682,852 31,673

Acquisitions during the year – – 4,687 4,687 4,589

Accumulated acquisition values in acquired companies – – 3,033 3,033 –

Acquisitions for the year via corporate acquisitions 59,541 15,408 – 74,949 –

Sales/disposals – – –1,257 –1,257 –

Exchange rate differences 3,210 2,531 885 6,626 –

Closing accumulated acquisition value 457,243 231,518 82,130 770,890 36,262

Opening depreciation and impairment, 1 January 2017 –72,262 –141,098 –38,468 –251,828 –13,053

Depreciation for the year – –19,637 –11,986 –31,623 –6,515

Accumulated depreciation in acquired companies – – –1,129 –1,129 –

Impairment losses for the year – – –934 –934 –

Sales/disposals – – 1,257 1,257 –

Exchange rate differences 41 –1,792 –488 –2,239 –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment – closing balance –72,221 –162,527 –51,748 –286,496 –19,568

Book value as at 31 December 2017 385,022 68,991 30,382 484,395 16,694

Opening acquisition value as at 1 January 2016 443,546 210,881 56,861 711,288 22,634

Acquisitions during the year – – 11,047 11,047 9,039

Sales/disposals – – –216 –216 –

Reclassifications due to adjusted acquisition analyses1) –4,436 –1,146 7,454 1,872 –

Reclassifications 2) –39,509 7,316 335 –31,858 –

Exchange rate differences –5,109 –3,472 –700 –9,281 –

Closing accumulated acquisition value 394,492 213,579 74,781 682,852 31,673

Opening depreciation and impairment, 1 January 2016 –109,235 –116,333 –29,822 –255,390 –7,558

Depreciation for the year – –18,177 –8,562 –26,739 –5,495

Sales/disposals – – 121 121 –

Reclassifications due to adjusted acquisition analyses1) 265 –265 – – –

Reclassifications 2) 39,509 –7,316 –335 31,858 –

Exchange rate differences –2,801 993 130 –1,678 –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment – closing balance –72,262 –141,098 –38,468 –251,828 –13,053

Book value as at 31 December 2016 322,230 72,482 36,313 431,025 18,620

1) Establishment of final acquisition analyses in 2016 for the companies Proact VX B.V. and Proact Managed Cloud Services AB
2) Reclassifications for adjustment to acquisition cost and accumulated depreciation and impairments

Note 15 – Continued
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Group Parent company

Computers and 
machines Inventories Spare parts Buildings Total

Computers and 
machines

Opening acquisition value as at 1 January 2017 253,363 45,107 53,391 16,658 368,519 886

Acquisitions during the year 1) 79,690 3,260 4,050 62 87,062 720

Accumulated acquisition values in acquired companies 24,561 1,425 1,416 – 27,402 –

Sales/disposals –19,685 –1,102 –65 – –20,852 –38

Reclassifications 1) –56,533 – – – –56,533 –

Exchange rate differences 2,825 319 471 –106 3,509 –

Closing accumulated acquisition value 284,221 49,009 59,263 16,614 409,107 1,568

Opening depreciation and impairment, 1 January 2017 –226,050 –36,271 –48,044 –2,930 –313,295 –284

Depreciation for the year –23,211 –3,273 –3,960 –255 –30,699 –371

Accumulated depreciation in acquired companies –13,020 –497 –1,416 – –14,933 –

Sales/disposals 14,770 1,079 47 – 15,896 29

Exchange rate differences –2,733 –292 –487 16 –3,496 –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment – closing balance –250,244 –39,254 –53,860 –3,169 –346,527 –626

Book value as at 31 December 2017 33,977 9,755 5,403 13,445 62,580 942

Opening acquisition value as at 1 January 2016 222,524 40,167 49,115 17,219 329,025 1,451

Acquisitions during the year 4) 38,347 5,585 3,679 – 47,611 741

Sales/disposals –24,861 –1,760 –45 – –26,666 –1,338

Reclassifications 2, 4) –12,671 417 123 57 –12,074 –

Reclassifications 3) 28,913 – – 1,163 30,076 32

Exchange rate differences 1,111 698 519 –1,781 547 –

Closing accumulated acquisition value 253,363 45,107 53,391 16,658 368,519 886

Opening depreciation and impairment, 1 January 2016 –195,409 –33,751 –43,850 –1,784 –274,794 –1,359

Depreciation for the year –20,459 –3,204 –3,562 –267 –27,492 –231

Sales/disposals 23,834 1,715 39 – 25,588 1,338

Reclassifications 2) –3,800 –412 –123 –11 –4,346 –32

Reclassifications 3) –28,913 – – –1,163 –30,076 –

Exchange rate differences –1,303 –619 –548 295 –2,175 –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment – closing balance –226,050 –36,271 –48,044 –2,930 –313,295 –284

Book value as at 31 December 2016 27,313 8,836 5,347 13,728 55,224 602

1) Includes SEK 56,533 (23,336) thousand reclassified from fixed assets Computers and machines to financial leasing.
2) Includes reclassification of operational leases to financial leases with accumulated acquisition value of SEK 11,280 thousand and accumulated depreciation of SEK 4,363 thousand
3) Reclassifications in order to arrive at the correct value of opening balances for accumulated acquisition values and accumulated depreciation and impairments
4) Includes SEK 23,336 (43,420) thousand reclassified from fixed assets Computers and machines to financial leasing.

Note 16  Tangible fixed assets

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at acquisition value less depreciation and 
impairment. Expenditure that can be directly attributed to the acquisition of the asset is 
included in the historical cost. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is based on 
the acquisition value of the assets and the estimated useful life. In this regard, a deprecia-
tion time of three years is applied for computers and technical equipment, five years for 
machinery and equipment, three years for spare parts and 50 years for buildings. The use-
ful life of the assets is tested on every balance sheet date and adjusted where required. 
The book value of assets is written down to recovery value if the asset’s book value 
exceeds its assessed recovery value. Profits and losses during disposal are determined 
through comparison between the sales income and reported value, and are reported in the 
statement of comprehensive income.
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Note 17  Shares in Group companies

Shares in Group companies
Company registration 
number Headquarters Number of shares % of share capital

Book value 
31/12/2017, SEK 000

Book value 
31/12/2016, SEK 000

Proact IT Sweden AB 556328-2754 Stockholm, SE 47,456,047 100.0% 34,400 34,400

Proact IT Norge AS 971 210 737 Oslo, NO 3,475,000 100.0% 49,523 49,523

Proact Finland OY 1084241-2 Espoo, FI 20,000 100.0% 15,519 15,519

Proact Systems A/S 18 803 291 Brøndby, DK 600 100.0%1) – 3,085

Proact Finance AB 556396-0813 Sollentuna, SE 500,000 100.0% 5,000 5,000

Proact IT Latvia SIA LV40003420036 Riga, LV 850 100.0%2) 8,499 6,537

Proact Lietuva UAB 110861350 Vilnius, LT 7,386 73.86% 7,845 7,845

Proact Netherlands B.V. 20136449 Breda, NL 44,419 100.0% 79,131 79,131

Proact Estonia AS 115131151 Tallinn, EE 22,757 85.0% 4,094 4,094

Proact IT (UK) Ltd 07493526 Chesterfield, UK 775,000 100.0% 62,112 62,112

Databasement International Holding B.V. 27326003 Zoetermeer, NL 1,802 100.0%3) 142,658 117,971

Proact Belgium BVBA 090211403 Drongen, BE 6,408 100.0% – –

Proact Czech Republic, s.r.o. 24799629 Prague, CZ – 85.3% 13,455 12,910

Proact U.S. LLC – Delaware, USA – 100.0% – –

Proact IT Germany GmbH HRB 132327 Hamburg, DE 210,000 100.0% 3,607 3,607

Proact Managed Cloud Services AB 556300-7664 Örebro, SE 26,317 100.0% 62,272 62,272

488,115 464,006

Any impairment requirements in respect of shares in subsidiaries are tested each year by calculating the future utilisation value of each individual subsidiary, as referred to in Note 15. 
Impairment of parent company shares in the company Proact Systems A/S took place in 2017; see footnote 1) below.

1)  A capital contribution DKK 10,000 thousand (SEK 13,359 thousand) has been made to the company Proact Systems A/S in 2017. In 2017, the parent company also impaired the value 
of shares in the subsidiary Proact Systems A/S by SEK 16,444 thousand.

2) In 2017, a further 7.5 per cent has been acquired from non-controlling interests for a purchase price of EUR 205 thousand (SEK 1,962 thousand)
3) A capital contribution of EUR 2,485 thousand (SEK 24,687 thousand) has been made to the company Databasement International Holding B.V. in 2017. 

Shares in subsidiaries
Parent company

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Opening book value 464,006 431 636

Capital contribution 38,046 14,342

Impairment –16,444 –26,033

Acquisitions during the year 2,507 44,061

Closing accumulated acquisition value 488,115 464,006

BOOK VALUE 488,115 464,006

Income from participations in Group companies
Parent company
2017 2016

Dividends, earned 113,611 33,683

Total 113,611 33,683

Acquisition of further interests in 2017 from non-controlling interests
Acquisition of Proact IT Latvia SIA
In August 2017, the company acquired a further 7.5 per cent of shares in Proact IT Latvia 
SIA from non-controlling interests. Following the acquisition, the company holds 100 per 
cent of shares in the subsidiary. The purchase price amounted to EUR 205 thousand (SEK 
1,962 thousand).

Acquisition of further interests in 2016 from non-controlling interests
Acquisition of Proact IT (UK) Ltd.
In January 2016, the company acquired a further 12.5 per cent of shares in its British 
subsidiary Proact IT (UK) Ltd. from non-controlling interests. Following the acquisition, the 
company holds 100 per cent of shares in the subsidiary. The purchase price amounted to 
GBP 2,000 thousand (SEK 24,477 thousand).

Acquisition of Proact Netherlands B.V.
In March 2016, the company acquired a further 1.84 per cent of shares in Proact 
Netherlands B.V. from non-controlling interests. Following the acquisition, the company 
holds 100 per cent of shares in the subsidiary. The purchase price amounted to EUR 1,708 
thousand (SEK 15,825 thousand). 

Acquisition of Proact IT Latvia SIA
In December 2016, the company acquired a further 7.5 per cent of shares in Proact IT 
Latvia SIA from non-controlling interests. Following the acquisition, the company holds 
92.5 per cent of shares in the subsidiary. The purchase price amounted to EUR 220 thou-
sand (SEK 2,105 thousand).
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Note 18   Receivables and liabilities with Group companies 
and Other long-term receivables

Parent company

<1 year 1-5 years >5 years

Receivables with group companies due within 92,065 181,227 –

Liabilities with Group companies due within 339,993 11,105 –

There are no subordinated loans to foreign subsidiaries.

Other long-term receivables

Group

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Frozen accounts of tenancy agreements 1,612 839

Receivables relating to financial leasing 59,449 43,164

Loans to senior executives at subsidiaries1) 1,704 1,655

Pre-paid expenses and accrued income –  
Long-term 2) 16,222 12,772

Other long-term receivables 5,567 7,422

Total 84,554 65,852

1) See also Note 28.
2) See also Note 21.

Note 19  Inventories

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Stock is valued at the lowest of the acquisition value and the net selling price. The net 
realisable value is the estimated sales price in operating activities, after deductions for 
estimated expenses for preparation and for achieving a sale. 

The acquisition value for inventories is based on the first-in first-out principle (FIFO) and 
includes costs arising upon acquisition of the inventories and their transport to their current 
location and condition.

The reported value of goods in stock may need to be written down if they are exposed to 
damage, if all or some of them become too old or if their sale prices decline. Stock value 
as at 31 December 2017 amounted to SEK 37,440 (43,587) million. During the year, the 
Group wrote down inventories to the value of SEK 795 (659) thousand due to obsoles-
cence.
 

Profit, equity and cash flow pertaining to non-controlling interests

Equity, SEK 000 Profit, SEK 000
Cash flow,  

SEK 000
Percentage of 

non-controlling  
interests, %

Equity,  
SEK 000

Profit,  
SEK 000

Cash flow,  
SEK 000

Percentage of 
non-controlling  

interests, %31/12/2017 2017 2017 31/12/2016 2016 2016

Proact IT Latvia SIA – – – – 368 262 –128 8%

Proact Lietuva UAB 1,721 236 113 26% 1,209 317 46 26%

Proact Netherlands B.V. – – – – –1,507 – – 0%

Proact VX B.V.1) – – – 48% – – – 49%

Proact Estonia AS 1,840 573 –27 15% 5,125 734 238 15%

Proact Czech Republic, s.r.o.2) – – – 15% – – – 25%

3,561 809 86 5,195 1,313 156

1) Proact VX B.V. has 100 per cent inclusion in the financial statements. Liabilities to non-controlling interests are included as a financial liability in the balance sheet, see Note 24.
2)   Proact Czech Republic s.r.o. has 100 per cent inclusion in the financial statements. Liabilities to non-controlling interests are included as a financial liability in the balance sheet, see 

Note 24.

Dividends to non-controlling interests
2017 2016

Proact IT Latvia SIA 272 380

Proact Lietuva UAB 326 291

Proact Estonia AS 669 162

Total 1,267 833

Note 17 – Continued

Note 20  Trade receivables

Group
31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Trade receivables 579,058 654,915

Provisions for impairment of accounts receivable –3,533 –505

Accounts receivable – net 575,525 654,410

The Group had no bad debt losses in 2017. The Group has had bad debt losses of SEK 
69 thousand in 2016. See the section entitled “Risks and risk management” for risks and 
age analysis relating to accounts receivable.

Note 21  Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Current
Group Parent company

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Prepaid rental costs 8,459 7,872 – –

Prepaid leasing fees 6,711 9,210 – –

Prepaid insurance premiums 2,698 1,830 1,197 1,048

Prepaid maintenance charges 185,672 161,197 – –

Other prepaid expenses 28,563 38,058 7,374 7,942

Accrued system revenues 15,343 18,316 – –

Accrued service revenues 24,892 28,338 – –

Accrued contract revenues 10,276 8,550 – –

Other accrued revenues 15,956 9,982 – –

Total current interim receivables 298,570 283,354 8,571 8,990

Long-term

Prepaid rental costs 49 – – –

Prepaid maintenance charges 15,474 12,265 – –

Other prepaid expenses 49 – – –

Accrued system revenues 650 77 – –

Accrued service revenues – 383 – –

Other accrued revenues – 48 – –

Total long-term interim  
receivables 1) 16,222 12,772 – –

1)  Long-term interim receivables are included as part of Other long-term receivables in 
the balance sheet.
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Note 22  Other liabilities

Group Parent company
31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Staff tax at source 17,949 15,327 448 646

Social security contributions 8,955 11,317 2,191 1,245

VAT liabilities 36,925 29,934 1,219 3,436

Advance payments from  
customers 1,382 4,138 – –

Liabilities for non-controlling 
interests 38,798 – – –

Deferred payment of part of 
purchase price 18,577 – – –

Other items 11,124 5,680 – –

Total 133,710 66,396 3,858 5,327

All liabilities are due for payment within one year.

Note 23  Accrued expenses and deferred income

Current
Group Parent company

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Accrued wages and salaries 43,285 38,419 1,223 1,520

Accrued holiday pay liabilities 28,385 34,560 2,269 2,569

Accrued social costs 24,802 20,381 615 764

Accrued servicing costs 35,213 47,814 – –

Prepaid system revenues 10,395 27,365 – –

Prepaid service revenues 385,687 321,672 – –

Other items 45,015 75,669 5,501 8,540

Total current interim liabilities 572,782 565,880 9,608 13,393

Long-term

Prepaid service revenues 34,632 26,261 – –

Other items 483 – – –

Total long-term interim liabil-
ities 1) 35,115 26,261 – –

1)  Long-term interim liabilities are included as part of Other long-term liabilities in the  
balance sheet.

Note 24  Financial assets and liabilities

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at  
valued at fair value via the statement of comprehensive income, loans receivable and 
accounts receivable, financial instruments held to maturity and financial assets which can 
be sold. Classification depends on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired. 
The Group establishes the classification of the instruments at the time of first recognition. 
Only the categories relevant to the Group are described below.
The Group classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories: financial liabilities 
valued at fair value via the statement of comprehensive income, plus loans and accounts 
payable.

Risks linked with financial instruments, sensitivity analyses, etc. are described in the 
section entitled “Risks and risk management” in the annual financial statements.

Financial assets valued at fair value via the statement of comprehensive income
Assets in this category are constantly valued at fair value with value changes recorded in 
the statement of comprehensive income. This category consists of two subgroups: financial 
assets and liabilities held for trading and other financial assets and liabilities which the 
company has initially opted to value at fair value in the statement of comprehensive 
income. A financial asset is classified as a holding for trade if it is acquired with a view to 
being sold in the short term. Proact only has derivatives in the group financial asset held 
for trading.

Loans receivable and accounts receivable
Loans receivable and accounts receivable are non-derivative financial assets with deter-
mined or determinable payments which are not listed on an active market. It is noteworthy 
that they are incurred when the Group supplies money, products or services directly to a 
client without the intention of purchasing with the accrued claim. They are included in cur-
rent assets, with the exception of items with due dates more than 12 months after the bal-
ance sheet date which are classified as fixed assets. The Group’s financial lease receiva-
bles are reported in the balance sheet in the other long-term receivables entry.

Assets in this category are valued at accrued acquisition value after the acquisition date. 
Accrued historical cost is determined from the effective interest that is calculated at the 
date of acquisition. Accounts receivable are recognised at the amount expected to be paid 
following individual assessment. The expected maturity of accounts receivable is short, and 
so the value has been recognised at a nominal amount without discount. Impairment of 
accounts receivable is reported in operating expenses.

Financial liabilities valued at fair value via the statement of comprehensive income
Liabilities in this category are constantly valued at fair value with value changes recorded 
in the income statement. This category comprises financial liabilities reported by the com-
pany at fair value via the statement of comprehensive income. Proact has carried out cur-
rent value calculation of additional contingent purchase prices in this category, as well as 
derivatives.

Other financial liabilities
Accounts payable have short expected maturities and are valued at nominal value without 
discounting.

Borrowing is initially recognised at fair value, net after transaction costs. Borrowing is 
then recognised at accrued cost and any difference between the amount received (net 
after transaction costs) and the repayment amount is recognised in the statement of com-
prehensive income, distributed across the loan period, with the application of the effective 
interest method. 

Inclusion of derivative instruments 
Derivatives are included in the balance sheet on contract date and are valued at fair value, 
both at first inclusion and when subsequently reassessed. All derivatives are reported on 
an ongoing basis at fair value, with value changes reported in the statement of compre-
hensive income within cost of sold product for the derivatives linked with accounts payable 
or financial items respectively for the derivatives linked with financial leasing contracts.

Calculation of fair value
The fair value of financial instruments such as forward exchange contracts which are not 
traded on an active market is established by using valuation techniques. Such methods 
may include an analysis of recent transactions of similar instruments or discounting of 
anticipated cash flows. 

The nominal value less any assessed credits, for accounts receivable and liabilities to 
suppliers, are assumed to correspond to their fair value. 

The fair value of additional purchase prices is calculated by discounting the future con-
tracted or assessed cash flow at the current market rate of interest available to the Group 
for similar financial instruments. The fair value of financial liabilities is calculated for disclo-
sure in a note by discounting the future contracted or assessed cash flow at the current 
market rate of interest available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Other financial liabilities
Group Parent company

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Non-interest-bearing
Financial liability on acquisition 1) 18,577 – – –

Currency derivatives 4,730 2,853 – –

Other financial liabilities 51,323 86,120 5,501 8,540

Accounts payable 509,797 556,117 7,175 6,803

Total non-interest-bearing 584,427 645,090 12,676 15,343

Interest-bearing
Financial liability on acquisition – 
Current 2) 38,798 14,181 – –

Financial liability on acquisition – 
Long-term 2) 2,056 – – –

Utilised overdraft facility 782 28,729 – –

Bank loans, of which current  
portion 46,066 31,073 45,000 30,000

Bank loans, of which non-current 
portion 87,250 103,722 85,418 100,715

Contract borrowing, of which  
current portion – 19,582 – –

Contract borrowing, of which 
non-current portion – 10,475 – –

Financial leasing liabilities 3) 5,779 7,777 – –

Total interest-bearing 180,731 215,539 130,418 130,715

Total other financial liabilities 765,158 860,629 143,094 146,058

1)  Financial liability on acquisition of Teamix GmbH (Proact Deutschland GmbH)  
SEK 18,577 thousand.

2)  Financial liability on acquisition of Proact Czech Republic, s.r.o. SEK 2,056 (1,964) 
thousand and Proact VX B.V. SEK 38,798 (12,217) thousand. 

3)  See also Note 27.



56 NotesPROACT Annual Report 2017

Interest-bearing liabilities, Group 
31/12/2017 Interest Maturity Book value

Financial liability on acquisition 1) 11% 2018 40,854

Utilised overdraft facility, Nordea 3) 4) Base rate + 2.0% 31/12/2018 782

Bank loan, Nordea 3) LIBOR 3M + 2.0% 31/12/2018 44,418

Bank loan, Nordea 3) 1.65% 31/12/2018 30,000

Bank loan, Nordea 3) 1.9% 31/12/2018 26,000

Bank loan, Nordea 3) 1.65% 31/12/2019 30,000

Bank loan, Lloyds TSB Bank 2) Base Rate + 4% 04/02/2020 1,788

Bank loan, Lloyds TSB Bank 2) Base Rate + 4% 30/11/2020 1,110

Financial leasing liability 2) 5.00% 2017-2020 1,923

Financial leasing liability 2) 4.73% 2018 59

Financial leasing liability 2) 8.20% 2021 3,797

Total interest-bearing liabilities 180,731

Of the above interest-bearing liabilities, current loans that fall due in 2018 amount to SEK 
46,066 thousand. Of the SEK 100,418 thousand bank loan with a term until 31 
December 2018 in the table above, all elements fall due for renegotiation, which is why 
SEK 55,418 thousand, the element not included in the repayment plan for 2018, has 
been classified as long-term bank loans.

1)  The interest rate used when carrying out a current value calculation for Proact Czech 
Republic, s.r.o. is 15 per cent with a term until 2020, and also for Proact VX B.V. 15 
per cent with a term until 2018.

2) Interest will be payable over one month.
3) Interest will be payable over three months
4)  The limit for the Group overdraft facility is SEK 240,781 thousand, and for the parent 

company SEK 150,000 thousand, of which the Group amount utilised amounted to SEK 
782 thousand and SEK – thousand for the parent company. 

Interest-bearing liabilities, Group 
31/12/2016 Interest Maturity Book value

Financial liability on acquisition 1) 15% 2018 - 2020 14,181

Utilised overdraft facility, Nordea 3) 4) Base rate + 2.0% 31/12/2017 28,729

Bank loan, Nordea 3) LIBOR 3M + 2.0% 31/12/2018 44,715

Bank loan, Nordea 3) STIBOR 3M + 2.25% 31/12/2018 60,000

Bank loan, Nordea 3) 2.5% 31/12/2018 26,000

Bank loan, Lloyds TSB Bank 2) Base Rate + 4% 04/02/2020 2,515

Bank loan, Lloyds TSB Bank 2) Base Rate + 4% 30/11/2020 1,565

Contract borrowing, Nordea Finans 2, 

5) STIBOR 1M + 1.1% 2021 30,057

Financial leasing liability 2) 5.00% 2017-2020 3,796

Financial leasing liability 2) 4.73% 2018 392

Financial leasing liability 2) 8.20% 2021 3,589

Total interest-bearing liabilities 215,539

Of the above interest-bearing liabilities, current loans which fall due in 2017 amount to 
SEK 31,073 thousand.

1)  The interest rate used when carrying out a current value calculation for Proact Czech 
Republic, s.r.o. is 15 per cent with a term until 2020, and also for Proact VX B.V. 15 
per cent with a term until 2020.

2) Interest will be payable over one month.
3) Interest will be payable over three months
4)  The limit for the Group overdraft facility is SEK 179,751 thousand, and for the parent 

company SEK 7,000 thousand, of which the Group amount utilised amounted to SEK 
28,729 thousand and SEK – thousand for the parent company. 

5) Swedish contracts up to 31/03/2021 and Norwegian contracts up to 30/04/2017.

Interest-bearing liabilities, parent 
company 31/12/2017 Interest Maturity Book value

Bank loan, Nordea 1) LIBOR 3M + 2.0% 31/12/2018 44,418

Bank loan, Nordea 1) 1.65% 31/12/2018 30,000

Bank loan, Nordea 1) 1.9% 31/12/2018 26,000

Bank loan, Nordea 1) 1.65% 31/12/2019 30,000

Total interest-bearing liabilities 130,418

Of the above interest-bearing liabilities, current loans that fall due in 2018 amount to SEK 
45,000 thousand. Of the SEK 100,418 thousand bank loan with a term until 31 
December 2018 in the table above, all elements fall due for renegotiation, which is why 
SEK 55,418 thousand, the element not included in the repayment plan for 2018, has 
been classified as long-term bank loans.

1) Interest will be payable over three months

Note 24 – Continued

Interest-bearing liabilities, parent 
company 31/12/2016 Interest Maturity Book value

Bank loan, Nordea 1) LIBOR 3M + 2.0% 31/12/2018 44,715

Bank loan, Nordea 1) STIBOR 3M + 2.25% 31/12/2018 60,000

Bank loan, Nordea 1) STIBOR 3M +2.5% 31/12/2018 26,000

Total interest-bearing liabilities 130,715

Of the above interest-bearing liabilities, current loans which fall due in 2017 amount to 
SEK 30,000 thousand.

1) Interest will be payable over three months

Group term analysis, financial liabilities as at 31 December 2017
Contractual undiscounted amounts including future interest payments

On request < 3 mths 3-12 mths 1-5 years >5 years

Currency derivatives – 3,091 767 872 –

Financial liability on acquisition –  
Current element 1) – 18,577 38,798 – –

Financial liability on acquisition –  
Long-term element 1) – – – 2,056 –

Utilised overdraft facility – – 787 – –

Bank loans, of which current portion – 12,197 35,179 – –

Bank loans, of which non-current portion – – – 88,440 –

Accounts payable – 509,797 – – –

Other financial liabilities – 51,323 – – –

Financial leasing liabilities – 652 1,615 4,155 –

– 595,637 77,146 95,523 –

1)  Financial liability on acquisition of Proact Czech Republic, s.r.o. SEK 2,056 (1,964) 
thousand, Proact VX B.V. SEK 38,798 (12,217) thousand and Teamix GmbH (Proact 
Deutschland GmbH SEK 18,577 thousand.

Group term analysis, financial liabilities as at 31 December 2016
Contractual undiscounted amounts including future interest payments

On request < 3 mths 3-12 mths 1-5 years >5 years

Currency derivatives – 1,040 1,090 723 –

Financial liability on acquisition 1) – – – 14,181 –

Utilised overdraft facility – – 28,909 – –

Contract borrowing, of which  
current portion – 5,792 14,038 – –

Contract borrowing, of which  
non-current portion – – – 11,359 –

Bank loans, of which current portion – 8,664 25,720 – –

Bank loans, of which non-current portion – – – 106,093 –

Accounts payable – 556,117 – – –

Other financial liabilities – 86,091 – – –

Financial leasing liabilities – 834 2,501 5,430 –

– 658,538 72,258 137,786 –

1)  Financial liability on acquisition of Proact Czech Republic, s.r.o. SEK 1,964 (1,875) 
thousand and Proact VX B.V. SEK 12,217 (12,981) thousand.

Parent company term analysis, financial liabilities as at 31 December 2017
Contractual undiscounted amounts including future interest payments

On request < 3 mths 3-12 mths 1-5 years >5 years

Bank loans, of which current portion – 11,869 34,214 – –

Bank loans, of which non-current 
portion – – – 86,688 –

Accounts payable – 7,175 – – –

– 19,044 34,214 86,688 –

Parent company term analysis, financial liabilities as at 31 December 2016
Contractual undiscounted amounts including future interest payments

On request < 3 mths 3-12 mths 1-5 years >5 years

Bank loans, of which current portion – 8 322 24,714 – –

Bank loans, of which non-current 
portion – – – 103,076 –

Accounts payable – 6,803 – – –

– 15,125 24,714 103,076 –
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Financial assets and liabilities per valuation category

Group, 2017
Assets and liabilities valued at fair 

value through income statement Loans and receivables Other financial liabilities Total carrying amount Fair value 2)

Financial lease receivables – 102,156 – 102,156 102,156

Rent deposits – 1,612 – 1,612 1,612

Accounts receivable – 575,525 – 575,525 575,525

Other financial receivables – 67,118 – 67,118 67,118

Cash and cash equivalents – 220,373 – 220,373 220,373

Currency derivatives 1) 1,387 – – 1,387 1,387

Total financial assets 1,387 966,784 – 968,171 968,171

Accounts payable – – 509,797 509,797 509,797

Other financial liabilities – – 51,323 51,323 51,323

Bank loans – – 133,316 133,316 133,316

Bank overdraft facilities – – 782 782 782

Liabilities, acquisitions – – 59,431 40,854 40,854

Currency derivatives 1) 4,730 – – 4,730 4,730

Financial leasing liabilities – – 5,779 5,779 5,779

Total financial liabilities 4,730 – 760,428 746,581 746,581

1)  Assets and liabilities relating to currency derivatives are recognised in Other long-term receivables, Other receivables, Other long-term liabilities, Other liabilities and Accrued expenses.
2) Recognised values are a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Group, 2016
Assets and liabilities valued at fair 

value through income statement Loans and receivables Other financial liabilities Total carrying amount Fair value 2)

Financial lease receivables – 80,278 – 80,278 80,278

Rent deposits – 839 – 839 839

Accounts receivable – 654,915 – 654,915 654,915

Other financial receivables – 65,697 – 65,697 65,697

Cash and cash equivalents – 214,444 – 214,444 214,444

Currency derivatives 1) 2,827 – – 2,827 2,827

Total financial assets 2,827 1,016,173 – 1,019,000 1,019,000

Accounts payable – – 556,117 556,117 556,117

Other financial liabilities – – 86,091 86,091 86,091

Bank loans – – 134,795 134,795 134,795

Bank overdraft facilities – – 28,729 28,729 28,729

Contract borrowing – – 30,057 30,057 30,057

Liabilities, acquisitions – – 14,181 14,181 14,181

Currency derivatives 1) 2,853 – – 2,853 2,853

Financial leasing liabilities – – 7,777 7,777 7,777

Total financial liabilities 2,853 – 857,747 860,600 860,600

1)  Assets and liabilities relating to currency derivatives are recognised in Other long-term receivables, Other receivables, Other long-term liabilities, Other liabilities and Accrued expenses.
2) Recognised values are a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Calculation of fair value

Note 24 – Continued

According to IAS 39, certain financial instruments must be valued at fair value in the bal-
ance sheet. To do this, information is required on valuation at fair value for each level in 
the following fair value hierarchy:
Level 1)  Listed prices (unadjusted) on active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2)  Observable inputs for assets or liabilities other than quoted prices included in level 

1, either directly (prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).
Level 3)  Data for assets or liabilities which is not based on observable market data (i.e. 

non-observable data).

In category 3, the Group has a liability in the form of a calculated future purchase price. 
Calculation of this liability is a current value calculation which is based on an assessment 
of which amount will fall due, and when. The future purchase price is calculated on the 
basis of the level of profit before tax as well as various multiples, depending on the point in 
time at which it is estimated to fall due.

In category 2, the Group has receivables and liabilities relating to currency hedges at a net 
value of SEK –3,343 thousand as at 30 December 2017. Receivables of SEK 301 thou-
sand are recognised in Other long-term receivables, SEK 1,086 thousand in Other receiva-
bles, SEK 872 thousand Other long-term liabilities, SEK 3,858 thousand in Other liabilities.

Currency hedges are valued at market value in that early allocation of currency hedging 
takes place in order to find out what the forward price would be in the event of maturity at 
the balance sheet date. In the case of currency hedging of EUR to SEK, for example, the 
difference in interest rates between Sweden and Europe for the remaining original term is 
used, which provides the number of points to be deducted from the original forward price. 
The difference between the new forward price and the original forward price gives the 
market value of the currency hedge.

The Group has no financial assets and liabilities in category 1. No transfers between the 
categories have taken place during the period.
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List of changes relating to level 3 instruments:

2017
Calculated future additional 

purchase price

Opening liability as at 1 January 2017 12,217

Payment –58

Translation difference for the year, relating to liabilities 
in currencies other than SEK, over equity 360

Change in financial liability recognised in equity 26,279

Closing liability as at 31 December 2017 1) 38,798

1)  The fair value of the liability has been calculated as the current value of estimated 
future payments based on a discount rate of 15 per cent.

2016
Calculated future additional 

purchase price

Opening liability as at 1 January 2016 12,981

Revaluation as a consequence of established final 
acquisition analysis for Proact VX B.V. –1,378

Translation difference for the year, relating to liabilities 
in currencies other than SEK, over equity 614

Closing liability as at 31 December 2016 1) 12,217

1)  The fair value of the liability has been calculated as the current value of estimated 
future payments based on a discount rate of 15 per cent.

Note 24 – Continued

Note 25   Pledged assets, contingent liabilities and  
commitments

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when there is a commitment as a conse-
quence of an event that has occurred, and it is likely that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation, and that a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 
Where the time at which payment is made is material, provisions must be set at the net 
present value of the payments which are expected to be required to settle the liability.

Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is present when there is a possible commitment that stems from 
events that have occurred and its existence is confirmed only by one or more uncertain 
future events. Contingent liabilities are not recognised as a liability or provision, because it 
is not likely that an outflow of resources will be required or the size of the commitment 
cannot be calculated in a reliable manner. Thus information is provided unless the likeli-
hood of outflow of resources is extremely low.

Pledged assets
Group Parent company

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Chattel mortgages1) 68,125 97,152 – –

Frozen resources 2) 1,612 839 – –

Security, building 3) 13,336 13,683 – –

Security, bank loans 4) 187,463 195,270 34,400 34,400

Pledged accounts receivable 5) 14,333 1,022 – –

Total pledged assets 284,869 307,966 34,400 34,400

1)  Chattel mortgages refer to security placed for overdraft facilities in the Netherlands 
and the United Kingdom amounting to SEK 62,235 (96,262) thousand

2)  Security for rental contract SEK 1,612 (839) thousand. Frozen liquid funds are  
included in the item Other long-term receivables.

3)  Building in the United Kingdom used as collateral for bank loans of SEK 1,788 thou-
sand and SEK 1,110 thousand respectively with Lloyds TSB Bank.

4)  Shares in subsidiaries as security for bank loans of SEK 130,418 thousand with 
Nordea.

5) Pledged for overdraft facility in Proact Czech Republic, s.r.o.

Contingent liabilities
The parent company has contingent liabilities relating to bank guarantees and other guar-
antees and other business arising during normal business operations. No significant lia-
bilities are expected to stem from these contingent liabilities.

Group Parent company
31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Guarantees for

  Subsidiaries’ credit facilities – – 782 28,729

 Other guarantees, subsidiaries 1) – – 61,320 108,841

Total contingent liabilities – – 62,102 137,570

1)  Other guarantees, subsidiaries relates to customer commitments of SEK 1,076 thou-
sand, supplier guarantees of SEK 56,060 thousand and guarantees for leased vehicles 
of SEK 4,184 thousand.

Commitments
As at 31 December 2017, the company had no contracted commitments which had not 
yet been reported in the financial statements which would result in significant future dis-
bursements, except for commitments relating to operating and support activities. For 
leasing commitments, see Note 27.

Note 26   Supplementary information on  
the cash flow statement

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments
Cash and cash equivalents are deposited in bank accounts or invested in Swedish interest- 
bearing securities. Cash and cash equivalents belong to the category of loans and receiva-
bles. The maturity of investments included in cash and cash equivalents is three months at 
the most. 

Cash flow analysis
The indirect method has been applied when drawing up the cash flow statement. When 
applying the indirect method, net payments to and from current operations are calculated 
by adjusting the net result for changes in operating income and expenses during the peri-
od, items which are not included in the cash flow and items which are included in the cash 
flow of investment and financing business. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash bal-
ances and immediately accessible holdings in banks and corresponding institutes, and 
short-term investments with a maturity from the acquisition date of less than three months 
and which are exposed to only a minimal risk of value fluctuation.

Information concerning interest paid
During the period, interest received in the Group amounted to SEK 656 (2,373) thousand 
and SEK 544 (213) thousand in the parent company. During the period, interest paid in the 
group amounted to SEK 9,767 (9,516) thousand and SEK 6,692 (5,212) in the parent 
company.

Acquisition of subsidiaries and activities
German company Teamix GmbH was acquired in early 2017, and its name was changed to 
Proact Deutschland GmbH in 2017. The purchase price for this company was settled in 
part with cash and cash equivalents, EUR 4,881 thousand (SEK 47,017 thousand) being 
paid in 2017 and EUR 1,886 thousand (SEK 18,167 thousand) being paid in January 
2018. See also the section entitled “Transactions not settled in cash and cash equiva-
lents”.

No acquisitions have taken place in 2016.

Acquisitions from non-controlling interests
In 2017, the company acquired a further 7.5 per cent of shares in Proact IT Latvia SIA 
from non-controlling interests. Following the acquisition, the company holds 100 per cent 
of shares in the subsidiary. The purchase price amounted to EUR 205 thousand (SEK 
1,962 thousand).

In 2016, the remaining 12.50 per cent was acquired from non-controlling interests in 
the company Proact IT (UK) Ltd. for an amount of GBP 2,000 thousand (SEK 24,477 thou-
sand). The remaining 1.84 per cent was acquired from non-controlling interests in the 
company Proact Netherlands B.V. for an amount totalling EUR 1,708 thousand (SEK 
15,825 thousand), along with a further 7.50 per cent in the company Proact Latvia SIA for 
an amount totalling EUR 220 thousand (SEK 2,105 thousand).

Divestment of subsidiaries and activities
No subsidiaries or operations were divested in 2017.

No subsidiaries or operations were divested in 2016. 

Acquisition of intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets worth SEK 4,687 (11,047) thousand were acquired during the year.

Acquisition of tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets worth SEK 87,062 (47,611) thousand were acquired during the year.

Dividends to non-controlling interests
During the year, dividends amounting to SEK 1,267 (833) thousand were paid out to hold-
ers without a controlling influence in partly-owned subsidiaries in the Baltic region.
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Note 27  Leasing

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In Proact operations, the Group acts as both lessor and lessee.
Leasing agreements are classified as financial leasing agreements if the financial benefits 
and financial risks associated with ownership of the leased object are materially transferred 
from the lessor to the lessee. If this is not the case, the leasing agreement is reported as 
an operational leasing agreement.

Proact as lessee
Reporting of finance leasing agreements means that the lessee recognises the fixed asset 
as an asset in the balance sheet and that a corresponding liability is initially recognised. On 
first recognition, the leased asset is valued at an amount corresponding to its fair value or 
the minimum lease charges, whichever is lower. Fixed assets are depreciated according to 
finance leasing agreements over the estimated useful life, while the lease charges are rec-
ognised as interest and amortisation of the leasing liability. 

In the case of operational leasing agreements, Proact does not recognise the leased 
asset in the balance sheet. In the statement of comprehensive income, the lease charge 
for operational leasing agreements is distributed on a straight-line basis over the leasing 
period. 

In the event of what are known as sale and leaseback transactions, reporting is 
dependent on whether the leasing transaction is classified as financial or operational. If a 
transaction necessitates a financial leasing agreement, the amount by which the sales 
price exceeds the recovery value of the assets is not immediately reported as income; 
instead, the profit must be distributed over the leasing period. If, on the other hand, the 
sale and leaseback transaction gives rise to an operational agreement and it is evident that 
the transaction has been based on fair value, any profit or loss must be reported for the 
period in which the sale takes place.

Proact as lessor
Where Proact is the lessor in accordance with an operational leasing agreement, the asset 
is classified among tangible fixed assets. The asset is covered by the Group’s depreciation 
principles. The leasing charges are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. In the case of financial leasing agreements, when Proact 
is the lessor, the transaction is reported as a sale and a lease receivable is recognised, 
consisting of the future minimum lease charges and any residual values guaranteed to the 
lessor. Lease charges received are recognised as interest income and repayment of lease 
receivables

Cash and cash equivalents
Group Parent company

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Cash and bank balances 1, 2) 220,373 214,444 – –

1)  Of Group cash and cash equivalents, SEK 31,834 (20,615) thousand relates to partly- 
owned companies in the Baltic region, the Czech Republic and the Netherlands.

2)  The parent company’s cash and cash equivalents relate to the balance of the Group 
account and are recognised as liabilities to Group companies, amounting to SEK 
299,314 (345,404) thousand as at 31 December 2017.

Frozen liquid assets
The Group has total frozen liquid assets of SEK 1,612 (839) thousand. Of these, SEK 
1,612 (839) thousand are included in Other long-term receivables and relate to security for 
rental contracts. See Note 18.

Transactions not settled in cash and cash equivalents
In 2017, the acquisition of Teamix GmbH (Proact Deutschland GmbH) was settled to an 
extent by means other than cash and cash equivalents. Part of the purchase price for 
Teamix GmbH, EUR 2,802 thousand (SEK 27,364 thousand), was settled using the compa-
ny’s own shares.

There were no transactions settled by means of payment methods other than cash and 
cash equivalents in 2016.

Specification of cash flow from financing activities
Cash flow Changes not affecting cash flow

Opening 
balance, 

2017 Cash flow
Translation 
differences

Acquisition-
related

Other 
details

Closing 
balance, 

2017

Long-term bank 
loans 114,197 –26,618 –329 – – 87,250

Other long-term 
liabilities 47,459 –963 1,064 –12,376 17,670 52,854

Current bank 
loans 79,384 –30,734 –1,802 – – 46,848

Other current  
liabilities 66,396 –1,084 1,770 73,247 –6,619 133,710

Total 307,436 –59,399 703 60,871 11,051 320,662

Note 26 – Continued
Leasing commitments

Lessors – Operational leasing agreements
Proact runs hire operations by supplying equipment to customers in accordance with oper-
ational leasing agreements. In most of the deals concluded, contracts have been signed 
concerning both the hire of hardware and the supply of support services The future con-
tracted leasing income is distributed as follows: 

Group 
Operational leasing

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Within 0-1 year 550 2,536

Within 1-5 years 321 1,925

After more than 5 years – –

871 4,461

The minimum lease charges for operational leasing agreements within the Group in 2017 
amounted to SEK 1,696 (7,995) thousand. The total variable charge included in profit for 
the year amounted to SEK 1,137 (2,725) thousand.

Lessees – Operational leasing agreements
The Group has leasing undertakings mainly for IT equipment, tenancy agreements and the 
hire of office inventory and vehicles. As at 31 December 2017, future leasing commitments 
in the Group and parent company for leasing contracts are distributed as follows:

Group
Operational leasing

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Within 0-1 year 75,303 75,238

Within 1-5 years 76,028 91,324

After more than 5 years 978 –

152,309 166,562

The minimum lease charges for assets within the Group in 2017 amounted to SEK 
100,302 (91,457) thousand. The minimum lease charges for assets within the parent 
company in 2017 amounted to SEK 294 (485) thousand.

Lessors – Financial leasing agreements
Proact offers customers lease financing, hire purchase, via Proact Finance AB. 
Future amortisations plus interest will be received as follows:

Gross  
investment

Present value of 
future minimum 
lease payments

Gross  
investment

Present value of 
future minimum 
lease payments

31/12/2017 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2016

Within 0-1 year 46,618 42,707 40,122 37,114

Within 1-5 years 62,858 59,449 46,031 43,164

After more than 5 
years – – – –

109,476 102,156 86,153 80,278

Unearned finance 
income – 7,320 – 5,875

109,476 109,476 86,153 86,153

The total variable charge included in profit for the year amounted to SEK 1,527 (1,299) 
thousand. Provisions for doubtful receivables relating to minimum lease charges amount to 
SEK 1,037 (811) thousand and constitute 1 per cent of total outstanding receivables as at 
31 December 2017.

Lessees – Financial leasing agreements
Proact holds fixed assets, IT equipment, under financial leasing agreements. Future amorti-
sations plus interest will be paid as follows:

Gross  
investment

Present value of 
future minimum 
lease payments

Gross  
investment

Present value of 
future minimum 
lease payments

31/12/2017 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2016

Within 0-1 year 2,267 1,682 3,335 2,756

Within 1-5 years 4,155 4,097 5,430 5,021

After more than 5 
years – – – –

6,422 5,779 8,765 7,777

Unpaid financial 
expenses – 643 – 988

6,422 6,422 8,765 8,765

No variable charges are included in comprehensive income for the period.
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Note 29  Events after the balance sheet date

Note 28  Information on related parties

As at 31 December 2017, a loan was outstanding which amounted to EUR 173 thousand 
(SEK 1,655 thousand) from the subsidiary Proact Netherlands B.V. to the former owners of 
Proact VX. EUR 108 thousand relates to loans to Mohammadian Djamshid, the present 
CEO of the subsidiary Proact VX, and EUR 65 thousand to Ron Hup, the present COO of 
Proact VX.

The term of the loan is until 30 November 2020. Interest on the loan is charged at 
12-month EURIBOR + 1 per cent. Total interest income attributable to these loans amounts 
to EUR 1.5 thousand (SEK 14.5 thousand) for 2017.

Jason Clark resigned as CEO and President as at 1 February 2018. The Board of Directors 
has appointed Peter Javestad as the acting CEO and President. Peter Javestad has been a 
member of the Group executive since 2004 and has held senior positions such as Regional 
Manager, Vice President Services and Vice President Sales and Marketing. Expenses attrib-
utable to this change, totalling SEK 2.5 million, will affect profits in the first quarter of 
2018. 

Note 30  Equity

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Equity
Costs attributable to the new issue of shares or options are included in equity as a reduc-
tion in cash and cash equivalents. The buy-back of own shares is classified as own shares 
and recognised in equity as a deduction.

Dividends
Dividends proposed by the Board of Directors reduce distributable funds and are recog-
nised as liabilities once the Annual General Meeting has approved the dividend.

Share capital
The share capital item relates to the parent company’s share capital. 

Total no. of shares
According to the Articles of Association, the number of shares in the company must be no 
fewer than 5 million and no more than 20 million. A total of 9,333,886 shares in the com-
pany had been issued as at 31 December 2017. 

Total number of shares as at 01/01/2017 9,333,886

Total number of shares as at 31/12/2017 9,333,886

No. of shares bought back

Opening balance, bought-back own shares, 01/01/2017 200,769

Own shares bought back over the year 127,800

Own shares transferred over the year –200,000

Number of bought-back own shares, 31/12/2017 128,569

Other capital contributions
Other capital contributions comprises capital arising from transactions with shareholders, 
such as premium issues.

Hedging of net investment in foreign operations
Exchange rate differences concerning net investment in operations in the United Kingdom

Translation of foreign subsidiaries
Other reserves consists of translation differences attributable to the translation of foreign 
subsidiaries.

Specification of translation differences Group

Opening balance, 01/01/2017 –3,761

Change, 2017 3,043

Closing balance, 31/12/2017 –718

Retained earnings 
Retained earnings in the Group include results for the year and previous year, dividends to 
shareholders, the buy-back of own shares, acquisitions from non-controlling interests and 
financial liabilities to non-controlling interests in the Czech Republic and the Netherlands.

Attributable to non-controlling interests
This item refers to non-controlling interests in Estonia and Latvia.

Capital
Proact’s managed capital consists of equity. The company’s objective is to use established 
strategies to achieve a good financial position and so prepare profits for shareholders by 
increasing the value of the managed capital. There are no external capital requirements 
other that those referred to in the Swedish Companies Act. 

Parent company
Each share entitles the holder to one vote. All shares issued are fully paid up. A dividend of 
SEK 32,393 thousand, equivalent to SEK 3.50 per share, was issued in 2017.

The Board of Directors will propose to the AGM on 8 May 2018 the distribution of a  
dividend of SEK 3.75 per share for the 2017 business year.

The parent company has not issued any share options or conversion rights.

Proposed appropriation of profits
The Board of Directors will propose a dividend of SEK 3.75 (3.50) per share to the Annual 
General Meeting for the 2017 business year.

The Annual General Meeting has at its disposal (non-restricted 
equity in the parent company, SEK thousands): 2017

Retained earnings 141,621

Profit for the year 96,641

Total non-restricted equity 238,262

The Board of Directors proposes that retained earnings be managed as follows:

Dividend, SEK 3.75 per outstanding share 1) 34,319

Carried forward 203,943

Total 238,262

1)  There are 9,333,886 registered shares within the company, of which – as at 28 March 
2018 – 182,269 shares are bought-back shares not entitled to dividends. The total of 
the dividend of SEK 34,318,564 proposed above may change, but to no more than SEK 
35,002,073, if ownership of the number of bought-back own shares changes prior to 
the record day for dividends.

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the proposed dividends are justifiable at both 
company and Group level, given the requirements that the nature, scope and risks of the 
business place on the size of the equity as well as the company’s consolidation require-
ments, liquidity and financial position in general.

Note 31  Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the result attributable to the shareholders in 
the parent company by the “Weighted average number of outstanding shares”.

2017 2016

Profit per share for the year pertaining 
to the parent company’s shareholders 114,214 95,396

Weighted average total number of shares 9,333,886 9,333,886

Weighted average number of outstanding 
shares 9,263,247 9,247,583

Earnings per share before dilution, SEK 12.33 10.32

The company has no outstanding instruments which may involve dilution.
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Acquisition, Teamix GmbH

Acquired companies’ net assets at the time of acquisition

Amounts in SEK 000 Jan 2017

Intangible fixed assets 1,900

Tangible fixed assets 12,334

Trade and other receivables 61,240

Cash and cash equivalents 10,539

Accounts payable and other current liabilities –64,991

Net identifiable assets 21,021

Goodwill 59,541

Fair value adjustment on acquired intangible fixed assets 15,408

Deferred tax on acquired intangible assets –4,621

Purchase price inc. calculated future additional purchase price 91,349

Removed:
Acquired cash –10,539

Deferred payment of part of purchase price –18,004

Own shares used for acquisition –27,364

Net cash flow 35,441

Identification of surplus values

Amounts in SEK 000 Jan 2017

Intangible fixed assets

Goodwill 59,541

Customer contract, brand 15,408

Total identifiable surplus values on intangible assets 74,949

Deferred tax on surplus values on intangible fixed assets

Customer contract, brand –4,621

Total deferred tax on surplus values on intangible assets –4,621

Net identifiable surplus values on intangible assets 70,328

The above acquisition relates to the acquisition of 100 per cent of shares in Teamix GmbH 
(which changed its name to Proact Deutschland GmbH in 2017). This acquisition was com-
pleted on 3 January 2017.

The acquisition of Teamix GmbH, a profitable, growing, well-managed company, will 
accelerate the growth of Proact in Germany. Teamix is well established on the German 
market and has outstanding expertise in various IT technology and service fields. Teamix 
has in-depth expertise in Proact’s focus areas such as data centres with associated servic-
es, and fits in perfectly with the Proact Group as the company has a corporate culture that 
clearly matches Proact’s core values of integrity, commitment and excellence.

The purchase price for the acquisition was greater than the recognised assets of the 
acquired business, and as a result the acquisition analysis gives rise to intangible assets. 

Goodwill in this acquisition is motivated by the fact that this is a profitable company that 
gives Proact an opportunity to accelerate its growth on the German market, while also 
bringing outstanding expertise to Proact in Proact’s focus areas.

The acquisition was settled to an extent by means other than cash and cash equiva-
lents. Part of the purchase price, EUR 2,802 thousand (SEK 27,364 thousand), was settled 
using the company’s own shares (200,000 shares). The valuation of the company’s own 
shares was based on the average share price and SEK to EUR exchange rate on the last 
30 trading days before the acquisition date. 

According to the contract, part of the purchase price – EUR 1,886 thousand (SEK 
18,004 thousand) – was also withheld, with a payment date 12 months after the acquisi-
tion date. The amount withheld was a fixed sum and not conditional upon future results. 
This part of the purchase price was paid to the vendors in January 2018.

An additional purchase price of EUR 141 thousand linked with the final results for 
2016, the year preceding the acquisition date, was paid in June 2017. The total purchase 
price for the company amounts to EUR 9,569 thousand.

Total acquisition costs affecting profits amount to SEK 3.1 million, of which SEK 2.8 
million affected profits in 2016 and SEK 0.3 million has affected profits in 2017.

The acquisition was implemented over the first few days of 2017, and Proact 
Deutschland has contributed SEK 359 million in revenues and an operating profit of SEK 
12 million for 2017 as a whole.

Note 32  Acquisitions
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Five-year summary

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Income statement (SEK millions)

Total revenues 3,258.3 2,921.7 2,801.7 2,325.3 2,304.8

EBITDA 220.2 191.4 169.2 144.2 128.1

EBITA 189.5 163.9 140.4 109.5 82.9

EBIT 156.9 137.2 113.5 84.9 54.0

Profit before tax 152.5 133.7 104.1 85.2 43.7

Profit for the year 115.0 96.7 78.4 59.9 27.2

EBITDA margin, % 6.8 6.6 6.0 6.2 5.6

EBITA margin, % 5.8 5.6 5.0 4.7 3.6

EBIT margin, % 4.8 4.7 4.1 3.7 2.3

Net margin, % 4.7 4.6 3.7 3.7 1.9

Profit margin, % 3.5 3.3 2.8 2.6 1.2

Equity, provisions and liabilities (SEK millions)

Equity 390.8 332.6 316.8 269.3 242.6

Balance sheet total 1,832.0 1,806.8 1,650.7 1,540.9 1,438.8

Capital employed 571.5 548.1 496.0 427.9 407.6

Net cash (+)/Net liability (-) 80.5 13.1 –5.6 –7.8 –121.1

Financial key ratios

Equity ratio, % 21.3 18.4 19.2 17.5 16.9

Capital turnover rate, times 1.8 1.7 1.8 1.6 1.6

Cash flow, SEK millions 1.0 42.1 27.7 90.0 –55.9

Investments in fixed assets, SEK millions 166.7 60.5 150.4 69.1 54.8

Return on equity, % 31.8 29.8 26.8 23.4 11.6

Return on capital employed, % 29.3 27.2 25.6 21.3 13.8

Dividend to Parent Company’s shareholders, SEK millions 1) 34.3 32.4 25.1 15.6 11.2

Key ratios per employee

Average number of employees on annual basis 808 723 669 646 649

Number of employees at year-end 811 718 743 665 644

Profit before tax per employee, SEK thousands 189 185 156 132 67

Data per share 

Earnings per share (total number of shares), SEK 12.24 10.22 8.07 6.13 2.35

Earnings per share (outstanding shares), SEK 2) 12.33 10.32 8.20 6.16 2.36

Equity per share (total number of shares), SEK 41.48 35.07 32.73 27.51 24.57

Equity per share (outstanding shares), SEK 2) 42.06 35.84 32.87 27.96 24.63

Cash flow from current operations per share (total number of 
shares), SEK 24.80 16.53 19.58 26.55 4.34

Cash flow from current operations per share (outstanding 
shares), SEK 2) 24.98 16.69 19.88 26.67 4.35

Total number of shares at end of period 9,333,886 9,333,886 9,333,886 9,333,886 9,333,886

Total number of outstanding shares at end of period 2) 9,205,317 9,133,117 9,293,742 9,185,268 9,310,268

Weighted average number of shares (total number of shares) 9,333,886 9,333,886 9,333,886 9,333,886 9,333,886

Weighted average number of shares (outstanding shares) 2) 9,263,247 9,247,583 9,192,876 9,291,082 9,310,268

Number of own shares held at end of period 128,569 200,769 40,144 148,618 23,618

Number of warrants at end of period – – – – –

Share price as at 31 December, SEK 180.50 146.00 139.25 78.50 81.00

1)  The Board of Directors and CEO will propose a dividend of SEK 3.75 per share to the Annual General Meeting for the 2017 business year.
2)  Proact has no outstanding warrants, convertible debentures or other instruments that could give rise to dilution.  

The company has, however, bought back shares that are in its own keeping, which affects the key ratios and figures above. Account has only been taken off buy-backs 
carried out as at the balance sheet date. 
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Economic key ratios Definition Purpose

Capital employed Balance sheet total minus non-interest bearing liabilities 
inclusive of deferred tax liabilities.

Capital employed measures the company’s ability to meet the needs of the 
business in addition to cash and cash equivalents.

Capital turnover rate, times Revenues expressed as a percentage of the average  
balance sheet total.

This is used to show the efficiency of the use of total capital for the  
company.

Cash flow Change in cash and cash equivalents. The cash flow shows the net amount of cash and cash equivalents  
generated and used within the company.

Currency effects Net sales and profit for the period, translated into currency 
exchange rates for the previous year.

Show underlying growth, i.e. growth excluding the effect of changes in  
currency exchange rates.

Earnings per share Earnings pertaining to the parent company’s shareholders 
per share

Earnings per share is used to establish the value of the company’s out-
standing shares.

EBIT Operating profit before net financial items and tax. EBIT provides a general view of total profit generated by the business.

EBIT margin Operating profit/loss as a percentage of total revenues. EBIT in relation to total revenues shows operational profitability and  
provides profit comparability over time.

EBITA Profit after depreciation of tangible fixed assets but before 
depreciation of intangible assets, net financial items and 
tax.

EBITA gives a more correct view of which profit is generated by the busi-
ness when depreciation of intangible assets – which is affected extensively 
by assessment of the depreciation period – is excluded.

EBITA margin EBITA as a percentage of total revenues. EBITA in relation to total revenues shows profitability at EBITA level and 
provides profit comparability over time.

EBITDA Profit before depreciation (tangible and intangible assets), 
net financial items and tax.

Besides depreciation of intangible assets, EBITDA also excludes deprecia-
tion of tangible assets, both of which are affected extensively by assessed 
depreciation periods.

EBITDA margin EBITDA as a percentage of total revenues. EBITDA in relation to total revenues shows profitability at EBITDA level and 
provides profit comparability over time.

Equity per share Equity pertaining to the parent company’s shareholders, 
per share.

The net worth per share provides a guideline on the valuation level of a 
share on the stock exchange in relation to the funds in the company.

Equity ratio Equity including minority interests as a percentage of  
balance sheet total.

The key ratio is an indicator of the company’s leverage for financing the 
company.

Items affecting comparability Items in the income statement that are non-recurring and 
have affected the profit and are important to be aware of in 
order to understand the underlying result.

It is necessary to be aware of and be able to take into account expense 
items that deviate from normal business so that Proact’s development can 
be analysed and assessed correctly. 

Net cash/Net liability Cash and cash equivalents minus interest-bearing liabilities 
to credit institutions.

To assess the ability to use available cash and cash equivalents to pay off 
all liabilities if they were to fall due on the date of the calculation.

Net margin Profit before tax as a percentage of total revenues. The net margin provides comparable profitability regardless of the corpora-
tion tax rate.

Organic growth Growth in net sales, excluding the net sales contributed to 
the Group by companies acquired during the year.

Show the underlying growth, i.e. growth excluding acquired growth.

Profit margin Profit for the period after tax as a percentage of total  
revenues.

The profit margin makes it possible to compare profitability including the 
corporation tax rate.

Profit per employee Profit before tax divided by the average number of annual 
employees

This is a measure of efficiency showing profitability per employee.

Return on capital employed Profit after net financial items plus financial expenses, 
expressed as a percentage of the average capital 
employed.

For evaluating the profitability and efficiency of Proact’s capital employed.

Return on equity Profit for the period after tax, expressed as a percentage of 
average equity 

Return on equity shows what the company is generating in terms of profit-
ability, returns, on capital invested by owners. 

Definition of key ratios

Alternative key ratios 
This financial report refers to a number of key ratios. Some of these are defined in accordance with IFRS, while others are alternative key ratios and are not 
presented in accordance with applicable regulations and frameworks for financial reporting. The key ratios are used within the Group in order to help both 
investors and the executive to analyse Proact’s business. The key ratios used in this financial report are described, defined and justified below.
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Certification

The undersigned assure that the consolidated and annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with inter-
national financial reporting standards IFRS as adopted by the EU, as well as with good accounting practice, and give a fair view 
of the Group’s and the parent company’s financial position and results, and that the Directors’ Report gives a fair summary of 
the development of the operations, position and results of the Group and the parent company, as well as describing significant 

risks and uncertainty factors facing the companies which form part of the Group.

Kista, 28 March 2018

Anders Hultmark
Chairman

Eva Elmstedt
Board member

Martin Gren
Board member

Christer Holmén
Board member

Annikki Schaeferdiek
Board member

Peter Javestad
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Our audit report was submitted on 4 April 2018
Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Nicklas Kullberg
Authorised Public Accountant



65Audit report Annual Report 2017 PROACT

Audit report 
To the Annual General Meeting of Proact IT Group AB, co. reg. no. 556494-3446

Report on the annual financial statements and consolidated 
financial statements
Statements
We have performed an audit of the annual financial statements and consol-
idated financial statements for Proact IT Group AB (publ) for 2017, with the 
exception of the corporate governance report on pages 26-31. The company’s 
annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements can be 
found on pages 19-61 of this document.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements have been produced in 
accordance with the Swedish Company Accounts Act and provide a fair view 
in all significant regards of the parent company’s financial position as at 31 
December 2017, and of its financial results and cash flows for the year in ac-
cordance with the Swedish Company Accounts Act. The consolidated accounts 
have been compiled in accordance with the Swedish Company Accounts Act 
and provide a fair view in all significant regards of the Group’s financial position 
as at 31 December 2017, and of its financial results and cash flows for the 
year in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
adopted by the EU, and the Swedish Company Accounts Act. The Directors’ 
Report is in accordance with other parts of the annual financial statements and 
consolidated financial statements. Our statements do not include the corporate 
governance report on pages 26-31.

We therefore recommend that the Annual General Meeting adopt the income 
statement and balance sheet for the parent company and the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income and balance sheet.

Our statements in this report on the annual accounts and consolidated 
financial statements are consistent with the content in the supplementary 
report that has been submitted to the parent company’s audit committee in 
accordance with article 11 of the Audit Regulation (537/2014).

Basis for the opinion
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards 
on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing principles in Sweden. Our 
responsibility in accordance with these standards is described in greater detail 
in the section entitled Auditor’s responsibility. We are independent in respect 
of the parent company and the Group in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing principles in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our professional ethi-
cal requirements in accordance with these requirements. This includes the fact 
that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no prohibited services as referred 
to in article 5.1 of the Audit Regulation (537/2014) have been provided by the 
reviewed company or, where appropriate, its parent company or its controlled 
companies within the EU.

We are of the opinion that the audit proof we have acquired is sufficient and 
appropriate as a basis for our statements.

Other information
The audit of the annual financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements for the 2016 financial year has been performed by another auditor 
who submitted an audit report dated 7 April 2017 with unmodified state-
ments in Report on the annual financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements.

Our audit approach 
Focus and scope of the audit
Proact sells and installs hardware and software, maintenance and support 
services and independent IT consultancy services. The business is run by 
subsidiaries all over Europe, a number of them having joined the Group through 
acquisitions. The latest acquisition was completed in 2017 with the acquisition 
of the German company Teamix GmbH, now known as Proact Deutschland 
GmbH. Acquisitions mean that value is added to the consolidated balance 

sheet and the parent company’s balance sheet in the form of goodwill and 
shares in subsidiaries. The value of these assets is examined each year for 
impairment or when there are any indications of a need for impairment. 
Proact’s revenue reporting is dependent on the contract terms relating to when 
risks and benefits are transferred to customers. In the case of hardware sales, 
this generally takes place when hardware has been supplied to the customer, 
while support and maintenance contracts are recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the contract term. Consultancy services are normally carried out 
on a current account basis, and income is reported as the work is carried out. 
Customer contracts may also include a combination of systems, services and 
software, which may be complex to report. This is particularly true of the sale of 
systems, which very frequently takes place in the form of a package comprising 
services and hardware. Risks and benefits for each element of the contract 
are transferred at different times in the case of sales of this type. The time for 
delivery of systems is controlled by when customers want their products to 
be delivered, and many sales take place at the end of Proact’s fourth quarter 
when offsetting into the following financial year may impact on the financial 
statements. Overall, this means that the recognition of sales revenues and 
receivables as a consequence of this are dependent on the management’s 
assessments of the implications of the contract terms.

We formulated our audit by establishing a materiality threshold and assessing 
the risk of material misstatement in the financial reports. We paid particular 
attention to the areas where the Chief Executive Officer and Board of Directors 
made subjective assessments, such as important account-related estimations 
made on the basis of assumptions and forecasts of future events, which by their 
nature are uncertain. As with all audits, we have also observed the risk of the 
Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer neglecting internal inspection, 
and among other things considered whether there is any evidence of systematic 
non-conformances that have given rise to risk of material misstatement as a 
consequence of irregularities.

We adapted our audit in order to perform an effective review so that we could 
comment on the financial reports as a whole, taking into account the Group’s 
structure, accounting processes and controls, as well as the industry in which 
the Group is active.

Besides the parent company, Proact IT Group AB, the Group audit has included 
the subsidiaries in Sweden, Finland, the Netherlands, Germany and the United 
Kingdom. This is equivalent to a significant part of the Group’s external net sales. 

 
Materiality
The scope and focus of the audit were influenced by our assessment of 
materiality. An audit is formulated in order to achieve a reasonable degree of 
security as to whether the financial reports include any material misstatement. 
Misstatement may occur as a consequence of irregularities or errors. Misstate-
ment is regarded as material if parties, individually or jointly, can reasonably be 
expected to influence the financial decisions made by users on the basis of the 
financial reports.

Based on professional judgement, we established certain quantitative materi-
ality figures for elements such as financial reporting as a whole. We used these 
and qualitative considerations to establish the focus and scope of the audit and 
the nature, time and scope of our review methods, and also to assess the effect 
of individual and combined misstatement on the financial reports as a whole.

Particularly significant areas
Particularly significant areas for the audit are the areas that, in our professional 
opinion, were of most significance to the audit of the annual financial state-
ments and consolidated financial statements for the period in question. These 
areas were processed within the scope of the audit of the annual financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements as a whole and our stance on 
the same, but we make no separate comments on these areas.
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Particularly significant area How our audit took the particularly significant area  
into account

Recognition of revenues from sales of systems in the right 
amount and for the right period. 
Revenues from the sale of systems account for more than two-thirds of the 
Proact Group’s reported net sales, and these sales frequently take place 
in the form of what are known as composite customer contracts, where 
hardware, software, services, support and maintenance may all be included 
in one and the same contract. The price of the contract is normally set for 
the contract as a whole, and not on a per product or per service basis. 

Contracts are therefore divided up into components, and revenue is 
distributed among each element of the contract. The revenue for each 
component is then recognised when the risks and benefits have been 
transferred to the customer. Thus this means that the time of revenue 
recognition does not normally coincide with invoicing and payment from the 
customer. All in all, this means that the corporate management team has 
to make estimates and assessments in respect of the prices of the various 
elements of customer contracts, which has an influence when reporting 
sales margins.

As a consequence of the inherent complexity of revenue recognition and 
the element of estimates and assessments from the corporate manage-
ment team, we have deemed revenues from the sale of systems to be a 
particularly significant area in the audit.

Please see Notes 1 and 2 in the Annual Accounts for 2017 for the  
accounting policies specified above

We have focused a significant part of our audit on evaluating Proact’s prin-
ciples and underlying assumptions in order to divide revenues from system 
sales over different elements.

This has been done by the undertaking the following review procedures:

• Analysis of revenues over the year, compared with the previous year.
•  Reviewing a selection of major new contracts and sales against contract 

terms and Proact’s guidelines for assessing revenue recognition.
•  Performing tests of random samples to ensure that revenues have been 

recognised for the right period and in the right amount.
•  Evaluating assumptions in revenue recognition principles by comparing 

deviating margins for system sales.
•  Evaluating Proact’s accounting policies and the note information  

provided. 

Observations in connection with these review elements have been  
discussed with the company.

Impairment testing of acquisition-related surplus values and 
goodwill, as well as shares in subsidiaries
The consolidated balance sheet reports acquisition-related surplus values 
and goodwill at a value of SEK 454 million, while the parent company’s 
balance sheet reports shares in subsidiaries amounting to SEK 467 million.

Goodwill and acquisition-related surplus values correspond to the 
difference between the value of net assets and the purchase price paid in 
the event of an acquisition. The resulting goodwill is distributed between 
cash-generating units, which may differ from the level that was once 
generated by the acquisition as the new business is integrated into the 
Group. Unlike other assets, there is no depreciation of goodwill: instead, this 
is examined each year for impairment or when there are any indications 
of a need for impairment. Other acquisition-related surplus values are 
depreciated over the estimated useful life. 

When the corporate management team examines cash-generating units 
for impairment, the values recognised are compared with the estimated 
recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is significantly less than 
the recognised amount, the asset is impaired to its estimated recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is established by calculating the utilisation 
value of the asset. When calculating the utilisation value, the corporate 
management team have to make assumptions on future growth and 
margin development. Future events and new information may change these 
assessments and estimates, and it is therefore particularly important for 
the corporate management team to regularly reassess whether the value 
of the acquisition-related intangible assets can be justified with regard to 
assessments made.

The corporate management team’s calculation of the utilisation value 
of assets is based on the budget for the next year and forecasts for the 
following four years. A more detailed description of these assumptions can 
be found in Note 15. A weighted average cost of capital before tax of 10.6-

In our audit, we have focused in particular on how the corporate manage-
ment team has tested impairment requirements and what surplus values 
have been identified. 

We have undertaken the following review procedures:
•  Evaluating the Proact process for testing goodwill and shares in subsidi-

aries for impairment.
•  Reviewing how the corporate management team has identified 

cash-generating units and compared this with how Proact follows up 
goodwill internally.

•  Working with the assistance of PwC’s internal valuation specialists to re-
view the correctness of the calculation models and assess the plausibility 
of the discount rate used for the cash-generating units and subsidiaries 
where the greatest uncertainty arises.

•  Evaluating the plausibility of assumptions made and performing sensitivity 
analyses for altered assumptions.

•  Evaluating the management’s forecasting capability by comparing previ-
ous forecasts with actual outcomes.

•  Evaluating depreciation times for other acquisition-related surplus values 
by checking previous estimates against actual outcomes.

•  Working on the basis of materiality to confirm that there are sufficient 
notes in the annual financial statements.

The results of these review elements have not resulted in any significant 
observations in the audit.
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11.3% (10-11.1%) has been used, dependent on the assessed market risk 
for the various cash-generating units. The corporate management team 
has based its assumptions on future development on historical experience 
and analyses performed at the time of the acquisitions. Certain units are 
more sensitive to changes in the assumptions, which is why there is greater 
uncertainty in the value recognised for them. These units are specified in 
Note 15.

Impairment tests naturally involve more estimates and assessments from 
the corporate management team, which is why we have deemed this to be 
a particularly significant area in our audit.

Please see Notes 1 and 15 in the Annual Accounts for 2017 for the  
accounting policies specified above.

Particularly significant area How our audit took the particularly significant area  
into account

Information other than the annual financial statements and 
consolidated financial statements
This document also includes information other than the annual financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements, and this can be found on 
pages 1-18 and 62-63. The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer 
are responsible for this other information.

Our statement concerning the annual financial statements and consolidated 
financial statements does not include this information, and we make no 
statement with confirmation concerning this other information.

When performing our audit of the annual financial statements and con-
solidated financial statements, it is our responsibility to read the informa-
tion identified above and consider whether the information is significantly 
incompatible with the annual financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements. During this review, we also take into account the knowledge 
that we have otherwise obtained during the audit and assess whether the 
information in general appears to include material misstatement.

Given the work that has been carried out in respect of this information, 
if we come to the conclusion that the other information includes material 
misstatement, we are obliged to report this. We have nothing to report in this 
respect.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive 
Officer
The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer are responsible for 
ensuring that the annual financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements are compiled and provide an accurate picture in accordance 
with the Swedish Company Accounts Act and, as regards the consolidated 
financial statements, in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and the Swedish Company Accounts 
Act. The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer are also responsible 
for the internal inspection which they deem necessary to prepare annual 
financial statements and consolidated financial statements which are free of 
material misstatement, whether due to irregularities or error.

When compiling the annual financial statements and consolidated 
financial statements, the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer 
are responsible for assessment of the company’s and the Group’s ability 
to continue the business. They provide information, where applicable, on 
circumstances that may influence the ability to continue the business and 
to use the assumption of continued operation. However, the assumption of 
continued operation will not be applied if the Board of Directors and Chief 
Executive Officer intend to liquidate the company, terminate the business or 
have no realistic alternative to doing either of these.

The Board of Directors’ audit committee must monitor the financial reporting 
of the company without this affecting the responsibilities and duties of the 
Board in general.

Responsibility of the auditor
Our objectives are to achieve a reasonable degree of security concern-
ing whether the annual financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
irregularities or error, and to submit an audit report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable security is a high degree of security, but it is no guarantee that 
an audit performed in accordance with ISA and generally accepted auditing 
principles in Sweden will always discover any material misstatement if such 
exists. Misstatement may occur on account of irregularities or error and is 
considered to be material misstatement if the disclosures, individually or 
jointly, can reasonably be expected to influence the financial decisions made 
by users on the basis of the annual financial statements and consolidated 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the annual 
financial statements and consolidated financial statements can be found on 
the Swedish Inspectorate of Auditors website: www.revisorsinspektionen.se/
revisornsansvar. This description is part of the audit report.

Report on other requirements in accordance with the law and 
other statutes
Opinion
In addition to our audit of the annual financial statements and consolidated 
financial statements, we have also performed a review of the administration 
of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of Proact IT Group 
AB (publ) for 2017 and of the proposed appropriation of the company’s profit 
or loss.

We recommend that the Annual General Meeting appropriate the profit as 
proposed in the Directors’ Report and discharge from liability the members 
of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer in respect of the 
financial year.

Basis for the opinion
We have conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting policies in Sweden. Our responsibility in accordance with these 
is described in greater detail in the section entitled Auditor’s responsibility. 
We are independent in respect of the parent company and the Group in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing principles in Sweden and have 



68 Audit reportPROACT Annual Report 2017

otherwise fulfilled our professional ethical requirements in accordance with 
these requirements.

We are of the opinion that the audit proof we have acquired is sufficient 
and appropriate as a basis for our statements.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive 
Officer
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposed allocation of the com-
pany’s profit or loss. When a proposal for a dividend is issued, this involves, 
inter alia, an assessment of whether the dividend is justified with reference 
to the requirements such as the nature, scope and risks of the business of 
the company and the Group with regard to the scope of the equity of the 
parent company and the Group, consolidation needs, liquidity and position in 
general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s organisation and 
Management of the company’s affairs. This includes regularly assessing the 
financial situation of the company and the Group and ensuring that the com-
pany’s organisation is formulated so that the accounting, the management 
of assets and the company’s financial affairs in general are controlled in a 
satisfactory manner. The Chief Executive Officer shall manage the ongoing 
administration in accordance with the guidelines and instructions of the 
Board of Directors and, inter alia, undertake the action necessary to ensure 
that the company’s bookkeeping is carried out in accordance with the law 
and so that assets may be managed in a satisfactory manner.

Responsibility of the auditor
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and hence our 
opinion on discharge from liability, is to obtain audit proof so as to be able to 
assess with a reasonable degree of security whether any Board member or 
the Chief Executive Officer in any significant respect:
•  has undertaken any action or is guilty of any negligence that may result in 

liability to pay compensation to the company

•  has otherwise acted in contravention of the Swedish Companies Act, the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act or the company’s articles of association.

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposal for appropriation of the 
company’s profit or loss, and hence our opinion on the same, is to determine 
with a reasonable degree of security whether the proposal is consistent with 
the Swedish Companies Act.

Reasonable security is a high degree of security, but it is no guarantee 
that an audit performed in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
principles in Sweden will always discover any actions or negligence that may 
result in liability to pay compensation to the company, or that a proposal 
for appropriation of the company’s profit or loss is not consistent with the 
Swedish Companies Act.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the administra-
tion can be found on the Swedish Inspectorate of Auditors website:  
www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar. This description is part of the 
audit report.

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB, Torsgatan 21,  
SE-113 97 Stockholm, was appointed as the auditor of Proact IT Group AB 
(publ) by the Annual General Meeting held on 2 May 2017 and has been the 
company’s auditor since 2 May 2017.

Stockholm, 4 April 2018

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Nicklas Kullberg
Authorised Public Accountant

Auditor’s statement on the statutory sustainability report
To the Annual General Meeting of Proact IT Group AB (publ), co. reg. no. 556494-3446

Mission and division of responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the sustainability report for 2017 
on pages 4-11 and for ensuring that it is compiled in accordance with the 
Swedish Company Accounts Act.

Focus and scope of the review
Our review has taken place in accordance with FAR recommendation RevR 
12 Auditor’s statement on the statutory sustainability report. This means that 
our review of the sustainability report has a different focus and is on a sig-
nificantly smaller scale than the focus and scale of any audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing and generally accepted accounting 
policies in Sweden. We consider that our review gives us sufficient grounds 
for our opinions.

Opinions
A sustainability report has been compiled.

Stockholm, 4 April 2018
Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Nicklas Kullberg
Authorised Public Accountant
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Annual General Meeting 2018

The Annual General Meeting will take place at 6pm on 8 May 2018 at 
Scandic Victoria Tower, Arne Beurlings Torg 3, Kista. Shareholders who are 
entered in the shareholder register kept by Euroclear Sweden on Wednesday, 
2 May 2018 and who have registered as described below shall be entitled to 
participate in the proceedings of the Annual General Meeting. Shareholders 
whose shares are registered to administrators must therefore temporarily 
register under their own names in the shareholder register to be entitled to 
participate in the proceedings of the Annual General Meeting, either person-
ally or through a representative. Such re-registration must be completed in 
plenty of time prior to 2 May 2018.

Registration of participation in the Annual General Meeting must be received 
by the company by 4pm on Thursday, 3 May 2018. Registration will take 
place by post, telephone or e-mail.

Address for registration:
Proact IT Group AB  
FAO: Annual General Meeting
Box 1205, SE-164 28 KISTA
Tel.: +46 (0) 8 410 667 11
Email: arsstamma@proact.se

Future information

Interim report, 1st quarter 18 April 2018
Annual General Meeting 8 May 2018
Half-yearly report 11 July 2018
Interim report, 3rd quarter  18 October 2018 
Year-end report 2018  6 February 2019

For further information, please contact

Peter Javestad, acting CEO and Group President 
Tel.: +46 (0) 8 410 667 22  
peter.javestad@proact.eu

Jonas Persson, CFO  
Tel.: +46 (0) 8 410 666 90 
jonas.persson@proact.eu

www.proact.eu

Shareholder information
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